Queensland Competition Authority

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Draft report

November 2024

© Queensland Competition Authority 2024

The Queensland Competition Authority supports and encourages the dissemination and exchange of information. However, copyright protects this document. The QCA has no objection to this material being reproduced, made available online or electronically, but only if the QCA is recognised as the owner of the copyright and this material remains unaltered.

Contents

OUR PRICE MONITORING TASK				
EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	2		
1	OVERVIEW	7		
1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5	GAWB's bulk water supply activities Declaration and previous reviews How GAWB's bulk water prices are determined Investigation considerations Submissions in response to GAWB's proposal	7 7 8 8 9		
2	OUR APPROACH	11		
3	FORECAST DEMAND	13		
3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	Overview Assessment framework QCA analysis QCA draft findings	13 13 14 20		
4	OPERATING COSTS	21		
 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 	Overview of findings Assessment framework Base-step-trend approach Baseline operating expenditure Step changes Trend	21 24 25 27 29 43		
5	CAPITAL EXPENDITURE	51		
5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.7	GAWB's proposal Assessment framework Prudency and efficiency Governance, capital planning and asset management frameworks Actual capex 2019-20 to 2024-25 Forecast capex 2024-25 to 2029-30 QCA draft findings	51 52 53 55 58 63 70		
6	REGULATED ASSET BASE	71		
6.1 6.2	Opening value as at 1 July 2025 RAB roll-forward to 30 June 2030	71 74		
7	RATE OF RETURN, WORKING CAPITAL AND TAX ALLOWANCE	76		
7.1 7.2 7.3	Rate of return Return on assets and working capital allowance Tax allowance	76 86 87		
8	ALLOWABLE COSTS AND REVENUE	88		

8.1	Allowable costs	88			
8.2	Revenue adjustments	89			
8.3	Allowable revenue	91			
9	GAWB'S PRICING PRACTICES	92			
9.1	Overview of GAWB's pricing approach	92			
9.2	GAWB's pricing zones	93			
9.3	Allocation of allowable cost and revenue to zones	94			
9.4	GAWB's prices	96			
9.5	Ancillary charges	97			
9.6	Other pricing mechanisms	98			
9.7	Prudent discounts	101			
9.8	QCA conclusions	101			
10	APPROPRIATE PRICES	102			
10.1	Allowable revenue by zone	102			
10.2	Smoothing	103			
10.3	Appropriate prices	103			
10.4	Price impacts	107			
GLOS	SARY	111			
REFE	RENCES	113			
APPE	NDIX A: REFERRAL NOTICE	115			
APPE	NDIX B: DECLARATION	121			
APPENDIX C: STAKEHOLDER SUBMISSIONS AND QCA RESPONSES					
APPENDIX D: CONSIDERATION OF SECTION 26 AND REFERRAL STATED MATTERS					
APPE	NDIX E: FORECAST CAPITAL EXPENDITURE	135			

Submissions

Closing date for submissions: 17 February 2025

Public involvement is an important element of our decision-making processes. Therefore, we invite submissions from interested parties. We will take account of all submissions received within the stated timeframes. Submissions, comments or inquiries regarding this paper should be directed to:

Queensland Competition Authority GPO Box 2257, Brisbane Q 4001 Tel 07 3222 0555 www.gca.org.au/submissions

Confidentiality

In the interests of transparency, and to promote informed consultation, we intend to make all submissions publicly available. However, if a person making a submission believes that information in it is confidential, they should claim confidentiality over the relevant information (and state the basis for that claim). We will assess confidentiality claims in accordance with the Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997. Among other things, we will assess if disclosure of the relevant information is likely to damage a person's commercial activities, and we will consider the public interest.

Claims for confidentiality should be clearly noted on the front page of a submission, and relevant sections of the submission marked as confidential. The submission should also be provided in both redacted and unredacted versions. In the redacted version, all information claimed as confidential should be removed or hidden. In the unredacted version, all information should be exposed and visible. These measures will make it easier for us to make the remainder of the document publicly available. A confidentiality claim template is available at **www.qca.org.au/submission-policy.**

The template gives guidance on the type of information that may help us to assess a confidentiality claim. We encourage stakeholders to use this template when making confidentiality claims.

Public access to submissions

Subject to any confidentiality constraints, submissions will be available for public inspection at our Brisbane office or on our website at **www.qca.org.au**. If you experience any difficulty gaining access to documents, please contact us on 07 3222 0555.

Our price monitoring task

The Gladstone Area Water Board (GAWB) provides bulk raw and potable water to industries located in the Gladstone region and to the Gladstone Regional Council. GAWB charges bulk water prices determined through commercial negotiation between it and its customers.

We have been directed by the Queensland Government to undertake a price monitoring investigation relating to GAWB's proposed bulk water prices for the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030 (the 2025-30 price monitoring period).¹

Price monitoring should allow GAWB to operate commercially without intrusive regulatory intervention and provide incentives to reduce compliance costs, as well as improve price transparency to customers and promote accountability on GAWB.

As required by the referral, our GAWB price monitoring investigation is required to:

- determine appropriate prices to apply for the 2025-30 price monitoring period and prepare:
 - a draft report by 29 November 2024 outlining our preliminary views
 - a final report by 30 April 2025 outlining our findings on appropriate prices
- deliver a mid-term report by 31 October 2028 comparing the prices GAWB charged over the period to 30 June 2028 with our final report findings on appropriate prices.

The draft and final reports consider the appropriate prices by examining the factors that influence GAWB's allowable costs and revenues to establish a baseline of forecasts for the monitoring period. This includes assessing the prudency and efficiency of GAWB's proposed capital expenditure and operating costs, as well as evaluating its forecast demand. Our mid-term report then compares GAWB's actual prices against the appropriate prices in our final report to identify differences and the reasons for them.

In this way, our investigation is informative rather than deterministic. It supports transparency and accountability around GAWB's proposed expenditure and price setting processes by providing a baseline of forecast costs and prices that we then monitor against. Transparency gives GAWB's customers, the community, and government a better understanding of GAWB's costs and pricing, including anticipated changes – and in turn makes GAWB accountable for its actions, including investment decisions and actual pricing outcomes.

This draft report outlines our preliminary views. Following consideration of stakeholder submissions received in response to this draft report, we will release our final report.

¹ The way in which we conduct the investigation, and the matters we must consider, are set out in the referral notices dated 14 December 2023 as amended on 23 May 2024 (referral notice is at Appendix A and on our <u>website</u>) and the QCA Act.

Executive summary

On 14 December 2023, the Queensland Government directed us to conduct a price monitoring investigation of GAWB's bulk water supply activities from 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030 (the price monitoring period).² On 23 May 2024, the direction was amended to exclude the consideration of the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline from our investigation.³

In this draft report, we set out our preliminary findings on GAWB's appropriate prices for its bulk water services for the price monitoring period and explain how we arrived at them. This involves considering forecast demand, allowable costs and allowable revenue for each year in the price monitoring period.

'Allowable costs' and 'allowable revenue' are terms used in the referral. They essentially direct our consideration to the nature or category of the costs we should be considering. These terms should not be interpreted to be some sort of limit on the costs GAWB can incur or the revenues it can collect.

Our price monitoring findings are not directly binding – we do not set GAWB's costs, revenues or prices. Rather, we transparently provide information to interested parties that in turn makes GAWB more accountable for its actions, including its commercial practices. The draft report is the first stage of our price monitoring investigation.

Our preliminary views are indicative and will be subject to further consideration before we provide our final report to government. Our mid-term report activities will commence in 2028.

Our preliminary views

We have set out our preliminary view on the appropriate prices for the 2025-30 price monitoring period (Chapter 10). The appropriate prices reflect our assessment of GAWB's prudent and efficient costs of supplying bulk water, given forecast demand.

Overall, we consider that the allowable revenue that GAWB could be expected to recover through appropriate prices between 2025-2030 is \$684.92 million, which is \$53.37 million (or 7.2%) lower than GAWB proposed. The primary drivers for this difference relate to our findings on the rate of return and operating costs.

When compared with the 2020-25 monitoring period, prices for the 2025-30 period are also higher. These increases are driven by forecast growth in GAWB's asset base, a higher rate of return due to increases in the risk-free rate, and GAWB's increases in operating costs.

In summary, we found that:

- forecast operating expenditure of \$236.74 million over the monitoring period is appropriate.
- This is \$7.97 million lower than GAWB's proposed \$244.72 million. The primary reason for differences between GAWB's proposal and our assessment relate to step changes (\$7.44m),

² The referral and direction were issued in accordance with ss 23A and 24 of the QCA Act.

³ This would allow the impacts associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline to be considered with greater precision in a subsequent QCA investigation closer to the commissioning of the project. See the <u>amending referral</u>.

with some minor differences in forecast escalation and the consequential application of GAWB's proposed 0.2% efficiency factor

- GAWB's estimated actual capital spend of \$84.2 million for the 2020-25 period is prudent and efficient. We have added this value into the closing asset base at 30 June 2025, subject to minor modelling adjustments
- GAWB's estimate of prudent and efficient forecast capital expenditure over the period 2025-30 is \$504.9 million, of which \$310 million is attributable to network augmentations to support the emerging hydrogen industry, provides an appropriate overall estimate of prudent and efficient capital expenditure for the monitoring period (given the uncertainties associated with GAWB's forecast capital program)
- the forecast regulatory asset base will increase to \$1,208.66 million over the monitoring period, driven by GAWB's forecast capital expenditure
- the rate of return of 7.39% would be appropriate, reflecting a benchmark gearing of 50%, a cost of equity of 8.47% and a cost of debt of 6.32%. This is 48 basis points lower than GAWB's submitted rate of return of 7.88%
- other cost and revenue components should be adjusted as set out in this draft report.

There is uncertainty surrounding the expected bulk water demands of new customers – in particular, relating to the emerging hydrogen industry – during the price monitoring period and beyond. Ultimately, the scope, timing and size of investments to support new demand will have impacts on the prices GAWB actually charges to recover its capital and operating costs. To address these uncertainties, we are proposing a targeted revenue true-up mechanism to address revenue under-and over-recovery for our price monitoring task.

Increasing costs since our previous review

Compared to our 2020 price monitoring investigation, GAWB is seeking a substantial increase in all categories of allowable costs.⁴ Figure 1 shows the allowable costs from our 2020-25 price monitoring review and compares this with GAWB's proposal and this draft report for the 2025-30 price monitoring period. Figure 2 identifies the drivers that are increasing GAWB's allowable costs between monitoring periods by cost category.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

⁴ GAWB recognises the drivers of its allowable revenue as operating expenditure, rate of return (driven by increases in the risk-free rate) and forecast capital expenditure (GAWB, sub 1, p 113).



Figure 1: Comparison between the 2020-25 review and 2025-30 allowable costs (\$ million, nominal)

Figure 2: Comparison between the 2020-25 review and 2025-30 allowable costs, by driver (\$ million, nominal)



Note: Comparison developed to highlight the drivers that are increasing allowable costs between monitoring periods. Numbers may not add due to rounding.

The primary drivers of GAWB's increase in total allowable costs for the 2025-30 period, compared to the 2020-25 period, are:

- rate of return representing 28% of the increase (driven by increases in the risk-free rate)
- asset base growth representing 44% of the increase (driven by capital costs associated with GAWB's \$504.9m capital program, of which \$310m is for network augmentations)
- operating expenditure representing 24% of the increase (driven by labour, electricity and insurance cost categories)
- tax and working capital allowance increases representing 4% of the increase (driven by larger taxable revenues and cashflow requirements).

These costs are increasing at a greater rate than forecast demand, which is further contributing to price increases.

Cost drivers impacting on GAWB's underlying costs categories

Changing operating environment

GAWB is experiencing unprecedented changes to its operating environment, driven by increases in input costs, rapid forecast demand growth from the emerging hydrogen industry, and a substantial capital program required to support that new demand.

To satisfy this forecast demand from customers, GAWB is experiencing significant increases in costs:

- Capital expenditure GAWB's forecast capital program is the largest 5-year program in its history and is 6 times the capex GAWB expects to add to the RAB during the 2020-25 period.
- Operating costs these are driven by the forecast expansion in the scale and scope of GAWB's bulk water activities and increased cost pressures for resources in the Gladstone region.

We expect GAWB to face challenges in delivering its ambitious capital program during the 2025-30 monitoring period. As such, we recognise that a substantial capability and resourcing uplift is also required for GAWB to deliver to its existing and forecast customers over the period.

Deliverability challenges and increasing costs

There are significant deliverability risks for GAWB from its forecast capital program. GAWB acknowledges this, noting that while pressures on some costs may moderate in the medium term, higher costs, labour shortages and increased competition for resources across sectors are expected to continue into the 2025-30 period.⁵

GAWB is proposing substantial increases to its operating costs in order to ensure:

- its substantial forecast capital program can be successfully delivered, including investments necessary to accommodate increased forecast demand
- resourcing constraints and cost pressures do not adversely impact its ability to undertake its business-as-usual activities.

⁵ GAWB, sub 1, p 28.

Way forward

Public involvement is an important part of our review. We invite submissions on our draft report from stakeholders, interested parties and members of the community. Submissions are due by 17 February 2025.

It is important that we receive submissions by the due date so that we have sufficient time to carefully and fully consider the issues raised as we prepare our final report, which we must provide to the government by 30 April 2025.

1 Overview

The prices that GAWB charges for providing bulk water services are determined through commercial negotiation. The government has periodically directed us, the Queensland Competition Authority (QCA), to undertake price monitoring investigations for GAWB.

This review is being conducting under referral notices issued by government.⁶ We are required to undertake a price monitoring investigation for the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030 (the price monitoring period).

1.1 GAWB's bulk water supply activities

GAWB supplies bulk water services to provide both raw and treated water to industries located in the Gladstone region and to the Gladstone Regional Council. It owns and operates the following assets to service its bulk water customers:

- Awoonga Dam and associated infrastructure
- 229 km of water pipelines comprising 95 km of raw water pipelines and 134 km of potable water pipelines
- 10 pump stations
- 16 water reservoirs comprising 11 treated water reservoirs and 5 raw water reservoirs
- 2 water treatment plants
- recreational facilities located around Lake Awoonga
- hatchery facility.

While GAWB is also in the process of constructing the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline project, this project is not within the scope of this investigation, and the costs and consequent impact on prices have not been considered.

1.2 Declaration and previous reviews

In September 2000, GAWB's bulk water activities were declared to be government monopoly business activities. This made these activities subject to the prices oversight regime under Part 3 of the *Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997* (QCA Act), enabling us to undertake this investigation as requested under the referral notice issued by government.

This is our third price monitoring investigation under section 23A of the QCA Act – and the second investigation that provides for a mid-term review. Before these, we had reviewed GAWB's pricing practices 3 times since 2000 under section 23 of the QCA Act.⁷

 ⁶ The referral (see Appendix A) was issued under section 23A of the *Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997*.
 ⁷ Section 23 contemplates an investigation into pricing practices, whereas section 23A contemplates a price monitoring investigation.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

1.3 How GAWB's bulk water prices are determined

GAWB's bulk water prices are determined through a commercial negotiation between GAWB and its customers.⁸

We would expect GAWB and its customers to depart from our price monitoring findings and set different prices, subject to their commercial arrangements and changing market circumstances. This is because effective commercial negotiations between GAWB and its customers are the foundation of the light-handed price monitoring approach. An example of this could include GAWB smoothing revenue over time where new customer demand increases rapidly in the initial years.

We would expect this negotiation would not be based on a 'take it or leave it' approach from GAWB because this would be inconsistent with the primacy of commercial negotiations undertaken in good faith.

Gladstone Regional Council is a water retailer to its residential and commercial water customers and is responsible for setting applicable service charges for water and sewerage services. While these may include costs of GAWB bulk water, they may also include the costs of transporting water from bulk supply points to customers' properties, removing and treating sewage, providing billing services and dealing with enquiries. Gladstone Regional Council's service charges for water, including its structure and cost base, are outside the scope of our investigation.

1.4 Investigation considerations

We are conducting our investigation having regard to the government's direction and the matters we are required to consider in the QCA Act.⁹ Where required, we have used judgement in determining those considerations that are most relevant to each matter in our investigation.

Terms of the referral notice

We have been asked to make findings on appropriate prices for GAWB, and subsequently compare these with GAWB's actual prices in a mid-term review. Appropriate prices are to be consistent with allowable costs, reserved demand and are to be smoothed over the price monitoring period to allow GAWB sufficient allowable revenue to recover its allowable costs. Other key parameters in the referral notice are:

- price monitoring period the five years from 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030
- allowable operating costs including the prudent and efficient costs of operational, maintenance, administrative activities, including those for catchment management and recreational facilities; this also includes allowances for working capital and tax
- allowable capital costs including prudent and efficient capital expenditure, an appropriate rate of return and depreciation allowance
- allowable revenue to be received from GAWB's monopoly business activities

⁸ GAWB has bulk water supply agreements or commercial arrangements with its customers.

⁹ We must have regard to the matters in s 26 of the QCA Act including, for example, the need for efficient resource allocation, the protection of consumers from abuses of monopoly power, and an appropriate rate of return on assets (see s 26(1) of the QCA Act).

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

- proposed network augmentation or expansion capital expenditure should be sized, configured, priced and timed to service 2030 forecast reserved demand and any reasonably expected future demand
- reserved demand to be determined based on the total quantity of water reserved by GAWB's customers (under contracts or water supply proposals), including conditional contracts
- approach to estimating certain cost components we should use specific methods to determine some cost components, including estimating forecast inflation using the methods in our inflation forecasting position paper¹⁰; an appropriate rate of return using the approach in our rate of return review¹¹ and estimating the cost of debt component using a 10-year transition from an 'on the day' to a 'trailing average' approach
- exclusion of certain costs associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline (including related water allocations).

We highlight in this report where we have developed our positions with respect to the relevant referral notice parameter or requirement.

Consideration of section 26 matters

In conducting our review, we are required to consider the matters in section 26 of the QCA Act.¹² The list of matters is extensive, diverse and potentially conflicting¹³ – for example, the need for efficient resource allocation, the effect of inflation, demand management considerations, the protection of consumers from abuses of monopoly power, and social welfare and equity considerations.

We explain how we have had regard to each of the section 26 matters in Appendix D.

1.5 Submissions in response to GAWB's proposal

We provided stakeholders with an opportunity to comment on GAWB's proposal and received 18 submissions.

Appendix C provides a list of all the submissions we received and our consideration of matters raised. We have taken into account these submissions throughout our review, even though we may not have referred directly to every issue raised in this report.

Stakeholders raised concerns regarding GAWB's proposed price increases and their impact on households and businesses, the competitiveness of local industries, and future investment in the region.¹⁴ This included the further uncertain increases within the price monitoring period due to the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline project.¹⁵

Stakeholders also stated we should consider:

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

¹⁰ QCA, *Inflation forecasting*, position paper, October 2021.

¹¹ QCA, <u>*Rate of return review*</u>, final report, version 4, September 2024.

¹² In accordance with ss 24(1)(b) and 26 of the QCA Act.

¹³ Productivity Commission, <u>Australia's Urban Water Sector</u>, inquiry report no. 55, August 2011, pp 267-270.

¹⁴ Northern Oil Refineries, sub 17, p 1; Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 2; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 2; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, pp 2-3; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 1; Fortescue, sub 26, p 1.

¹⁵ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 4; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 4; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 2; C. Bryce, sub 22, p 6; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 2.

- implications associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline, including:
 - the possible double recovery of the pipeline costs if GAWB's proposal did not completely exclude costs associated with the pipeline ¹⁶
 - whether the expected pipeline-associated costs and their allocation should be included in the current QCA investigation (and not a separate process) to provide transparency¹⁷
 - the concern that the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline would not actually address water security concerns where there was an increase in demand from new hydrogen customers¹⁸
- GAWB's proposed increase in operating expenditure, including:
 - the prudency and efficacy of expenditure given the effect of such increases¹⁹
 - substantial increases in labour costs²⁰, with the Gladstone Regional Council stating that significant increases to remuneration expenditure failed to consider the flow-on impact to customers²¹
- GAWB's forecast demand, including:
 - the possible variation in prices caused by the uncertain demand during the period²²
 - the scope, standard, timing and allocation of forecast capital expenditure²³
- GAWB's pricing practices, including:
 - recovery of the portion of capital projects in excess of the requirements of its customers²⁴
 - whether the submitted prices and pricing zones were equitable, and concerns with the level of transparency provided²⁵
 - whether it was appropriate for new customers to be charged significantly different prices compared to existing customers in a similar delivery location²⁶
 - whether it is appropriate that GAWB's pricing model effectively penalises customers for reducing water consumption by increasing prices²⁷
- any additional revenue GAWB received from ancillary charges (applied surcharges on short-term contracts) and whether that should be returned to customers.²⁸

We have considered these matters throughout our review, where relevant.

¹⁶ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 4; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 2-3.

¹⁷ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 4; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6.

¹⁸ C. Bryce, sub 22, pp 4-5.

¹⁹ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.

²⁰ Northern Oil Refineries, sub 17, p 1; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.

²¹ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.

²² Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 4-5; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 4; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6.

²³ Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 3; Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 2-3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3; ConocoPhillips, sub 25, p 2.

²⁴ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 5.

²⁵ Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 2-4; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 1, 3; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 4; ConocoPhillips, sub 25, p 2; Fortescue, sub 26, pp 2-3.

²⁶ Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 3; Fortescue, sub 26, p 3.

²⁷ Cement Australia, sub 20, p 4.

²⁸ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 4.

2 Our approach

As part of our investigation, we develop appropriate prices in accordance with the requirements of the referral²⁹, and subsequently compare these to the actual prices GAWB charged in a mid-term review.

The indicative appropriate prices we present in this report are based on our assessment of GAWB's submission³⁰ and our consideration of issues raised by stakeholders.³¹

Where insufficient information was provided in GAWB's submission, we have sought further information.

Our first task is to determine appropriate prices that allow GAWB sufficient revenue, based on forecast demand, to recover its allowable costs over the monitoring period.³² These steps involve:

- assessing the allowable costs of supplying GAWB's customers, including
 - the prudency and efficiency of GAWB's operating costs (Chapter 4) and capital expenditure (Chapter 5), which was also informed by our assessment of GAWB's forecast demand (Chapter 3)
 - capital charges from GAWB's regulatory asset base (Chapter 6), including an appropriate rate of return (Chapter 7) and depreciation allowance. We also include an allowance for tax and working capital (Chapter 7)
- applying revenue adjustments (Chapter 8), which then provides for the allowable revenue (Chapter 8) to be recovered through prices
- using GAWB's pricing practices (Chapter 9) to establish forecast appropriate prices (Chapter 10). This involves allocating costs between various pricing zones and tariff components, using our assessment of GAWB's forecast demand (Chapter 3).

The following figure outlines where these steps are undertaken throughout our draft report.

²⁹ Referral notice in Appendix A.

³⁰ GAWB, sub 1. GAWB's submission presents its views on the forecast operating and economic environment, as well as forecast demand. allowable costs and capital requirements. GAWB also outlines its proposed pricing framework.



3 Forecast demand

Demand forecasts are used to derive GAWB's prices and to inform the prudent and efficient levels of investment and operating expenditure we use for our subsequent price monitoring activities.

We reviewed GAWB's proposed demand forecasts and found them reasonable for price monitoring during the 2025-30 period. We formed this view as GAWB's demand forecasts are based on the best information available, having regard to historical outcomes, actual contracted volumes, and expectations of future demand (as advised by its customers).

There is significant uncertainty surrounding the expected bulk water demands of new customers during the 2025-30 monitoring period and beyond. This expected new demand is largely attributable to hydrogen industry proponents positioning to construct facilities in the GAWB delivery network area. As noted in Box 1, there is some evidence that the hydrogen industry may not develop as rapidly as previously anticipated.

Our forecast of demand is for the purpose of monitoring GAWB prices and does not necessarily reflect what GAWB will use in determining its actual prices. These are commercial matters that GAWB and its customers address during the negotiation of their commercial arrangements.

3.1 Overview

Demand is a key driver of infrastructure investment for network augmentation and expansion projects. It also has a direct impact on variable operating expenditures – for example, the quantity of water treatment chemicals required and the electricity needed to pump water – and on the ability of GAWB to recover their total costs. Demand forecasts are also used in our price monitoring to allocate GAWB's costs between customers in the setting of zonal prices.

GAWB's customer base comprises large industrial customers (accounting for around 80% of the water supplied by GAWB) and residential and smaller commercial customers, who are mostly supplied through the Gladstone Regional Council (GRC) distribution network.

Because of the composition of GAWB's customer base, material changes in water demand are driven by its large industrial customers. Residential and other commercial demand tends to be driven by population growth, climatic conditions, water conservation and efficiency policies, as well as changes in consumer behaviour over time.

3.2 Assessment framework

The intent of our framework is to forecast demand so we can estimate appropriate prices that are sufficient for GAWB to recover its prudent and efficient costs of providing bulk water services over the price monitoring period.³³

³³ Referral notice, section C 1.1-1.2, section F, p 3.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

The referral notice outlines the parameters we must consider when assessing GAWB's demand forecasts for the 2025-30 period. Under the referral notice, appropriate prices for GAWB should be consistent with its reserved demand.³⁴ Reserved demand is defined by the referral as:

The total quantity of water reserved by GAWB's customers under their contractual arrangements (including any conditional contractual arrangements) and water that is the subject of a water supply proposal provided under GAWB's *Queuing Guideline (Source Capacity)*.³⁵

Further, as discussed in Chapter 5, the referral notice also requires us to include any network augmentation required to '[s]ervice 2030 forecast Reserved Demand and any reasonably expected future demand that would make use of the network.'³⁶

3.3 QCA analysis

GAWB's actual demand during the 2020-25 monitoring period has so far fallen well short of GAWB's previous forecast (Figure 4). This is predominantly due to the shutdown of the Callide C power station following a catastrophic failure in May 2021. The power station was partially recommissioned in April 2024 and returned to full capacity in August 2024.³⁷

During the period 2018-19 to 2022-23 GAWB's annual average metered volume was 52,550 megalitres (ML). GAWB's total annual forecast metered volume (raw and treated) at the start of the 2025-30 period reflects a return to levels that were observed before the failure of Callide C (52,734 ML in 2025-26) and is projected to increase by 5.8% to 55,803 in 2029-30.³⁸

Between 2025-26 and 2029-30, reserved delivery volumes (contracted volumes) are forecast to increase in net terms by 6.3% from 63,840 ML to 67,832 ML in 2029-30. This growth is mostly driven by expected hydrogen customers.³⁹ Excluding these customers, forecast growth in reserved delivery volumes would be around 1% over the price monitoring period.

Modest forecast growth in demand for treated water supplied to GRC is also contributing to expected consumption.

GAWB's demand forecasts do not assume the exit of any significant industrial customers during 2025-30.40

³⁴ Referral notice, section F, p 3.

 $^{^{\}rm 35}$ Referral notice, section F, p 5.

³⁶ Referral notice, section F, pp 3-4.

 ³⁷ CS Energy, '<u>Callide Unit C4 returns to service'</u>, 2 September 2024, CS Energy website, 2024, accessed 4 November 2024.
 ³⁸ GAWB, response to RFI 22.

³⁹ Water demand for the hydrogen industry is driven by; feed water for the demineralisation process (reverse osmosis membranes) to create demineralised water for the electrolysers; and cooling water. (GAWB, response to RFI 76, Hydrogen program execution plan, p 1.)

⁴⁰ We note there has been speculation surrounding the impending closure of CS Energy's Callide B power station, which is a substantial customer. CS Energy's most recent statement on this matter was in October 2019 when it confirmed that the plant is forecast to close at the end of its technical life in 2028 (see CS Energy, '<u>Statement on the future of Callide B power station</u>', 27 October 2019, CS Energy website, 2024, accessed 4 November 2024. However, no decision has been made to close, and any decision will be made by the Queensland Government.



Figure 4: GAWB actual and forecast demand 2016-30

Source: GAWB, response to RFI 22; QCA analysis.

GAWB stated that since June 2023 it has sought to enter long-term (20-year) water supply agreements with prospective customers.⁴¹ The full available capacity of Awoonga Dam has been allotted or contracted,⁴² and we understand that any remaining water seekers are subject to GAWB's queuing policy. These prospective customers cannot be allocated water until either new source capacity is secured, or existing allocations are released by customers and made available for reallocation. GAWB's demand forecasts do not include any queued demand that is beyond the available capacity of Awoonga Dam.⁴³

Forecasting methods

GAWB uses a straightforward approach to demand forecasting. It is largely based on actual contracted volumes, historical actual data and the observed historical relationships between contracted and metered (actual) demand. Table 1 illustrates GAWB's underlying forecasting assumptions and information sources for each demand parameter.

Table 1	: GAWB	demand	forecasting	methods	and	assum	otions

Demand parameter	Forecasting method
Reserved delivery point maximum daily quantity (ML/day)	Based on currently contracted volumes and maximum daily quantity (MDQ) for existing
Reserved delivery point volumes (ML/year)	customers.

⁴¹ GAWB, sub 1, p 29.

⁴² GAWB, sub 1, p 128. Note that the full yield (water allocation) of Awoonga Dam is 78,000 ML, but it cannot be fully contracted due to storage and network losses and environmental discharge requirements, among other factors.
⁴³ GAWB, response to RFI 22.

Demand parameter	Forecasting method
	GRC: based on GRC's 20-year forecasts.
	Domestic customers: ^a based on average historic usage.
Metered volumes (ML/year)	An averaging period of 5 years is used where it is representative of consumption under normal circumstances. Due to the failure of Callide C, GAWB has used the 3 years prior to 2021 to forecast metered volumes, where relevant.
	For domestic customers, the forecast metered volume is set to equal the reservation amount (as the reservation amount has been based on an average of actual usage from 2020-21 to 2022-23).
	For new customer delivery points that have no historical data, the forecast metered volume is based on the total average actual usage of all existing customers as a percentage of total 2025- 26 reservations for existing customers (83%).

a GAWB directly supplies a small number of residential customers in the Awoonga zone. Source: GAWB, response to RFI 22.

Due to the failure of CS Energy's Callide C power plant in 2021, the historical relationship between contracted and metered volumes is not a reliable predictor of actual metered volumes for the price monitoring period. However, GAWB's alternative approach is reasonable in the circumstances.

Overall, GAWB's demand forecasting is reasonable as it considers actual contracted volumes, customers' own usage expectations and actual historical demand. We note that GAWB's forecasting methods are broadly consistent with its approaches in previous reviews.

GAWB has stated that it intends to meet with each of its customers over the coming months to discuss their future demand requirements, having regard to their contractual commitments and operational plans. The outcome of these discussions will be used to update the forecasts used to set final prices from 1 July 2025.⁴⁴

Reasonably expected future demand – new customers

The emerging hydrogen industry is expected to increase bulk water demand in GAWB's network area over the 2025-30 monitoring period and beyond. This expected demand is driving substantial network augmentation during the 2025-30 monitoring period.

As discussed in Chapter 5, GAWB's prices should include network augmentation required to:

[s]ervice 2030 forecast Reserved Demand and any *reasonably expected* future demand that would make use of the network.⁴⁵ [emphasis added]

⁴⁴ GAWB, sub 1, pp 6, 41.
⁴⁵ Referral notice, section F, p 4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

While the concept of 'reasonably expected future demand' is ambiguous, the definition of 'reserved demand' in the referral provides relevant context (defined above). The referral notice also states that 'reasonably expected' future demand is additional to 'reserved demand', not a component of it.

By extension, reasonably expected future demand could include demand that is supported by a relatively lower level of customer commitment – for instance, potential customers that have expressed interest in taking water but have not yet signed a water supply proposal. GAWB has interpreted the term in a similar way. GAWB identified three potential new customers in this category. These customers have either:

- signed a water supply proposal
- signed a water supply proposal and are negotiating a conditional water supply contract, or
- been allotted water under GAWB's queuing guideline and have provided confirmation of intent to submit a water supply proposal.⁴⁶

Clearly, these demand estimates are uncertain, particularly given that some prospective hydrogen customers have yet to finalise their investment decisions. As noted in Box 1, several challenges to the development of the hydrogen market are beginning to emerge, which could impact investment decisions in the near term.

GAWB, response to RFI 22.



Box 1: Challenges in commercialising hydrogen production

There are some recent indications that the hydrogen industry may not develop in Australia as rapidly as previously expected. Several substantial hydrogen investments have recently been scaled back or cancelled, with investors citing factors such as:

- high production costs, particularly for energy inputs and electrolyser technologies
- limited market demand and uncertainty around its future development
- infrastructure limitations and high international transportation costs.

Together, these factors present a challenge to hydrogen proponents in realising the necessary economies of scale to viably compete with fossil fuels (and established renewable energy sources) in the near term.

For example, Fortescue Future Industries announced in July 2024 that it would scale back its target of producing 15 million tonnes of hydrogen fuel by the end of the decade. It would instead refocus on renewable energy generation.⁴⁷ This includes stepping away from its proposed partnership with AGL to develop a green hydrogen facility at the former Liddell coal-fired power station in New South Wales, following a feasibility study.⁴⁸

More recently, Origin announced its exit from the proposed Hunter Valley Hydrogen Hub project. Origin cited a combination of high input costs and technology challenges, and the slower than anticipated development of the hydrogen market. Origin announced its intention to cease work on all hydrogen development opportunities.⁴⁹

There is also recent evidence of similar sentiment internationally. For example:

- BP announced it has cancelled or postponed 18 clean hydrogen projects, scaling back its investment to between 5 and 10 projects globally by 2030^{50, 51}
- Shell and Equinor have both cancelled plans to produce and export hydrogen from Norway, citing high costs and lack of demand⁵²
- in August 2024, Orsted cancelled a green hydrogen project in Sweden, two years after it reached a final investment decision, citing slower than expected market development.⁵³

⁴⁷P Kerr and A Macdonald-Smith, '<u>Labor's hydrogen dream stalls as Fortescue slims down H2 vision'</u>, *AFR*, 17 July 2024, accessed 15 November 2024.

⁴⁸ B Murphy and M Condon, '<u>Fortescue green hydrogen partnership with AGL at former Liddell coal power station</u> <u>mothballed</u>', ABC News, 19 July 2024, accessed 15 November 2024.

Notwithstanding the uncertainty, we consider GAWB's assessment of reasonably expected future demand is consistent with the parameters of the referral notice and is appropriate for our monitoring exercise. Moreover, GAWB has taken a reasonable approach that avoids including speculative demand within its forecasts, or potential demand that cannot be met with existing source capacity.

We note GAWB will ultimately finalise its demand forecasts after consultation and negotiation with its customers ahead of its price negotiation process for 2025-26.⁵⁴

Figure 5 illustrates the contribution of reasonably expected future demand included in GAWB's proposal. It also illustrates the incremental demand of a small number of hydrogen customers that have commenced taking water and are ramping up production during the 2025-30 price monitoring period.





Source: GAWB, response to RFI 22; QCA analysis.

⁴⁹ Origin Energy, <u>Update on Hunter valley Hydrogen Hub</u>, 3 October 2024, Origin website, accessed 15 November 2024.

⁵⁰ BP, <u>3Q 2024 financial results</u>, presentation slides and script, n.d., p 6.

⁵¹ BP, <u>Hydrogen</u>, BP website, accessed 15 November 2024.

⁵² Reuters, <u>Shell shelves Norway hydrogen project due to lack of demand</u>, 24 September 2024, Reuters website, accessed 14 November 2024.

⁵³ Orsted, <u>Interim report for the first half year of 2024 – increased earnings from offshore sites, progress on our business plan, and commissioning of around 2 GW renewable capacity</u>, 15 August 2024, Orsted website, accessed 15 November 2024.

⁵⁴ GAWB, sub 1, p 41.

3.4 QCA draft findings

GAWB's demand forecasts are reasonable for the purposes of our price monitoring exercise, including its estimate of reasonably expected demand associated with the emerging hydrogen industry.

We note GAWB will continue to refine these forecasts in consultation with customers ahead of setting final prices for 2025-26.



4 **Operating costs**

GAWB's operating costs are the ongoing costs of providing water supply services and include costs associated with the operation and maintenance of water storage, treatment and transport, as well as water treatment chemicals and electricity. Operating costs that we assess to be prudent and efficient are a key input to determine GAWB's allowable costs that we use for our subsequent price monitoring activities.

The referral notice requires us to assess GAWB's operating costs for the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030, using a base-step-trend approach and focusing on the necessary step changes. Baseyear operating expenditures are to be calculated using forecast inflation. Issues of materiality are considered if there are any differences in aggregate between GAWB's proposal and our forecast.⁵⁵

GAWB is proposing substantial increases to its operating costs in order to ensure:

- its substantial forecast capital program can be successfully delivered, including investments necessary to accommodate increases in its forecast demand
- resourcing constraints and cost pressures do not adversely impact on its ability to undertake its business-as-usual activities.

4.1 Overview of findings

As outlined in Chapter 5, there is substantial uncertainty about GAWB's ability to deliver its proposed capital program over the monitoring period. We also recognise that a substantial capability uplift is required for GAWB to deliver bulk water services to its existing and forecast customer demand over the period, with expected demand increasing over the period (Chapter 3). Taking this into account, our position is that \$236.7 million (Table 2) represents the prudent and efficient level of operating costs over the period. This is \$8.0 million less than proposed by GAWB.

	QCA draft						GAWB
	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total	proposal – difference
Base-year	30.76	30.76	30.76	30.76	30.76	153.82	-
Step changes	7.86	7.93	9.30	10.47	12.87	48.43	(7.44)
Trend	4.44	5.80	7.36	8.77	10.56	36.94	(0.61)
Efficiency	(0.26)	(0.35)	(0.47)	(0.60)	(0.75)	(2.44)	0.08
Total	42.81	44.15	46.95	49.41	53.44	236.74	(7.97)

Table 2: QCA position on GAWB's operating costs (\$ million, nominal)

Notes: Totals may not add due to rounding. Source: GAWB, sub 1; QCA analysis.

 $^{\rm 55}$ Referral notice, section F, p 3, Allowable Costs (a) and (b).

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

The primary reasons for differences between GAWB's proposal and our assessment relate to step changes, along with some minor differences in forecast escalation and the consequential application of GAWB's proposed 0.2% efficiency factor to a lower overall operating cost forecast.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
Base-year	30.76	30.76	30.76	30.76	30.76	153.82
Step changes	9.14	9.73	11.09	11.94	13.96	55.87
Trend	4.59	5.97	7.48	8.91	10.6	37.55
Efficiency	(0.27)	(0.37)	(0.49)	(0.62)	(0.77)	(2.51)
Total	44.23	46.09	48.85	50.99	54.56	244.72

Table 3: GAWB's proposed operating costs (\$ million, nominal)

Note: Totals may not add due to rounding.

Source: GAWB sub 1, p 81; GAWB financial model; QCA analysis.

We consider that our forecast of operating costs reflects a reasonable overall estimate with which GAWB can prudently and efficiently manage its assets and undertake its operations in order to deliver its bulk water services and substantial capital program over the period.

GAWB submitted a base-step-trend approach for its operating costs for the first time. The basestep-trend approach serves as a robust and transparent approach for forecasting GAWB's prudent and efficient operating expenditure. We assessed GAWB's proposed operating costs and found:

- GAWB's prudent and efficient operating costs amounted to \$236.74 million (outlined in Table 2). This is \$7.97 million less than GAWB's proposed \$244.72 million (Table 3). Given this difference is material, we have used our alternative estimate to determine GAWB's allowable costs.⁵⁶
- GAWB's proposed base year level of operating costs of \$30.76 was justified as being efficient (section 4.4), but we did not accept \$7.44 million of GAWB's proposed step changes which still provides an additional \$48.43 million over the monitoring period (section 4.5).
- GAWB's proposed escalators and how they are applied to operating cost categories over the monitoring period are generally acceptable, with the exception of the proposed premium above the Wage Price Index (WPI) to apply to GAWB's employee costs and contract labour costs. GAWB has provided insufficient evidence of materially different underlying cost drivers to support applying a premium over forecast WPI. As such, we do not consider it reasonable to apply a premium over WPI, as this would not be consistent with our 2021 inflation forecasting position paper (section 4.6.1).
- GAWB's proposed efficiency factor of 0.2% per annum (cumulative) applied to its forecast operating costs is acceptable to estimate efficiencies over the monitoring period (section 4.6.2).
- GAWB's proposal excludes operating costs that will be capitalised to avoid double counting. We have also confirmed that costs associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline (FGP) have not been included, as these are currently capitalised to that project.

⁵⁶ See our assessment of allowable costs and allowable revenues (Chapter 8), which are converted to appropriate prices (Chapter 10) using forecast demand (Chapter 3) and GAWB's pricing practices (Chapter 9).

Our forecast of operating costs does not represent the amounts that GAWB must include in its actual prices. These are commercial matters that GAWB and its customers address during the negotiation of their water supply agreements or pricing arrangements. Ultimately, GAWB is accountable for allocating and prioritising resources to specific operational, maintenance and administrative activities. This includes funding new initiatives or mitigating unexpected cost increases.

We also note the priority for GAWB is the delivery of a substantial forecast capital program over the monitoring period without adversely impacting its ability to undertake its business-as-usual activities for existing customers.

Our forecast operating costs represent our assessment of the prudent and efficient costs based on the information available to us at this time. In a number of areas, we are seeking further information from GAWB before we release our final report. These include:

- labour step change we require further information on GAWB's forecasts of long-service leave costs, considering staff turnover and average staff tenure (section 4.5.1). We are minded to accept GAWB's proposed increase, subject to additional information supporting that its forecast increase is consistent with the expected actual cost for long service leave during the monitoring period.
- hatchery step change we require justification for increasing hatchery production and costs above GAWB's 2022-23 production level (section 4.5.5):
 - We are minded to include this as a necessary step change after GAWB provides sufficient justification that increasing its hatchery production is a requirement of its fisheries licence and associated fisheries management plan. This could include supporting correspondence from the relevant responsible environmental agency or customers. GAWB has been unable to provide confirmation of its environmental obligations that require increasing hatchery production.
 - We have concerns around the level of supporting information justifying the proposed costs⁵⁷ and request that GAWB provide additional detail.
- tariff review step change we are unable to confirm the additional costs required to undertake a tariff structure review because the need for the review has not been demonstrated. We require justification for the tariff structure review. This could include supporting correspondence from customers for the review to be undertaken.

We would welcome GAWB developing an efficiency plan during the monitoring period, in consultation with its customers, to set out a pathway to continue to reveal efficient costs over the price monitoring period, including an ongoing process to identify and implement spend to save initiatives (section 4.6.2).

Figure 6 sets out our draft report findings on GAWB's operating expenditure allowance for the 2025-30 period, compared with GAWB's proposal and allowances accepted in our 2020-25 review.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

⁵⁷ Aither noted that from 2022-23 to 2024-25, GAWB is increasing production by 56% at a forecast cost increase of 197% in operating expenditure for the hatchery (Aither report, pp 51-52).



Figure 6: Comparison between 2020-25 review and 2025-30 allowable operating costs (\$ million, nominal)

4.2 Assessment framework

The intent of our assessment framework is to include operating costs (within allowable costs and revenues) that are sufficient for GAWB to recover its prudent and efficient costs of providing bulk water services. The referral requires us to subsequently undertake price monitoring against GAWB's actual prices over the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2028.

In assessing the prudency and efficiency of operating costs from 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030, we applied the relevant referral parameters. For example, we our used our inflation forecasting methodology to escalate base year operating expenditures (section 4.6).⁵⁸

Consistent with the referral, we have considered materiality after looking at aggregate operating cost forecasts.⁵⁹ We have used our judgement to form a view on prudency and efficiency based on the overall proposal before us.

We engaged Aither to provide independent technical advice to support our review.

 ⁵⁸ QCA, *Inflation forecasting*, final position paper, October 2021.
 ⁵⁹ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs, p 3.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

4.3 Base-step-trend approach

As required by the referral⁶⁰, GAWB's forecast operating costs over the price monitoring period are estimated by using the base-step-trend approach. Our overall operating cost monitoring framework is illustrated in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Overview of QCA operating cost monitoring framework

We consider that the forecast operating costs should be set at a broad level, allowing GAWB to manage its assets, meet its obligations, prioritise expenditures and deliver bulk and distribution services in aggregate. This provides flexibility for the business to redirect cost savings to new initiatives or to mitigate unexpected cost increases.

Figure 8 outlines the process of our assessment, which involves:

- determining an appropriate base year level of prudent and efficient recurrent expenditure
- focusing on the necessary step changes of expenditure expected to occur during the period
- escalating base year expenditures using forecast inflation.

⁶⁰ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs p 3.





Base-year operating costs

The base year should represent a typical year for the forecast period.⁶¹ Where the most recent financial year of actual operating costs are consistent with previous price monitoring forecasts, we accept this as the prudent and efficient revealed costs for the financial year, removing any non-recurrent expenditure items.

Relevantly, we have not undertaken a detailed interrogation of GAWB's base year, as we are ultimately guided by the overall level of expenditure.⁶²

Step changes

After establishing a typical base year, we focus on the necessary step changes expected to occur during the period.⁶³ In our assessment, we do not seek to reopen base-year outcomes in the absence of a compelling case being presented.⁶⁴

We consider that proposed step changes should be material enough that the costs could not reasonably be met by an efficient entity operating within business-as-usual budget constraints, through prudent prioritisation of expenditures, or be otherwise mitigated. Necessary step changes should satisfy any of the following:

- The change is necessary to fulfil new (or changed) binding statutory or regulatory obligations and constitutes a reasonable estimate of the efficient incremental costs of fulfilling the new (or changed) binding statutory or regulatory obligation.
- The change is reasonably required to achieve an outcome that is explicitly endorsed by customers (for example, specific reliability outcomes) or broadly accepted changes in community expectations in relation to corporate responsibility.
- The change represents cyclical activities that are not within annual business-as-usual budgets.

The above requirements have been developed to promote a light-handed approach which avoids the need for intrusive investigations and provide the business with the onus of providing sufficient supporting information to justify including the step change within allowable costs.

⁶¹ That is, there are no fundamental changes to the business operating environment.

⁶² We have not developed detailed bottom-up estimates of prudent and efficient operating cost by individual categories.
⁶³ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs, p 3.

⁶⁴ GAWB has made compelling cases to increase base-year labour costs (see section 4.5.1), insurance costs (section 4.5.6) and electricity costs (section 4.5.2). These are considered as step changes (section 4.5).

Trend

After establishing the base-year and necessary step changes, we apply efficient forecast escalation expected to occur over the price monitoring period. This trend is applied to annual expenditure to provide a nominal forecast based on forecast escalation rates and efficiency factors, where appropriate.

We have been requested to escalate base year operating expenditure using forecast inflation based on the methodology outlined in our inflation forecasting position paper.⁶⁵

4.4 Baseline operating expenditure

For price monitoring purposes, it is important to ensure that the operating expenditure for the baseline year reflects a 'typical' year and does not include any non-recurrent expenditure that would not otherwise be incurred during the period. All figures referred to in this section are in 2022-23 dollars unless specified otherwise.

4.4.1 GAWB proposal

GAWB nominated its most recently completed financial year (2022-23) as its base year, with adjustments, so it reflects a typical year of operations over the monitoring period. GAWB removed non-recurrent items (one-off items of expenditure) and included expenditure due to changes in accounting treatment and consideration of maintenance activities that would usually occur in a typical year for operations (deferred maintenance activities).⁶⁶

4.4.2 QCA analysis and assessment

Our draft assessment of the adjustments necessary to GAWB's base year to reflect a typical year for operations over the monitoring period are outlined in Table 4. This provides a base year of \$30.76 million (2022-23 dollars).

We note GAWB's actual operating expenditure of \$30.85 million (2022–23 dollars) and its adjusted base year expenditure of \$30.64 million are below our previous QCA price monitoring review forecast of \$31.04 million (2022–23 dollars).

We accept GAWB's exclusion of identified one-off abnormal items from the base year, including costs associated with:

- updates to improve its capital project governance frameworks
- implementation of risk and compliance software
- an external review of critical infrastructure security
- 50th birthday celebrations.

We accept GAWB's inclusion of deferred maintenance expenditure and estimated and amortised motor vehicle lease costs into the base year. GAWB has demonstrated that these items are necessary over the period to establish a typical year because:

 ⁶⁵ Referral notice, section F, Forecast Inflation, p 4.
 ⁶⁶ GAWB, sub 1, p 52.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

- amortisation of motor vehicle lease costs is not recovered elsewhere (for example, within capital charges from its regulatory asset base)
- a small number of preventative maintenance activities were deferred due to the limited availability of suitably qualified technical staff/external contractors. We note that GAWB has subsequently implemented a range of reforms to address such issues (see labour step change discussion in section 4.5).

GAWB has made a genuine attempt to isolate abnormal items from the base year. We are encouraged by GAWB's improved financial monitoring processes and performance implemented during the current monitoring period, which demonstrates GAWB is operating within its forecast budgets and is accountable for its financial performance.⁶⁷ These processes have made establishing GAWB's base year a straightforward and uncontroversial process.

During our review, we requested confirmation if there were any termination payments in GAWB's base-year. GAWB confirmed that there were, and that these were a recurrent cost to its business as they are an ongoing part of managing its workforce. GAWB noted that it did not seek to include several other costs within step changes. For example, GAWB said it is no longer eligible for the regional payroll tax discount; however, it did not claim a step change for this cost increase.⁶⁸ Given this, we are not proposing any further adjustments to GAWB's base-year.

Baseline operating expenditure	\$ million 2022-23
Operating costs – actuals	30.85
less one-off costs – updating governance frameworks ^b	0.12
less one-off costs – implementation of risk and compliance software $^{ m b}$	0.14
less one-off costs – 50th birthday celebration costs	0.20
less one-off costs – consultant review of critical infrastructure ^b	0.11
add maintenance deferred due to resource constraints	0.17
add amortised motor vehicle lease costs (excluded from operating costs)	0.32
Total base year opex ª	30.76

Table 4: QCA draft position – baseline opex (\$ million, 2022-23 dollars)

a Totals may not add due to rounding. b Estimates exclude incremental costs associated with forecast operating costs to be recovered through step changes. Source: GAWB, sub 1; QCA analysis.

To avoid the inclusion of costs outside the scope of our investigation, GAWB provided detailed transaction lists of actual operating expenditure for its proposed base year 2022-23, which provided evidence that costs associated with the FGP were not included in its adjusted base year.

We have confirmed that non-recurrent operating expenditure has been removed from GAWB's proposed base year and it reflects a typical baseline level of operating expenditure for GAWB's operations (excluding the FGP costs). We also confirmed that there is no double-counting by

⁶⁷ GAWB has implemented processes to monitor its actual performance in the areas of capital and operating expenditure, against QCA forecasts and those used to set its customers prices (Aither report, pp 28-29).
⁶⁸ GAWB, follow-up to RFI 38 and 39, email, 23 October 2024.

reviewing GAWB's financial information, which shows it has excluded costs forecast to be capitalised from its base year.⁶⁹

Aither assisted us by undertaking a review of GAWB's base year general ledger 2022-23, which confirmed the adjustments to the base year were reasonable to determine a typical level of operating expenditure and excluded costs associated with the FGP.⁷⁰

4.5 Step changes

Once base year costs have been adjusted to reflect an efficient level of recurrent expenditure, consideration should be given to factors that may change that base level of expenditure during the monitoring period, other than real cost escalation (considered in section 4.6). These adjustments are described as step changes and represent incremental increases or decreases in expenditure from the above determined efficient base year costs.⁷¹ The referral notice requires us to consider those step changes that are necessary during the period. We then form a view on the prudency and efficiency of the step change costs.

GAWB proposal

GAWB submitted 9 step changes, amounting to an additional \$56.24 million (2022-23 dollars) in operating costs expected to be incurred during the monitoring period.⁷² A summary of GAWB's proposed annual operating expenditure for each step change is provided at Table 5.

Opex steps	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
Labour costs	5.94	6.66	6.66	6.66	6.66	32.59
Electricity	0.41	0.42	0.93	1.42	2.24	5.41
ICT	0.81	0.81	0.81	0.81	0.81	4.04
Maintenance	0.80	0.27	0.85	0.45	(0.03) ^a	2.34
Hatchery	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	1.38
Insurance	0.44	0.69	0.97	1.30	1.66	5.06
Chemicals	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	0.28	1.39
QCA review	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.75	2.45	3.30
Tariff review	0.09	0.33	0.33	0.00	0.00	0.75
Total steps	9.14	9.73	11.09	11.94	14.34	56.24

Table 5: GAWB proposed step changes to operating costs by year (\$ million, 2022-23 dollars)

a GAWB's submission refers to \$403,228, which was due to a reporting error. GAWB addressed this issue and provided the revised value in its responses to RFI 38 and 39.

⁶⁹ This could arise where operating costs that are capitalised to projects (such as labour and contractors and professional services costs) are also included in forecast operating costs.

⁷⁰ Aither report, pp 32-33.

⁷¹ Step change costs in this section are described in 2022-23 dollars, unless otherwise stated, consistent with GAWB's submission.

⁷² GAWB, sub 1, pp 55-76.

QCA analysis and assessment

We have assessed GAWB's proposed step changes to forecast operating costs. These proposed adjustments were predicated on using 2022-23 actual costs as the efficient cost base. Our findings are summarised in Table 6, with further detail provided below.

Step change	GAWB proposal	QCA alternative forecast	Comment
Labour Costs associated with implementation of a remuneration and benefits strategy and for additional staff	32.59	28.51	 We accept that GAWB's labour cost base is required to increase over the monitoring period. The approach taken by GAWB is in direct response to the challenging labour market and operating environment. While we have concerns about approving individual additional roles that are not directly supported by our step change criteria, we have taken a pragmatic approach given the challenges for GAWB over the monitoring period. Rather than determining the merits of individual roles or specific responsibilities proposed by GAWB, we have estimated the step change for additional roles based on the positions GAWB has actually filled as at 30 June 2024. This results in a reduction of \$3.7m over the period. We intend to forecast the expected actual cost for long service leave in our final report. We are seeking additional information from GAWB.
Electricity Costs to accommodate forecast increases in cost inputs and increases in total electricity usage	5.41	5.41	We accept increases in electricity consumption will be required to meet forecast demand over the period. We also recognise that GAWB could have reasonably requested aspects of this claim as increased escalation, in light of recent volatility and uncertainty in wholesale energy markets. Therefore, considering it as a step change is not controversial in the circumstances. GAWB has demonstrated efficiency in its cost procurement methodology (strategy) for contestable sites and tariff settings where notified prices are incurred.
ICT Costs of implementing GAWB's 2024-2029 ICT Strategy	4.04	3.16	We accept GAWB's estimate of costs that relate to unavoidable replacement of major systems, cyber security, communication robustness and costs associated with additional employees. This accounts for \$3.16m.

Table 6: QCA findings – step changes to GAWB's operating costs (\$ million, 2022-23 dollars)

Step change	GAWB proposal	QCA alternative forecast	Comment
			We have not included costs that relate to business-as usual-activities, the escalation of specific software and hosting costs and other balancing items. GAWB has not demonstrated that these items satisfy the criteria to be assessed as a step change.
Maintenance ^a Costs for major cyclical preventative maintenance and the implementation of specific project initiatives that will enable better planning and decision-making	2.34	2.11	We have accepted GAWB's forecast costs for major cyclical preventative maintenance and one-off project initiatives planned to be undertaken during the period that are proposed to reduce future costs and improve maintenance and easement planning. We have excluded project-based expenditure where the initiative is effectively a carry-over item because the project was not completed as planned in the 2020-25 monitoring period (\$0.23m). This does not satisfy our step change criteria and should be included within business- as-usual expenditure.
Hatchery Costs to increase production up to the maximum permissible restocking rate	1.38	Treatment to be determined	We are unable to confirm the additional costs are required to satisfy environmental obligations because the yet-to-be-finalised 'put and take monitoring framework' needs to be completed to satisfy a step change. Moreover, we also have concerns about the level of forecast costs proposed by GAWB. We seek further justification from GAWB before determining the appropriate treatment of this step change.
Insurance Costs to accommodate forecast increases in insurance costs, including for a substantial increase in the size of GAWB's asset base	5.06	0.88	We accept GAWB's proposed insurance step change. GAWB has provided a reasonable forecast to account for the substantial increase in its asset base over the period. Moreover, GAWB has made a compelling case for these costs to be assessed within a step change, in light of significant increases in insurance costs that has occurred over a sustained period of time.
Costs for increased quantities of chemicals to satisfy increased forecast demand, and increases in consumables; and costs	1.39	0.88	chemical usage to meet production volumes relative to the base year (and updated cost forecasts for this) and for GAWB's increase in consumables. These are required to satisfy increased production to meet forecast demand, while also maintaining its existing operations.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

.

.

* e. .

111

ны. На 1
Step change	GAWB proposal	QCA alternative forecast	Comment
for price increases for specific chemical items			We have not accepted GAWB's proposal to incorporate price increases for specific chemical items. We do not re-open operating expense items selectively as a step change unless a compelling case has been made (such as GAWB has made for insurance and electricity costs).
OCA review Costs for future QCA reviews, QCA fees and external consultants	3.30	3.30	We have accepted GAWB's forecast costs for future price monitoring activities. These costs represent cyclical activities that are not within annual business-as-usual budgets.
Tariff review Costs to undertake a comprehensive review of GAWB's tariff structure	0.75	0	We are unable to confirm the additional costs required to undertake a tariff structure review because the need for the review has not been demonstrated. It is unclear how this is a new requirement for GAWB. We seek further justification from GAWB before determining the appropriate treatment of this step change.
Step changes	56.24	48.43	

a GAWB's proposal outlined a step change of \$1.97 million but it has been amended based on information subsequently provided by GAWB in RFI 38 and 39.

Providing the right price monitoring incentives for step changes

We rely on the business to make a convincing case in support of its step changes. In recognition of this, we have placed greater emphasis on whether the drivers of proposed step changes satisfy our criteria to establish if the step change is necessary. Our assessment of GAWB's step changes against our criteria is undertaken before assessing the prudency and efficiency of costs for each proposed step change.

Forecasting expenditures using the base-step-trend approach should not be an exercise in identification and recovery of all anticipated business-as-usual costs or savings, or act as a supplementary cost pass-through mechanism.

Our step change criteria have been developed to avoid assessing step changes in a way that is more akin to stepping into the role of making individual business decisions or dictating whether specific functions should, or should not, be undertaken, unless there is a clear driver.

The objectives of incentive-based price monitoring are best achieved where an efficient operating allowance for a bundle of costs is established, and the regulator then steps away from the process and monitors the outcomes achieved by the business. If additional costs are actually incurred in providing the services, the expectation is that these are borne by the business, but similarly, if the business can achieve productivity improvements and reduce costs, it should retain the benefit.

During the course of a monitoring period, costs in some categories will be higher than the corresponding base year allowance, and others will be lower. This natural annual variation, along with prudent prioritisation of expenditure, underpins the incentives within the base-step-trend approach. Importantly, this approach should ideally apply symmetrically. That is, decreases in some expenditure items are expected to be offset by increases in others.

Aligning GAWB's budgeting processes with the base-step-trend approach

Although this is GAWB's first monitoring investigation using the base-step-trend process, GAWB has made a genuine attempt to justify its proposals and willingly provided supporting information, where it is available.

However, transitioning to the base-step-trend approach at the current time has some challenges for GAWB – in particular, GAWB's recent transformation of its workforce capability to ensure the deliverability of its ambitious forecast capital program and avoid its existing customers being exposed to performance and reliability issues.

Moreover, GAWB's budgeting processes are developed on a zero-base budget for each of its business units. Aligning GAWB's budgeting approach with the base-step-trend has resulted in a number of challenges for us where there is not a clear cost driver (new statutory obligation or newly forecast operations) that addresses the step change, in part or completely. In combination, these factors have required us to form views in several instances where there is not a unifying cost driver (new statutory obligation or newly forecast operations), or where aspects of the step change are not material. In these circumstances, we are placed in the position of making de facto resource allocation decisions for the business–rather than determining the prudency and efficiency of necessary step changes.

In the absence of a convincing case, we do not consider specific expenditure items should be selectively re-opened simply for cost increases above forecast escalation. Such an approach would introduce a level of unnecessary complexity and promote unnecessary regulatory intrusion, where we seek to identify cost items where costs are lower than inflation. The costs of this approach would clearly outweigh the benefits.

We note that for the majority of GAWB's proposed step changes (in value and number), GAWB has provided sufficient justification of step changes so that it avoids an overly intrusive approach by us. We also recognise that integrating the base-step-trend approach within GAWB's internal business processes will take some time.

The following sections focus on areas where we have identified concerns with GAWB's proposed step changes.

4.5.1 Labour step change

GAWB proposed a step change to uplift its employment costs, reflecting changes in GAWB's remuneration policy and the size and composition of its workforce. This step change was not included in GAWB's previous forecasts submitted to the us for the 2020-25 monitoring period as it could not be reasonably estimated at the time.⁷³

⁷³ GAWB, response to RFI 16, *Labour Costs Step Change Summary*, p 2.

The value of the step change is for additional costs of \$32.59 million over the monitoring period for:

- the implementation of a new remuneration strategy (\$2.11m per annum) and benefits strategy (\$1.55m per annum), in response to challenges in recruiting and retaining staff
- additional staff required to respond to the demands of GAWB's changing operating environment (\$2.86m per annum).⁷⁴

We generally consider that this step change is necessary for GAWB to fulfil new obligations that arise to meet forecast expected demand while also maintaining its operational performance obligations for existing customers. We recognise that GAWB could have reasonably requested this increase within its proposed base year (to determine typical recurrent costs expected over the period), and the proposed step change is of sufficient materiality that it should be assessed for inclusion within allowable costs.

GAWB has provided evidence of a tightening and highly competitive employment market in Gladstone that impacts on its ability to attract and retain a quality workforce. For example:

- GAWB's staff turnover more than doubled from 16.3% in 2018-19 to 32.8% in 2022-23. Surveys indicated that over 87% of GAWB staff believed the employee benefits offered were not competitive with other companies in the region.⁷⁵
- The average time to fill roles had been over 69 days in 2021-22 and 2022-23.
- The average employee age is 47.4, with 16 employees (over 13% of its workforce) currently at or reaching retirement age by 2026.

GAWB has noted a significant decrease in employee turnover and improvements in attracting quality candidates during 2023-24⁷⁶ (the staff retention rate in 2023-24 was 90.77%⁷⁷, and the annualised turnover rate was 13.79%⁷⁸). By way of comparison in 2021-22, rates were 77.6% and 24.2% respectively.⁷⁹

We recognise that without this proposed expenditure, the majority of which GAWB is already investing in its workforce, deliverability of its forecast capital project would be at risk and existing customers could be exposed to performance and reliability issues.

While we have concerns about approving individual additional roles that are not directly supported by our step change criteria, we have taken a pragmatic approach given the challenges for GAWB over the monitoring period, as discussed below.

Remuneration and benefits strategy

We accept this aspect of GAWB's labour cost base as it is necessary to be incurred during the monitoring period. The approach taken by GAWB is in direct response to challenging labour market and operating environment.

During 2022, GAWB commenced a whole-of-business review of the remuneration and benefits made available to its workforce. GAWB engaged Mercer to assist with this review. Mercer conducted a benchmarking of GAWB's remuneration and benefits against market trends and

⁷⁴ Costs associated with the labour step change are \$5.94 million in 2025-26, before increasing to \$6.66 million per annum for the remainder of the price monitoring period.

⁷⁵ GAWB, Response to RFI 16, *Remuneration and benefits review presentation*, p 18.

⁷⁶ GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2023-24</u>, pp 14, 27.

⁷⁷ GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2023-24</u>, p 27.

⁷⁸ GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2023-24</u>, p 26.

⁷⁹ GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2021-22</u>, p 19.

industry standards. This informed comparator market assessment resulted in percentage uplifts for employees, ranging from

A key component of the salary revisions involved GAWB benchmarking its staff according to the:

- general market, for roles where the labour competes in the open market and are not considered 'hard to fill'
- resource, construction and engineering (RCE) market, where roles are:
 - 'hard to fill' and require competitive remuneration to and/or retain; or
 - subject to direct competition from other employment within the RCE market.

The implementation of a new remuneration strategy is forecast to increase annual costs by \$2.11 million (2022-23 dollars). GAWB has provided detailed justification for this aspect of its proposed labour step change, though provision of supporting information concurrently with its submission would have been best practice.

Aither noted that the overall approach taken by GAWB is understandable and reflects a business responding to the labour market it operates in.⁸⁰ Aither also noted that the supporting information would have been better if a more detailed justification on the value for GAWB's customers and the potential benefits that would be generated through the implementation of the new approach were considered in greater detail.⁸¹

Concurrent to its renumeration review, GAWB adopted a range of employee-related benefits including increased medical and health-related benefits, access to long service leave after 5 years of service, as well as an increase in fringe benefit tax (FBT) associated with the additional benefits. The implementation of a new benefits strategy is forecast to increase annual costs by (\$1.55m).

Relevantly, GAWB's decision to implement these measures during 2023-24 highlights the importance of acting to secure and attract the skilled workforce it requires to address the operating challenges.

We intend to forecast the expected actual cost for long service leave in our final report. It is not clear if GAWB is forecasting this amount, or even using an accrual that reflects the entire provision which may not be accessed where staff leave within 5 years of service. We note Aither's findings that GAWB's 2022-23 Annual Report⁸² indicates that its average workforce tenure is 4.97 years, and if not all employees remain at GAWB long enough to access their long service leave entitlement, GAWB's proposed approach would overestimate the necessary cost.⁸³ We also note GAWB's 2023-24 average workforce tenure actually reduced to 4.60 years during 2023-24. While we have not made any adjustments for this matter at this time, we are seeking additional information from GAWB to determine if an adjustment is required to ensure only actual costs are incurred.

We intend to monitor how the new remuneration and benefits strategy assists in improving staff retention and how this benefits customers.

⁸⁰ Aither report p 37.

⁸¹ Aither report p 38.

⁸² GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2022-23</u>.

⁸³ Aither report, p 38.

Additional roles

We have taken a pragmatic approach when considering the proposed step change for additional roles.

In a number of instances, the position descriptions and reasons for the additional roles are not clearly linked to our step change criteria. Nonetheless, it is clear that GAWB is focused on meeting forecast expected demand through its ambitious capital program while also maintaining its existing operational performance obligations for existing customers. We have considered this step change from this perspective.

Rather than determining the merits of individual roles or specific responsibilities as undertaken by GAWB, we have used the positions filled in 2023-24 that are recovered through operating costs to estimate the necessary step change. Establishing a new baseline by benchmarking GAWB to the new roles up to 2023-24 provides a reasonable estimate for the new roles needed over the monitoring period. While this approach results in a slight reduction of \$3.7 million over the period, for roles not filled in 2023-24, it still provides GAWB with a substantial increase to allocate towards its operational priorities.

Given the majority of the roles included in this step change have already been filled, and the costs therefore reflect actual remuneration being paid, GAWB is already incurring costs that are not reflected in the allowance used to set bulk water prices in the current 2020-25 monitoring period.⁸⁴

Importantly, we do not intend to contemplate proposed step changes associated with incremental staff and resourcing needs in the future, except where there is strong justification for doing so (such as outlined in our step change criteria). In the absence of a clear justification, it should not be our role to form a view on the prudency and efficiency of individual resourcing decisions, or to dictate whether specific business management functions should, or should not, be undertaken by GAWB. In our view, continuing to assess step changes at this level of detail will not advance the objectives of the incentive-based approach to price monitoring. Furthermore, considering relatively modest incremental increases in resourcing for specific functions does not necessarily take account of year-to-year variations in costs, or offsetting cost reductions that may be realised in other areas during the monitoring period.

We will monitor GAWB's progress with implementing its new operating model that requires additional roles to be filled.

4.5.2 Electricity step change

GAWB proposed a step change in electricity costs of \$5.41 million over the monitoring period, driven by forecast increases in cost inputs and increases in total electricity usage as a result of forecast expected demand.

We consider this step change is necessary for GAWB to fulfil new obligations that arise to meet forecast expected demand while also maintaining its existing operational performance obligations for existing customers.

We recognise that GAWB could have reasonably requested aspects of this claim as increased escalation given the recent volatility and uncertainty in wholesale energy markets. We accept that

36

⁸⁴ Aither report, p 57.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

increases in electricity consumption will be required to meet increasing forecast demand over the period. The proposed increase is of sufficient materiality that the costs could not reasonably be met by an efficient entity operating within business-as-usual budget constraints, through prudent prioritisation of expenditures, or be otherwise mitigated.

GAWB developed a whole-of-business electricity cost forecasting model that is used to monitor, reconcile and forecast its electricity costs by site. It is used to inform wholesale market contracting decisions and takes into account forecast electricity costs beyond the contracted periods. Moreover, GAWB has also used advice from ACIL Allen on the wholesale electricity market outlook until 2030.

A thorough review of GAWB's forecasting approach has been undertaken by ourselves and Aither.⁸⁵ Compared to 2022-23, we note:

- wholesale electricity prices have increased significantly which has been demonstrated by GAWB for both contestable and regulated sites
- network tariff costs continue to increase for both contestable and regulated sites
- increasing water demand is increasing the electricity operational costs for existing sites, particularly at the Awoonga Dam pump station
- forecast expected demand for the new customers necessitates GAWB augmenting and expanding its delivery network, especially adding new pumping capacity, which is a key driver for forecast electricity consumption from 2027 to 2028.

A major driver of the increase is driven by the timing of commissioning augmentation projects. Aither confirmed this was reasonable and aligned with GAWB's forecast capital expenditure program.⁸⁶ GAWB also provided detailed supporting information that it used in its decision-making in relation to tariff optimisation processes and forecast modelling.

GAWB has demonstrated efficiency in its cost procurement methodology (strategy) for contestable sites and tariff settings where notified pries are incurred.

4.5.3 ICT step change

GAWB proposed to include an ITC step change for costs associated with the implementation of its 2024-2029 ICT Strategy.

The value of the step change is for additional annual costs of \$0.81 million (totalling \$4.04m over the monitoring period) for:

- unavoidable replacement of major systems (\$0.47m per annum)
- increased cyber security costs (\$0.05m per annum)
- communication integration and robustness costs required to integrate GAWB's expanding network and costs associated with additional employees (\$0.11m per annum)
- business analytics / information management dashboard development for energy, billing, processes, connecting SaaS systems and investigating machine learning data (\$0.05m per annum)
- software engineering for two applications and software support (\$0.03m per annum)
- cost escalation for services above inflation (\$0.08m per annum)

⁸⁵ Aither report, pp 40-44.

⁸⁶ Aither report, p 43.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

• other balancing items to align with the corporate plan budget to implement ICT strategy (\$0.01m per annum).⁸⁷

We accept costs that relate to the unavoidable replacement of major systems, cyber security, communication robustness and costs associated with additional employees. These aspects of the proposed step change are necessary for GAWB to fulfil new obligations – they are either cyclical activities that are not within annual business-as-usual budgets or are necessary to support additional employees (see labour step change section 4.5.1).

These items account for \$3.16 million of the proposed expenditure. We consider this is of sufficient materiality that the costs could not reasonably be met by an efficient entity operating within business-as-usual budget constraints, through prudent prioritisation of expenditures, or be otherwise mitigated.

Aither noted that GAWB provided detailed supporting justification on the strategic and business drivers behind the key step change items, namely the implementation of the TechnologyOne employee system, database upgrades and cyber-security-related costs.⁸⁸ Aither considered that while limited supporting information was provided for employee communication costs, it was a reasonable estimate.⁸⁹ As GAWB has made a genuine effort in estimating these costs, we have included them in our assessment.

However, we have concerns with a number of individual annual items within this step change, where GAWB has not demonstrated that these items satisfy the criteria to be assessed as a step change. Accordingly, we have not included annual costs that relate to:

- business-as-usual activities, such as engineering software (\$0.03m) and business analytics / information management (\$0.05m)
- escalation of specific software and hosting costs above inflation (\$0.08m per annum)
- other balancing items to align with the corporate plan budget to implement its ICT strategy (\$0.01m).

In the absence of sufficient justification, our intention would be for these costs to be absorbed within business-as-usual constraints or overall escalation forecasts. Moreover, these amounts are immaterial.

Aither similarly noted concerns with ambiguity as to the rationale for some elements of GAWB's ICT plan and considered certain items could likely be business-as-usual activities or better incorporated as cost escalation. However, it did not make adjustments to the step change for this.⁹⁰ Aither recommended that GAWB improves the documentation that demonstrates the drivers of ICT expenditure going forward.⁹¹

⁸⁷ Totals do not add up due to rounding.

⁸⁸ Aither report, p 45.

⁸⁹ Aither report, p 45.

⁹⁰ Aither only recommended a minor adjustment for discrepancies between the costs set out in GAWB's submission and the supporting spreadsheet GAWB provided. Aither report, pp 45-46.

⁹¹ Aither report, pp 45-46.

4.5.4 Maintenance step change

GAWB proposed to include a step change for maintenance activities, equal to \$2.34 million⁹² over the monitoring period:

- costs for major cyclical preventative maintenance at the Awoonga Dam spillway (\$0.58m) and intake valve and actuator refurbishment
- implementation of specific project initiatives that will enable better planning and decisionmaking and condition assessments:
 - easement maintenance and operation (\$0.37m per annum)
 - condition assessments (\$0.11m per annum)
 - documentation of network reform work from the previous period that has not been completed in 2024-25 as scheduled (\$0.23m in 2025-26).

We have accepted GAWB's forecast costs for major cyclical preventative maintenance and one-off project initiatives planned to be undertaken during the period that are proposed to reduce future costs and improve maintenance and easement planning. These aspects of the step change are necessary for GAWB to fulfil new obligations that arise to meet forecast expected demand while also maintaining its existing operations. The increase is of sufficient materiality that the costs could not reasonably be met by an efficient entity operating within business-as-usual budget constraints, through prudent prioritisation of expenditures, or be otherwise mitigated.

The preventative maintenance tasks are material, cyclical activities that would not be included in the baseline operating expenditure. Aither noted that the cost estimates were reasonable and the planned timing of the Awoonga Dam preventative maintenance reflects the recommendations of GAWB's external technical consultants.⁹³

GAWB's one-off project initiatives planned to be undertaken during the period, which are proposed to reduce future costs and improve maintenance and easement planning, are based on:

- condition assessments to improve the data integrity of GAWB's lifecycle maintenance plans
- asset criticality reviews to better understand how maintenance strategies can be used to manage procurement risks
- pipeline and easement management programs being developed to avoid unnecessary delays to its capital program (noting that cultural or heritage assessments can impact on project timeframes).⁹⁴

We have excluded project-based expenditure where the initiative is effectively a carry-over item because the project was not completed as planned during the 2020-25 monitoring period (\$0.23m). In this instance, the deferral of this project does not satisfy a step change for the monitoring period and should be included within business-as-usual expenditure. We note that GAWB had proceeded with the project on the basis that all the expenditure would be absorbed within business-as-usual reprioritisations.⁹⁵

Aither noted that it would have been beneficial for GAWB to estimate the expected monetary benefits of the program in detail, even with the inherent uncertainty of forecasting them. Rather than

⁹² GAWB's submission refers to \$1.97 million that was due to a reporting error in 2029-30. GAWB addressed this issue and provided the revised value in its responses to RFI 38 and 39.

⁹³ Aither report, p 47.

⁹⁴ Aither report, p 48.

⁹⁵ Aither report, p 48.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

recommending adjustments to GAWB's proposed increase in maintenance expenditure, it considered this within its recommended efficiency factor.⁹⁶ Aither recommended that GAWB improve internal documentation to justify this expenditure in the future, to ensure the expected benefits and costs are better reflected in its decision-making.⁹⁷

As part of our monitoring task, we encourage GAWB's to track its progress as it improves its planning and decision-making processes to see how this benefits GAWB's customers.

4.5.5 Hatchery step change

GAWB operates a fish hatchery for barramundi, mangrove jack, sea mullet and other species, which are restocked into Awoonga Dam. Environmental consent conditions require GAWB to restock these fish to mitigate the impact of Awoonga Dam on migratory fish species in the Boyne River.⁹⁸ These conditions recognise that certain fish species cannot close the life cycle due within the original waterbody and need to be continually restocked.⁹⁹

GAWB proposed to include \$1.38 million over the monitoring period to account for increased costs resulting from increases in production up to the maximum permissible restocking rates, following the commissioning of its new hatchery facility.¹⁰⁰ GAWB said that until its new hatchery was commissioned and capable of operating at full capacity,¹⁰¹ its restocking rate was always less than the maximum set under its general fisheries permit.¹⁰²

While it was prudent for GAWB to invest in the hatchery facility to accommodate production up to the maximum restocking rate, the optimal restocking rate may be something less than both the production capacity of the facility and the maximum restocking rates outlined in its general fisheries permit.

Moreover, GAWB has indicated that the maximum restocking rate is a limit, in recognition of barramundi being an apex predator.¹⁰³ We understand this to mean that the maximum restocking rate is therefore intended to avoid potential ecological impacts of overstocking barramundi – it does not necessarily reflect the optimal 'put-and-take' restocking rate.

GAWB also said that:

there are no mandated minimum re-stocking quantities. However, there is an expectation that GAWB will manage its production target with the objective of achieving its maximum target each year. It is important to note that these maximum targets have been set by the Queensland Government based on maintaining fish levels within Awoonga Dam. It is therefore assumed that targeting restocking levels below the maximum restocking target would not achieve the levels necessary to maintain long-term fish levels in the dam.¹⁰⁴

¹⁰² GAWB, response to RFI 34, p 3.

⁹⁶ Aither report, p 48, 65.

⁹⁷ Aither report, pp 48-49.

⁹⁸ GAWB is required to restock fish at Lake Awoonga as a condition of its environmental impact statement (EIS) for the raising of Awoonga Dam in 2001.

⁹⁹ Queensland Government, <u>Policy for fish stocking in Queensland</u>, December 2020, p 13.

¹⁰⁰ Capital expenditure associated with the relocation, design and construction of the new hatchery was reviewed by us as part of our <u>2020 price monitoring investigation</u>. In that investigation, we found GAWB's proposed capex to build the new hatchery facility was prudent and efficient.

¹⁰¹ GAWB advised that it had been unable to meet its maximum restocking target out of GAWB's previous hatchery facility, which averaged only 243,000 annually between 2013-14 and 2018-19. Moreover, there had been a ramp-up period following commissioning before it is capable of achieving its targeted capacity.

¹⁰³ GAWB staff interviews (17 July 2024).

¹⁰⁴ GAWB, response to RFI 33 and 68, p 3.

Our treatment of this step change is yet to be determined. At this point in time, GAWB has not demonstrated that this step change is necessary for it to fulfill a new or existing obligation. We understand that GAWB's fisheries permit and the Management and Stocking Plan for Awoonga Dam (2022-2025) contains maximum stocking quantities; however, we have not seen evidence that GAWB's production forecasts consider optimal restocking rates from an ecological or economic standpoint, or that GAWB has undertaken studies to determine optimal restocking levels. We understand that the monitoring framework that would inform the optimal 'put and take' restocking rates has not been developed.

We are minded to include this as a necessary step change if GAWB can provide sufficient justification that increasing its hatchery production above its 2022-23 level is a requirement of its fisheries licence and associated fisheries management plan. This could include correspondence from the relevant responsible environmental agency.

We also have concerns around the level of supporting information justifying the amount of the proposed costs.¹⁰⁵ We encourage GAWB to provide further supporting detail on the efficiency of these costs, in response to our draft report.

4.5.6 Insurance step change

GAWB proposed a step change for insurance costs, equal to \$5.06 million over the monitoring period. The proposed increase in insurance costs is based on:

- incremental premiums to account for substantial increases in the size of GAWB's asset base over the monitoring period, which is covered through industrial special risk (ISR) insurance¹⁰⁶
- accommodating forecast insurance cost increases to insure GAWB's current operations, which include ISR and other insurance (covering existing assets and insured risks).

We accept this step change is necessary for GAWB to fulfil new obligations that arise, including to address the significant increase to its asset base over the period. Moreover, GAWB has made a compelling case for these costs to be assessed within a step change, in light of the significant increases in insurance costs that have occurred over a sustained period of time. GAWB's insurance costs have exhibited sustained annual growth between 2019-20 and 2023-24.¹⁰⁷

GAWB's insurance costs are subject to a detailed review process as part of each annual renewal, which includes:

- a review of GAWB's coverage requirements
- a review of market conditions and how this is impacting the availability and cost of cover, as well as policy terms and conditions; and insurance premiums.¹⁰⁸

We consider that this provides a reliable forecast for the purposes of GAWB's operations. Aither's assessment was that GAWB's process for estimating insurance expenditure forecasts is robust and

¹⁰⁵ Aither noted that, from 2022-23 to 2024-25, GAWB is increasing production by 56% at a forecast cost increase of 197% in operating expenditure for the hatchery (Aither report, pp 51-52).

¹⁰⁶ ISR insurance provides cover for a range of loss scenarios or damage done to high-value physical assets including property, buildings and machinery.

¹⁰⁷ Aither report, pp 52-53.

¹⁰⁸ Aither report, p 54.

the forecast appears reasonable.¹⁰⁹ Aither said GAWB's approach prudently reflects the changing nature of the insurance market and the increasing size of GAWB's asset base.¹¹⁰

We consider the increase is of sufficient materiality such that the costs could not reasonably be met by an efficient entity operating within business-as-usual budget constraints.

4.5.7 Chemicals step change

GAWB proposed a step change in chemical costs of \$1.39 million over the monitoring period for:

- increased quantities of chemicals to satisfy increases in forecast demand and the recommissioning of GAWB's powder-activated carbon plant that did not operate during 2022-23
- a corresponding increase for consumables such as cleaning equipment and chemical delivery costs
- contracted chemical price increases from external suppliers.

We accept costs associated with increases in chemical usage to meet production volumes relative to the base year (and updated cost forecasts for this) and for an increase in consumables. This accounts for \$0.88 million over the monitoring period. These aspects of the step change are necessary for GAWB to fulfil new obligations that arise to meet increases in forecast expected demand, while also maintaining its existing operations.

However, it is not clear that GAWB's observed base year performance and expenditures should be selectively re-opened for specific chemical price increases. We do not re-open other items selectively within a base year unless a compelling case has been made (such as for insurance and electricity costs). Such an approach would introduce a level of unnecessary complexity and promote regulatory intrusion, where the costs would outweigh the benefits. Accordingly, we have excluded \$0.50 million from the step change – these costs should be absorbed within business-as-usual constraints or overall escalation forecasts.

Aither accepted that contracted chemical prices may have increased but noted that GAWB's proposal would have benefitted from better documentation to justify the increase for chemical costs from external providers. It also noted that the extended timeframe between the base year (2022-23) and the start of the monitoring period (2025-26) created problems for GAWB in identifying and quantifying step changes; ideally these changes would be considered through the trend component of the base-step-trend analysis.¹¹¹ Overall, Aither recommended that the efficiency of GAWB's procurement processes be demonstrated in greater detail in future reviews, but accepted the overarching necessity of the chemicals step change expenditure for this review.¹¹²

4.5.8 QCA review step change

GAWB proposed to include \$3.30 million over the monitoring period for future QCA reviews, QCA fees and GAWB's use of external consultants.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

42

¹⁰⁹ Aither report, p 54.
¹¹⁰ Aither report, p 54.
¹¹¹ Aither report, pp 55-56.
¹¹² Aither report, p 55.

We accept this step change is necessary for GAWB to undertake cyclical activities that are not within annual business-as-usual budgets.

We consider that the proposed step change is material enough that the costs could not reasonably be met by an efficient entity operating within business-as-usual budget constraints.

Aither noted that cost estimates were reasonable.

4.5.9 Tariff review step change

GAWB proposed to include \$0.75 million over the monitoring period to undertake a review of its tariff structures, requiring additional external consultants.

GAWB said that a tariff review process would be complex and uncertain, arguing that a range of specialist activities would need to be undertaken (including economic analysis, stakeholder engagement, options assessment, price modelling, legal reviews, and the development of an implementation plan).¹¹³

At this point in time, GAWB has not demonstrated that this step change is necessary. The need for the review has not been demonstrated, and it is unclear how this is a new requirement for GAWB.

Aither noted that GAWB had significant expenditure for external consultants already within its base year to allocate to such a review (\$5.7m over the period) and that where Melbourne Water and Greater Western Water undertook tariff reviews in a base-step-trend framework, they were funded as business-as-usual budgets, not as a step change.¹¹⁴

In the absence of a direction to GAWB from government, or broad customer support for the review, we consider that this is a business-as-usual matter for GAWB and its customers, and not necessary for this price monitoring period.

We note that simplification of tariffs will not itself reduce allowable costs, but rather simply result in a reallocation of costs in a different manner. Moreover, GAWB's commercial tariff structure is already cost reflective and has been found to be appropriate.¹¹⁵

4.6 Trend

To forecast GAWB's operating expenditure for the price monitoring period, a trend is applied to annual expenditure that provides a nominal forecast for the monitoring period. This includes forecast escalation rates and forecast efficiency factors, where appropriate.

4.6.1 Escalators

The referral directs us to escalate base year operating expenditure using forecast inflation based on the methodology outlined in our inflation forecasting position paper.¹¹⁶

¹¹³ GAWB sub 1, pp 72-73; Aither report, p 57.

¹¹⁴ Aither report, p 57.

¹¹⁵ QCA, <u>Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-25 Part A: Overview</u>, final report, May 2020, pp 118-123.

¹¹⁶ Referral notice, section F, Forecast Inflation, p 4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Our position is to use expected CPI inflation to escalate opex input costs where the underlying cost drivers are not materially different from CPI inflation; but to use input-specific or sector-specific cost escalators where underlying cost drivers are materially different from CPI inflation.¹¹⁷

We recognise that GAWB's forecast escalators will need to be recalculated as data sources are updated prior to our final decision, for RBA and Queensland Treasury updates that occur after GAWB's submission.

GAWB proposal

GAWB proposed to determine the trend for operating costs using a weighted average escalation rate being applied over the monitoring period. This involves forecasting four primary escalators of forecast CPI, forecast WPI and a forecast council rates escalator. The approach, data sources and escalator forecasts are summarised in Table 7.

Proposed escalator	Approach				
Forecast CPI	The RBA CPI inflation forecasts for 2025-26 and 2026-27 and a linear glide path from the 2026-27 forecast to a rules-based anchor-point forecast of 2.5% in 2029-30.				
Forecast WPI	Queensland Treasury WPI forecasts for 2025-26 and 2026-27 and a linear glide path from the 2026-27 forecast to the 10-year historical average of the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) WPI for Queensland for the remaining years.				
Gladstone premium above forecast WPI	An escalation premium based on the difference between construction sector WPI growth and general WPI growth. This was calculated as 0.15% declining linearly to 0% over the price monitoring period.				
Council rates escalator	 A bespoke composite escalator based on weighting items identified in the Gladstone Regional Council 2022-23 Annual Report. This is forecast using: WPI (75%) CPI (25%) – weighted by the share of 'materials and services' (calculated as 44%) WPI forecast plus premium of 0.15% – weighted by the share of 'employee costs' (calculated as 31%) CPI – weighted for 'depreciation and amortisation' (calculated as 24%) 				
	• CPI – weighted for 'finance costs' (calculated as 1%)				

Table 7: GAWB's proposed escalators

Source: GAWB, sub1, pp 74-76; QCA analysis.

These escalators are then applied to various GAWB cost categories to develop a weighted average escalation factor to apply to operating costs over the monitoring period. Table 8 outlines the categories and how each primary escalator applies.

¹¹⁷ QCA, *Inflation forecasting*, position paper, October 2021.

Table 8: Application of GAWB's proposed escalators

Cost category	Proposed escalator
Insurance	Forecast CPI
Chemicals	Forecast CPI
Council rates	Council rates escalator
Labour – employee expenses	Forecast WPI plus Gladstone premium
Professional services (engineering)	Forecast WPI
Contract labour	Forecast WPI plus Gladstone premium
Contractors (service delivery)	Forecast WPI
Other materials and services	75% forecast WPI and 25% forecast CPI
Maintenance	70% forecast WPI and 30% forecast CPI
Electricity	Forecast CPI
Operations	Forecast CPI
Information systems and administration	Forecast CPI

Note: We accepted step changes that incorporate some escalation for insurance and electricity costs (see step changes section).

Source: GAWB sub 1, pp 76-77.

QCA analysis and assessment

We have assessed GAWB's proposed escalators and how they are applied to operating cost categories over the monitoring period.

Our findings on the approach, data sources and escalator forecasts are summarised in Table 9.

Table 9: QCA preliminary position

GAWB's escalation proposal	QCA position
Forecast CPI	We accept GAWB's forecast CPI approach because it reflects our 2021 Inflation Forecasting position paper methodology, consistent with the referral notice.
Forecast WPI	We do not accept GAWB's forecast WPI approach because it is inconsistent with our 2021 Inflation Forecasting position paper methodology as required by the referral notice.
	Our preferred approach is to use the Queensland Treasury WPI forecasts for 2025-26 and 2026-27, and the 10-year historical average of the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) WPI for Queensland for the remaining years – without a glide path.
Gladstone premium above forecast WPI	GAWB has provided insufficient evidence of materially different underlying cost drivers to support applying a premium over forecast WPI. As such, we do not consider it reasonable to apply a premium over WPI, as this would not be consistent with our 2021 Inflation Forecasting position paper.

GAWB's escalation proposal	QCA position
Council rates escalator	We accept GAWB's forecast Council rates escalator because it reflects our 2021 Inflation Forecasting position paper methodology, consistent with the referral notice, in that it is an appropriate input specific escalator.
	However, we don't accept the use of the Gladstone premium above forecast WPI within the council rates escalator.
Application to operating cost categories	We accept GAWB's proposed application of the above forecast escalators to various operating cost categories.

The reasons for our position are outlined in further detail below.

Forecast CPI

GAWB proposed to forecast CPI using the same approach as outlined in our 2021 inflation forecasting paper. We have updated GAWB's forecast CPI using the latest RBA Statement on Monetary Policy data. The RBA's 2026-27 CPI inflation forecast will not be available before our draft report is published. As such, our draft position uses a glide path beginning in 2026-27 and ending at 2.5% in 2029-30. This will be replaced with the RBA's 2026-27 CPI forecast in our final report.

Table 10: QCA preliminary position – forecast CPI (%)

	2023-24	2024-25	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
GAWB	3.80ª	3.20	2.60	2.57	2.53	2.50	2.50
QCA position	3.42 ^b	2.50	3.10	2.95	2.80	2.65	2.50

a Forecast; b Actual.

Note: The 2023-24 actual figures have been updated using ABS Brisbane All Groups CPI. Source: GAWB, sub 1, p 78; RBA, <u>Statement on Monetary Policy</u>, November 2024, p 55.

Forecast WPI

Due to the timing of GAWB's submission, GAWB has have provided placeholder values and proposed a methodology for forecasting WPI applicable at a time closer to the start of the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

GAWB's approach is not consistent with the methodology in our 2021 inflation forecasting position paper, whereas the referral notice requires such consistency. Our preferred approach is to use the Queensland Treasury WPI forecasts for 2025-26 and 2026-27, and the 10-year historical average of the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) WPI for Queensland for the remaining years – without a glide path.

Since GAWB's submission, ABS has released the actual 2023-24 Queensland WPI, which we have included in our report. Table 11 provides GAWB's proposed WPI forecasts, GAWB's WPI forecasts based on its proposed method and updated data, and our draft position.

	2023-24	2024-25	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
GAWB proposal	4.75ª	3.50	3.26	3.01	2.77	2.52	2.28
GAWB proposal updated	4.66 ^b	3.75	3.50	3.25	2.95	2.66	2.36
QCA position	4.66 ^b	3.75	3.50	3.25	3.0	2.36	2.36

Table 11: QCA preliminary position – forecast WPI (%)

a Forecast; b Actual.

Note: 2023-24 and 2024-25 are required, as the base year expenditure is in 2022 A) forecast, B) actual 23 dollars. Source: GAWB sub 1; Queensland Government, <u>Budget Strategy and Outlook, Budget Paper No. 2</u>, Queensland Budget 2024-25, p 4.

Gladstone premium above forecast WPI

GAWB has proposed to apply a premium above WPI to its employee costs and contract labour costs¹¹⁸, citing a relatively tighter regional labour market. GAWB proposed a premium of 0.15%, declining linearly to 0% over the price monitoring period. GAWB's proposed premium is based on the difference between construction sector WPI growth and general WPI growth since 2021, in the absence of any reliable publicly available information to estimate the forecast growth in labour costs in the Gladstone region above the WPI.¹¹⁹

As considered in the labour step change, we have accepted GAWB's proposed increases for renumeration and benefits over the price monitoring period. Among other things, the purpose of this step change was to improve GAWB's competitiveness in the labour market – acting as a 'catch-up' to current market conditions.¹²⁰

While wage levels may differ in regional areas, we have not been presented with evidence to suggest that the growth trend in regional wage levels is expected to outpace the general WPI growth in the coming years. GAWB has provided insufficient evidence of materially different underlying cost drivers to support applying a premium over forecast WPI for the monitoring period. As such, we do not consider it reasonable to apply a premium over WPI, as this would not be consistent with our 2021 inflation forecasting position paper.

In our previous investigation, we considered a premium over WPI was reasonable to reflect the higher growth rate of public sector wages compared to private sector wages. The premium declined linearly to zero over the price monitoring period as the premium between private and public sector WPI was not assumed to be sustained indefinitely.¹²¹

Council rates escalator

We accept GAWB's forecast council rates escalator because it is an appropriate input specific escalator.¹²²

¹²² Input specific escalators are consistent the methodology outlined in our 2021 inflation forecasting position paper.

¹¹⁸ Employee and contract labour costs account for approximately 52% of GAWB's base year operating expenditure and therefore, the total weighted escalation factor. These costs include salaries, wages, superannuation, leave, penalty, overtime payments and other benefits.

¹¹⁹ GAWB sub 1, p 75.

¹²⁰ GAWB sub 1, p 57.

¹²¹ QCA, <u>Gladstone Area Water Board Price Monitoring 2020-25, Part A: Overview</u>, final report, 2020, p 33.

We have confirmed the calculations using weighting items identified in the Gladstone Regional Council 2022-23 Annual Report and using our updated forecasts for CPI and WPI. This results in the escalation rates outlined in Table 12.

	2023-24	2024-25	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
GAWB proposal	4.41	3.39	3.02	2.85	2.68	2.52	2.36
QCA position	4.35	3.30	3.36	3.14	2.93	2.46	2.41

Table 12: QCA preliminary position – council rates escalator (%)

Source: GAWB sub 1; QCA analysis.

Application to operating cost categories

We accept GAWB's proposed application of the above forecast escalators to operating cost categories.

We have taken a pragmatic approach to the price monitoring task before us and accepted as step changes, rather than escalation, insurance and electricity costs. This effectively establishes a new baseline for these items. This is because GAWB made a compelling case to consider these items as step changes.

In our base-step-trend approach, we will not simply accept cost increases above inflation for specific items as a basis to include them. The selective identification of specific items within a base year being above inflation would encourage us to identify areas within a base year that were below inflation. Such an approach would introduce a level of unnecessary complexity and regulatory intrusion were the costs would outweigh the benefits. However, we will consider inclusion of items selectively within a base year if there is compelling case (such as the case GAWB has made for insurance and electricity costs).

This approach seeks to place the onus on the business to justify step changes and avoids us considering the impact of price changes relative to that forecast within the base year.

4.6.2 Efficiency factor

GAWB's proposed efficiency factor

GAWB has proposed an efficiency factor of 0.2% per annum (cumulative) be applied to all operating costs retrospectively from 2023-24 until the end of the monitoring period in 2029-30.

GAWB considered that it was important to distinguish between catch-up and continuing efficiencies in the base-step-trend context where the:

- catch-up element is considered when determining the efficient level of base year operating expenditure
- continuing efficiency element (or 'frontier shift') is reflected in the trend factor.

GAWB considered that only continuing efficiency should be considered, since GAWB's actual 2022-23 base year expenditure was below the level identified during our 2020-25 price monitoring investigation, and that no additional adjustments are needed for catch-up efficiencies.

GAWB commissioned advice from Frontier, which supported that an annual efficiency factor of 0.2% be used to reflect ongoing efficiencies. GAWB noted that this was consistent with the values applied

in our previous reviews for Seqwater and Sunwater rural irrigation services for the 2021-24 period.¹²³

Due to the changes in GAWB's business and operating environment, GAWB submitted that applying an efficiency factor of zero, accompanied by a credible efficiency plan, would not be an appropriate strategy for GAWB at the current time.

QCA analysis and assessment

Our draft assessment of the efficiency factor to apply during the monitoring period is to incorporate GAWB's proposed efficiency factor of 0.2% per annum (cumulative) to its forecast operating costs. The effect of this is outlined in Table 13.

We consider that GAWB is best placed to identify and implement actions to achieve efficiency. Moreover, we consider the businesses commencing a credible efficiency program that sets out a pathway to reveal efficient costs over the monitoring period, including an ongoing process to identify and implement spend to save initiatives, superior to imposing an ongoing efficiency target to operating expenditure. Nonetheless, we appreciate that GAWB is predominantly focused on delivering its forecast capital program and responding to underlying changes in its operating environment at this time.

Our draft position reflects a lower overall efficiency saving than that proposed by GAWB as GAWB's efficiency factor has been applied to our alternative (lower) forecast of operating costs. This results in a smaller reduction for forecast efficiency savings operating costs to \$2.44 million (nominal) over the period compared to GAWB's proposed \$2.51 million.

Efficiency factor	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
GAWB's proposal	0.27	0.37	0.49	0.62	0.77	2.51
QCA draft position	0.26	0.35	0.47	0.60	0.75	2.44
Difference	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.08)

Table 13: QCA position – efficiency savings (\$ million, nominal)

Source: GAWB sub, 1, QCA analysis.

We note that GAWB has applied a cumulative efficiency factor of 0.2% per annum for forecast operating expenditure during the 2025-30 monitoring period for both controllable and uncontrollable expenditure. This differs from the previous monitoring period where GAWB limited the efficiency factor to controllable expenditure only and at a lower overall rate of 0.1% per year. As such, GAWB is forecasting increasing its efficiency over the monitoring period.

Aither advised that an efficiency factor of 0.7% was more appropriate for GAWB – slightly lower than the average efficiency factor applied across regulatory decisions it considered relevant.¹²⁴ When making its recommendation, Aither took into consideration its views on specific step changes, namely:

¹²³ Frontier relied on two main sources of information – first, productivity growth rates derived from the National Performance Review dataset, although data limitations were recognised; and second, productivity growth rates applied in a range of regulatory decisions for water businesses between 2017 and 2023, although a number of these decisions combine catchup and continuing efficiencies. See GAWB sub 1, p 80.
¹²⁴ Aither report, p 66.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

- labour step change Aither noted that it saw some merit in GAWB adopting a new operating model that required additional employees. However, based on the information provided, it was challenging to determine if the new operating model was the most efficient for GAWB. Due to these difficulties and the uncertainty of the benefits, Aither factored this into its efficiency factor recommendation instead of making specific adjustments to GAWB's proposed step change for additional employees¹²⁵
- maintenance step change Aither noted that there was limited documentation that justified why the level of the proposed change in maintenance expenditure was efficient and how customers would benefit from the change in approach. Aither did not make any adjustments for this to the proposed maintenance step change but incorporated this uncertainty of the benefits within its recommended efficiency factor.¹²⁶

Moreover, Aither noted that certain step changes could likely be considered to be captured within business-as-usual activities, namely GAWB's ICT step change.¹²⁷

Our draft position excludes step changes that do not satisfy our criteria, rather than incorporate these within any proposed efficiency factor.

¹²⁵ Aither report, p 39.
¹²⁶ Aither report, p 49.
¹²⁷ Aither report, p 45.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

50

5 Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure (capex) includes expenditure to upgrade or replace existing assets or build new assets. For the purposes of our price monitoring framework, prudent and efficient capex may be included in GAWB's asset base. This capex then earns a return on, and return of, investment as part of the allowable revenues that we subsequently monitor prices against.

We assessed GAWB's capital governance frameworks, policies and procedures, along with a sample of GAWB's actual capex for 2020-25 and its proposed forecast capex for 2025-30. In summary, we found GAWB's forecast capex of \$504.9 million is reasonable – although highly uncertain due to potential changes in the timing and scope of its \$310 million hydrogen augmentation program. We also have some concerns regarding GAWB's capacity to deliver the overall capital program given its scale and the proposed delivery timeframes.

In recognition of this uncertainty, we have adopted GAWB's proposed capex forecast as an indicative capital budget, subject to an end of period revenue true-up for some allowable revenue items, for the purposes of our price monitoring exercise.¹²⁸ We consider this an appropriate framework for our price monitoring task given the circumstances.

Ultimately, it is for GAWB and its customers to decide whether such an approach is used in its commercial pricing framework. Should GAWB seek to implement such an arrangement, the approach would go some way to ensuring customers do not bear the cost of investments that do not proceed, while ensuring it is adequately funded to deliver important investments.

5.1 GAWB's proposal

GAWB expects to add \$84.2 million to the RAB during the 2020-25 pricing period. This is around 50% less than our estimate of prudent and efficient capex determined during the 2020 investigation of \$168.5 million. This underspend is largely attributable to the deferral of the Awoonga Dam safety upgrade project (\$60m including interest during construction), which was expected to be added to the RAB in 2024-25.¹²⁹

GAWB has proposed a substantial capex program for the 2025-30 period of \$504.9 million. This is around 3 times the value of the QCA's estimate of GAWB's capex for 2020-25, and nearly 6 times the value of GAWB's expected actual capex during the 2020-25 period (Figure 9). The substantial increase in capex is driven by network augmentation to support the emerging hydrogen industry in the Gladstone region.

 ¹²⁸ This in addition to the existing RAB roll-forward approach which adds actual prudent and efficient capex to the opening RAB for a subsequent pricing period.
 ¹²⁹ GAWB, sub 1, p 87.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30



Figure 9: GAWB's 2020-25 capex and forecast 2025-30 capex

Note: Capex includes interest during construction (IDC). Values for 2024-25 are estimates and will be updated by GAWB.

Sources: GAWB response to RFI 7; QCA analysis.

Stakeholders raised several concerns regarding GAWB's capital expenditure, including:

- price impacts of the substantial capex program, impacts on incentives for investment and project feasibility
- transparency and equity around how capex is allocated to pricing zones, including the sharing of augmentation costs
- uncertain demand associated with the network augmentation program
- the role of government in the network augmentation program.

We have considered these issues in our investigation and refer to them where relevant to our price monitoring task.

5.2 Assessment framework

The intent of our assessment framework is to allow prudent and efficient capex to be included in GAWB's asset base. This will earn a return on, and return of, investment as part of the allowable revenues that we subsequently monitor prices against.

When assessing GAWB's capital expenditure, the referral notice directs us to consider:

• the prudency and efficiency of capital expenditure from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025, based on an appropriate sample of capital projects

• an appropriate allowance for prudent and efficient forecast capital expenditure from 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030, based on an appropriate sample of capital projects, focusing on the projects with a material impact on GAWB's asset base in aggregate.¹³⁰

We began by reviewing GAWB's capital planning and delivery, asset management and governance frameworks. We then reviewed a sample of forecast and historical capital projects and programs, focusing on material investments. This allowed us to test:

- how GAWB applies its capital planning and governance frameworks in practice
- whether those governance frameworks are supporting prudent and efficient expenditure and investment decisions.

The referral notice also asks us to consider GAWB's strategic and operational plans approved by the responsible Minister under the *Water Act 2000* and the *Water Supply (Safety and Reliability Act) 2008*. We are also asked to consider the Queensland Government's renewable energy targets detailed in the *Renewable Energy and Jobs Plan*,¹³¹ and the *Common User Infrastructure Principles*.¹³² We have considered these matters where relevant.

For this investigation, we have been requested to specifically consider GAWB's proposed forecast augmentation expenditure. The referral notice states that GAWB's prices should include:

any proposed Network augmentation or expansion capital expenditure forecast to occur during the Price Monitoring Period, where that Network augmentation or expansion is sized, configured, priced, and timed to:

- service 2030 forecast reserved demand and any reasonably expected future demand that would make use of the Network; and
- not be inconsistent with the Queensland Government's Common User Infrastructure Assessment Principles.¹³³

We engaged Aither to provide independent technical and engineering advice to support our review. While we have had regard to that advice, in several areas we have formed different views to Aither.

5.3 Prudency and efficiency

We consider capex is prudent in our assessment framework if it:

- can be justified by reference to an identified need or cost driver for example, investment required as a result of a legal or regulatory obligation (compliance), growth, replacement or renewal of existing infrastructure; or
- achieves an outcome that is explicitly endorsed or desired by customers, external agencies, or the participating council–for example, improved reliability or quality of supply of services.

We consider capex is efficient in our assessment framework if:

¹³⁰ Referral notice, section F, p 5.

¹³¹ Queensland Government, <u>Queensland Energy and Jobs Plan</u>, September 2022.

¹³² Queensland Government, <u>Common user infrastructure assessment principles</u>, Queensland Treasury website, 2023, accessed 7 November 2024. These principles set out a general framework for guiding the Queensland Government in determining its role in supporting investment in significant shared infrastructure. Levels of government involvement in supporting common user infrastructure can include facilitation, regulation and/or direct financial support or ownership.
¹³³ Referral notice, section F, pp 3-4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

- the scope of the works represents the best means of achieving the desired outcomes after having regard to the options available, including substitution possibilities between operating expenditure (opex) and capex
- the standard of the works conforms to technical, design and construction requirements in legislation, industry and other standards, codes and manuals
- the cost of the defined scope and standard of works is consistent with conditions prevailing in the relevant markets.

Establishing prudent and efficient capex

We have not developed detailed bottom-up estimates of prudent and efficient forecast capex at the project or cost driver level. While we have undertaken a detailed review of some elements of GAWB's capex proposal to test for efficiency and prudency, we are ultimately guided by whether the overall level of expenditure is appropriate and sufficient for GAWB to recover prudent and efficient costs of providing bulk water services over the price monitoring period.

Our approach takes the following steps:

- 1. Review GAWB's proposed expenditure based on a sample of projects, considering governance processes, capital planning and asset management frameworks, forecasting methods and cost estimates, underlying assumptions, investment drivers, deliverability and other relevant factors.
- 2. Develop an alternative estimate of an appropriate capex allowance, based on the findings of the review. When developing an alternative estimate, we only consider making adjustments to capex when there is a clear case that the proposed capex is not prudent and/or efficient or simply has not been justified.
- 3. Assess GAWB's proposed capex against our alternative estimate, in aggregate, and:
 - a. if the difference is not material, adopt the proposed allowance (subject to any modelling adjustments, error correction and other updates that are reasonably required)
 - b. if the difference is material, do not adopt the proposed allowance and substitute it with our alternative estimate.

Materiality

The referral notice asks us to make our findings based on reviewing an appropriate sample of capital projects, focusing on the projects with a material impact on GAWB's asset base in aggregate. The projects selected for review were selected in consultation with GAWB and are considered to represent 'material' projects for this review.

We have not defined materiality in a prescriptive way for this investigation. Rather, we use judgement to form a view on prudency and efficiency based on the overall proposal before us.

We are not inclined to make adjustments to capex where:

- the adjustment is small and/or has only a small impact on customers
- the adjustment largely reflects a difference of opinion, rather than an identified error or objectively invalid reasoning
- the proposal represents a genuine attempt at estimating efficient costs
- the regulated entity has been forthcoming with supporting justification and information

- there is evidence of proper consultation and agreement with customers
- inefficient outcomes were materially beyond the control of the business, or isolated cases from which the business has demonstrated lessons learned have been applied to future projects
- a robust and defensible adjustment or alternative forecast cannot be reasonably estimated.

When considering the basis for potential adjustments to GAWB's proposed expenditures, we take the view that the capex forecast is an estimate only. While we expect GAWB to put forward a genuine and well-reasoned attempt to estimate prudent and efficient investment, actual costs and activities undertaken will vary from forecasts. Lumpy, multi-year capital spends mean changes in scope and delivery timing can result in significant departures from those forecasts.

It is also normal for some costs to be higher or lower than expected, and for investment priorities to change during the forecast price monitoring period. This is not necessarily a cause for concern, provided that the drivers of change are explainable and the business's response to the circumstances is prudent, and customer service quality and reliability are not compromised.

GAWB is best placed to define its capital program and manage its delivery. We would expect the business to prudently reallocate resources within its funding envelope as required to deliver on its priorities and obligations at any given time.

5.4 Governance, capital planning and asset management frameworks

When applied appropriately and consistently, sound corporate governance frameworks, along with best practice processes for procurement, capital planning, delivery and asset management, provide some confidence in the prudency and efficiency of expenditure decisions.

During the 2020 investigation, we assessed GAWB's asset planning and governance frameworks and found them to be generally sound and consistent with good industry practice. We saw no compelling evidence to suggest systemic flaws or deficiencies that would introduce bias to GAWB's forecasting. In the 2020 investigation, we noted that GAWB:¹³⁴

- maintained a detailed and robust procurement process and a robust approach to capital planning
- demonstrated a commitment to continuous improvement of its asset management systems and alignment with leading practice frameworks.

Our consultant at the time noted some specific potential improvements to GAWB's capital planning and governance frameworks, for GAWB's consideration. These included:

- improving the level of detail and transparency in supporting documentation.
- ensuring a clearer alignment of GAWB's strategic and asset management objectives with its investment decision-making criteria.
- developing clearly documented processes for the prioritisation process to improve decisionmaking transparency

¹³⁴ QCA, Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-25 Part A: Overview, final report, pp 50-52.

• giving greater consideration to asset condition and additional options (including refurbishment instead of replacement), where appropriate.¹³⁵

QCA analysis

We revisited GAWB's capital frameworks in this investigation, with a focus on substantive changes and improvements implemented since our last review. GAWB submitted that it has made several improvements since the 2020 investigation, including a review of its capital project governance frameworks. This has culminated in a revised Project Management Framework (PMF) and supporting process documentation, to be fully deployed by late 2024.¹³⁶ The revised PMF incorporates:

- more robust requirements for initiating projects including greater importance placed on asset condition assessments.¹³⁷
- a more rigorous approach to project classification based on complexity and risk (minor, medium, major)
- additional levels of approvals and oversight through committees such as the Program and Project Working Group and Project Control Group
- improved mapping of stakeholder requirements and ongoing review and revision of stakeholder considerations at every gate
- less duplication of activities and simpler processes where necessary.¹³⁸

GAWB submitted that it has also:

- commenced a suite of projects under its 'Network Reform Program' to improve its understanding of asset failure modes and criticality
- extended its program of asset condition assessments ¹³⁹
- undertaken a review and reform of its contract and procurement processes.¹⁴⁰

Aither found that GAWB's capital forecasts are based on generally sound foundations of project management, governance and risk management including:

- sound procurement policies
- a mature risk framework and demonstrated application in practice
- a risk-based prioritisation framework and policy
- a clear customer engagement process and regular schedule
- a thorough approach to estimating time and cost of project tasks.¹⁴¹

Aither made several observations that reveal potential opportunities for GAWB to improve the robustness and transparency of its capex processes, including:

- Capital and project management process may not be applied consistently, based on the documentation received. In some cases, detailed project schedules and checklists were not provided, or were not up to date.
- The application of project prioritisation processes and outcomes were not transparent, including the role of internal governance bodies and documentation of decision-making.

¹³⁵ KPMG, <u>Gladstone Area Water Board expenditure review</u>, May 2020, pp 11-16, 119.

¹³⁶ GAWB, sub 1, p 84.

¹³⁷ GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 4

¹³⁸ GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 4.

¹³⁹ GAWB, sub 1, pp 63-64.

¹⁴⁰ GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 4.

¹⁴¹ Aither report, pp 13, 22.

- Options analysis was not transparently documented in all cases, and consideration of lifetime costs (including opex) was not routinely included in multi-criteria analysis sighted. Criteria weightings used in multi-criteria analysis are not applied consistently; rather, they are determined on a case-by-case basis.
- There was limited record of GAWB's customer engagement on its capital program development.
- Some issues of quality control and currency of documented policies and procedures were observed, as well as a lack of adherence to stated timeframes for review and update of documentation.¹⁴²

We note that GAWB provided additional information after Aither finalised its analysis, which we have taken into consideration where relevant.

QCA draft findings

Overall, GAWB's capital governance framework is robust and is likely to support prudent and efficient investment when appropriately and consistently applied. GAWB appears to foster an approach of continuous improvement in its capital processes, which is evidenced by improvements made since the 2020 investigation. Relevantly, GAWB continues to maintain an ISO 55001 certification for its asset management framework, which is an internationally accepted benchmark of best practice.

We note Aither's observations that GAWB's capital processes are potentially applied inconsistently. In our view, these inconsistencies could be reasonably explained by incremental changes made to GAWB's project management processes over time. It is likely there will be some variance between the actual project documentation provided and GAWB's revised templates and tools. We understand this is because some projects were commenced under previous processes and continue to be delivered under that framework.¹⁴³ This is understandable during transition to new processes and does not always suggest a lack of adherence to process. We do not consider this is clear evidence of systemic weaknesses in capital planning and governance, or failure to observe documented processes.

Ideally, GAWB's options analysis should be supported by more fulsome and earlier consideration of total cost (including operating expenditure) and net present value of options. In our view, this is the most substantive potential weakness identified in GAWB's capital planning. This issue was also noted by our consultants during the 2020 investigation, and it is not clear that this has been resolved, based on our sample review.

However, GAWB's capital framework is generally sound and fit for purpose, with some potential opportunities to further improve its robustness and transparency, as noted by Aither. It is ultimately for GAWB to determine the appropriate suite of processes and systems to optimise its capital frameworks.

An effective capital planning, delivery and governance framework will be fundamental to GAWB's ability to successfully and efficiently deliver the largest five-year capital program in its history, with substantial additional investment also expected beyond 2030.

57

 ¹⁴² Aither report, pp 13, 19, 22-23, 78-86.
 ¹⁴³ GAWB, response to RFI 6, p 4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

5.5 Actual capex 2019-20 to 2024-25

GAWB proposed to add \$84.2 million in capex to the RAB during the 2020-25 price monitoring period, which is around \$89 million (50%) less than GAWB's forecast for the 2020 investigation. (Table 14). This difference is mostly attributable to the deferral of the Awoonga Dam safety project, which was expected to enter the RAB in 2024-25 at a value of \$60 million. Other contributors to the underspend are discussed below.

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23	2023-24	2024-25	Total
QCA estimate – May 2020	35.9	21.4	21.6	6.0	83.6	168.5
GAWB updated forecast – March 2020	39.8	21.3	21.6	6.0	84.2	173.1
GAWB actual – May 2024	5.0	26.9	9.3	11.2	31.7	84.2
Variance from GAWB forecast	(34.8)	5.6	(12.3)	5.3	(52.7)	(88.9)

Table 14: GAWB actual capex outcomes – 2020-21 to 2024-25 (\$ million, nominal)

Note: 1) The value for 2024-25 is an estimate and will be updated by GAWB. 2) GAWB's revised proposal of March 2020 largely accepted the QCA's draft report findings. 3) GAWB's submission indicates a total forecast capex for the period of \$173.11 million. We understand this difference reflects several input updates that GAWB made after the QCA finalised its 2020 investigation, including revised forecast CPI and escalation, WACC and reinstatement of some forecast expenditure removed by the QCA in its findings. 4) Totals may not add due to rounding.

Sources: QCA, *Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-25 Part A: Overview*, final report, p 72; GAWB, sub 1, p 86; QCA analysis.



Figure 10: GAWB actual capex outcomes, 2020-21 to 2024-25

Sources: QCA, <u>*Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-25 Part A: Overview,* final report, p 72; GAWB, sub 1, p 86; QCA analysis.</u>

QCA analysis

We selected three projects that were (or are expected to be) commissioned during the current price monitoring period for detailed review (Table 15). These projects were selected to ensure the level of documentation available was sufficient for GAWB to demonstrate the application of its capital frameworks, and for the QCA to form a view on prudency and efficiency.

Project and driver	Description	Total capitalised cost including IDC (\$m nominal)
Awoonga Dam conduit inspections (regulatory)	GAWB has an obligation under the dam safety regulations to conduct inspections of Awoonga Dam conduit infrastructure that may be at risk of structural failure. This work was completed in December 2021.	\$1.35
Gladstone Water Treatment Plant filter media & filters (replacement and risk)	Condition assessments in 2018 indicated deteriorated filters that had reached end of life and were affecting plant efficiency and water quality. GAWB refurbished 12 filters, with work completed between July 2022 and April 2023.	\$4.29
Golegumma pipeline (replacement)	GAWB owns and operates a 16.7 km treated water pipeline network between Toolooa Junction and Golegumma. The pipeline was installed in 1942 and is the oldest in GAWB's network. The pipeline is at the end of its design life and requires replacement. GAWB anticipates project completion in 2024-25.	\$5.75

	Table	15:	Sample	projects	reviewed:	capex	, 2020-21	to	2024-25
--	-------	-----	--------	----------	-----------	-------	-----------	----	---------

Note: Documentation provided on the Golegumma pipeline indicates conflicting capitalisation dates between GAWB's model and its response to RFI 10C. It is unclear whether the project will be complete in 2024-25 or 2025-26. For simplicity we have considered it as an ex post project. Source: GAWB, responses to RFIs 10A, 10B, 10C and 11.

Aither reviewed the sample projects and considered that prudency and efficiency was not fully demonstrated in all projects, but it did not recommend any adjustment to the proposed expenditure. Aither's detailed findings are set out in its report. Table 16 summarises Aither's key findings.

Project	Key findings and observations		
	Prudency	Efficiency	
Awoonga Dam conduit inspections	Not fully demonstrated – a genuine need for the project exists, but options analysis was limited.	Not demonstrated – cost overruns could have been avoided by better project planning. Project management plan and detailed scheduling documentation were not sighted.	
GWTP filter media replacement & filters	Demonstrated – evidenced by condition assessments.	Not demonstrated – cost overruns and delays could have been avoided by better project planning. Documents lacked detail about scheduling and planning.	
Golegumma pipeline replacement	Demonstrated – however, there is no evidence that total lifecycle cost was considered during options analysis.	Not fully demonstrated–Justification for cost increases is unclear and documentation provided was not up to date.	

Source: Aither, Prudency and efficiency review – Review of Gladstone Area Water Board's forecast capital and operating expenditure for 2025-30, October 2024, pp 17–18.

Prudency and efficiency

Based on our review, we consider these projects are prudent when applying our definition. In all three cases, the project need was adequately demonstrated and linked to a clear investment driver.¹⁴⁴

Our review revealed several issues regarding the potential efficiency of the sampled projects. For example, GAWB's options analysis was opaque in some instances, and limited in the number of options identified, based on the information reviewed.

That said, the documentation regarding the Golegumma pipeline replacement did reveal genuine options analysis supported by sound multi-criteria analysis. As such, we do not consider this a systemic weakness in GAWB's capital planning processes. Aither also acknowledged that the limited options analysis behind the GWTP filter replacement project could be because there were no other reasonable options available.¹⁴⁵ Nonetheless, it would be good practice for GAWB to transparently and consistently document its justification for undertaking a truncated analysis of options. Options analysis would also be improved with more explicit and consistent consideration of total lifecycle cost (opex and capex) of options considered.

Several complications emerged while delivering these projects. For example, during a July 2020 site safety inspection prior to commencing the Awoonga Dam conduit inspection, it was determined that a risk-based assessment of safe isolation to the conduit sections was required to demonstrate compliance with the Queensland Confined Space Entry Code of Practice 2011.¹⁴⁶ This issue was identified after the contractor was engaged to complete the work. GAWB subsequently stopped the project, cancelled existing contracts and commissioned an independent safety review. This review

¹⁴⁴ We note that Aither considers options analysis under the scope of 'prudency'. The QCA's long-standing definitions for prudency and efficiency include options analysis as an element of efficiency. This has led to Aither and the QCA reaching differing conclusions on prudency in some areas.

¹⁴⁵ Aither report, p 78.

¹⁴⁶ GAWB, Project closure report, Awoonga Dam conduit inspection, 16 February 2022, p 3; GAWB response to RFI 10B.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

was completed in March 2021 and confirmed that GAWB's safe isolation procedure did comply with the relevant standards.¹⁴⁷ The work then went back to tender, contractors were reappointed and the project was completed in November 2021. In Aither's view, GAWB could have identified the potential issue with safe isolation earlier and avoided additional costs, if more robust planning been undertaken.¹⁴⁸

The GWTP filter replacement project also experienced delays and cost overruns due to site access problems and latent conditions.

The complications in delivering these projects might have been reduced with more thorough planning, and therefore might have been delivered more efficiently. Nonetheless, we have not made any adjustment to the capitalised value of these projects because:

- the impact of these complications on overall final project cost is unlikely to be material, and any adjustment would be immaterial to the overall actual capex proposed
- GAWB's response to address these issues appear reasonable and prudent
- we have seen evidence that GAWB acknowledged these problems and has documented lessons learned to improve project planning and management practices in future.

Underspend and deferred projects

GAWB expects to spend around 50% (\$89 million) less capex than forecast over the 2020-25 period (Table 14).

Persistent and substantial underspending against forecasts can indicate weaknesses in capital planning and/or delivery processes. Conversely, underspending can also be an outcome of prudent and efficient decision making as the business responds to new information, circumstances and changing priorities. In other cases, it may be driven by factors beyond the reasonable control of the business, such as materials and contractor availability, environmental and weather factors, or unforeseen latent conditions.

The majority of GAWB's capital underspend is attributable to the deferral of the Awoonga Dam spillway upgrades (Stages 2 and 3)¹⁴⁹, which were previously projected to enter the RAB in 2024-25. GAWB submitted that this work has been postponed due to a 2021 change in dam safety standards¹⁵⁰ which now emphasises a risk-based approach over the previous standards-based approach to assessing dam safety.¹⁵¹ GAWB noted that it had engaged with the Queensland Dam Safety Regulator and decided to apply a risk-based method to address all elements of the dam safety requirements. GAWB then undertook risk assessments which indicated that the scope, complexity and cost of works required to achieve compliance would increase significantly under the new assessment approach.¹⁵² This required the design and delivery of the project to be reassessed, including its timing.

The dam improvement project is not included in GAWB's 2025-30 capex forecast; however, we understand GAWB will be undertaking substantial work on the project during the 2025-30 pricing

 ¹⁴⁷ GAWB, Project closure report, Awoonga Dam conduit inspection, 16 February 2022, p 3; GAWB response to RFI 10B.
 ¹⁴⁸ Aither report, pp 18, 80.

¹⁴⁹ GAWB now refers to this project as the Awoonga Dam Improvement Program.

¹⁵⁰ Department of Regional Development, Manufacturing and Water, <u>Guidelines on Safety Assessments for Referable Dams</u>, version 8, Queensland Government, November 2023.

¹⁵¹ GAWB, sub 1, pp 29-30.

¹⁵² GAWB, sub 1, pp 29-30.

period.¹⁵³ It is our expectation that the delivery of critical dam safety compliance upgrades would be highly prioritised by GAWB within its broader capital program.

The Awoonga Dam upgrade is the only substantial project to be deferred beyond the 2025-30 period. Excluding this deferral, GAWB's actual capex is around \$24 million (14%) less than its forecast capex for the period.

We reviewed GAWB's progress toward delivering its most significant projects that were previously forecast to be delivered during the 2020-25 period (for projects greater than \$0.5 million).¹⁵⁴ We observed that, by number of projects:

- 50% have been completed¹⁵⁵ and a further 20% are expected to be completed by 2025¹⁵⁶
- 12% of projects were cancelled as they were no longer required
- 14% are underway and are forecast to be completed during the 2025-30 period.¹⁵⁷

GAWB identified several exogenous factors that had contributed to the capital delivery, including:

- covid 19 supply chain disruptions, labour shortages and border restrictions affecting the mobilisation of labour, contractors and materials
- resourcing challenges strong competition for labour from resources sector in the Gladstone region, hindering the attraction and retention of skilled personnel¹⁵⁸
- land tenure issues and planning approvals delays¹⁵⁹
- government policy and legislative changes (predominantly affecting the Awoonga Dam upgrades).

The effect of these factors on the overall capex spend is partially offset by input cost pressures that have emerged during the period.

We have not examined the drivers for deferrals on a case-by-case basis. That said, we have not seen any conclusive evidence that this is due to systemic weaknesses in forecasting, planning, delivery or project oversight. Our view is that the deferrals are reasonably attributed to exogenous factors in many cases. For example, GAWB's substantial underspend during 2020-21 (Table 14) supports the impact of covid-19 on resource mobilisation and supply chain disruptions in the early stages of the pandemic.

The deferral of the Awoonga Dam safety upgrades brings further pricing uncertainty for the future. Nonetheless, this project is not in the 2025-30 capital forecast and it is not subject to detailed review in this investigation. This project will likely be a candidate for ex post review during future price monitoring activities.

¹⁵³ GAWB, sub 1, p 30; GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 5.

¹⁵⁴ 51 projects (71 line items) forecast at \$130.4 million excluding interest during construction (2020 dollars).

¹⁵⁵ At a capitalised cost that is around 43% higher than forecast in 2020 (excluding interest during construction).

¹⁵⁶ Including 4 projects that have been reallocated to the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline project and will be capitalised to that project in due course.

¹⁵⁷ This analysis considers only those projects that were forecast for completion during 2020-25, at the time of the 2020 price monitoring investigation. It does not include any additional projects or capitalised expenditures that GAWB may have brought forward that were not included in the forecast. It is not unusual for projects to be reprioritised, or for unexpected projects/capitalised expenditures to be incurred that were not known at the time of the initial forecast.

¹⁵⁸ GAWB, sub 1, pp 86-87.

¹⁵⁹ Noted by GAWB staff during interviews.

QCA draft findings

We find that GAWB's estimated actual capex of \$84.2 million for the 2020-25 period is a reasonable estimate of prudent and efficient capex. We have added this value into the closing asset base at 30 June 2025, subject to minor modelling adjustments, including updating it for expected CPI inflation for 2023-24 to take account of more recent data (Chapter 6).

Actual capitalisation for 2023-24 may be further revised for our final report when more accurate, full-year, capitalisation amounts are expected to be available.

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23	2023-24	2024-25	Total
GAWB proposal	\$5.0	\$26.9	\$9.3	\$11.2	\$31.7	\$84.2
QCA draft findings	\$5.0	\$26.9	\$9.3	\$11.2	\$31.7	\$84.2

Table 17: QCA draft findings – actual capex for 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025

Note: 2023-24 is a part-year estimate, and 2024-25 is a forecast. Source: GAWB financial model, June 2024; QCA analysis.

5.6 Forecast capex 2024-25 to 2029-30

Nearly 50% of GAWB's \$505 million forecast capex program is attributable to network augmentation investments (Figure 11). The remaining expenditure is driven by asset replacement (25%) and risk-related investments (25%). The emerging hydrogen industry is the largest single driver of these investments, representing 85% of the risk investments and 83% of the augmentation. Overall, hydrogen capital expenditure represents around 60% of the total forecast capex program.¹⁶⁰

¹⁶⁰ Around %, if the East End pipeline raw water augmentation is considered as a 'hydrogen' project.



Figure 11: GAWB's forecast capex by driver and year of capitalisation

Source: GAWB, response to RFI 7; QCA analysis.

By volume of projects, the forward capital program is dominated by replacement projects (206), followed by business process improvements¹⁶¹ (16) and risk-driven projects (13). Network augmentation represents a small component of the forecast by number (8) but is the largest contributor by value.

It is important to note that every line item in GAWB's capex forecast is characterised as a 'project'. This includes a significant number of relatively low-value purchases and capitalised expenditures.¹⁶² It also includes programs of work where multiple related components are bundled and delivered as a single project.

¹⁶¹ GAWB defines business process improvements as 'projects that are justified by reference to the efficiencies that it will bring to GAWB's operations or is in response to an explicit request from the Community Consultative Forum, customers or key stakeholders' (GAWB, sub 1, p 84).

¹⁶² For example, plant and equipment purchases and routine replacement of parts for existing assets.



Figure 12: Forecast capex for 2025-30 by driver and number

Source: GAWB, response to RFI 7; QCA analysis.

QCA analysis

We selected two projects and one program of works for detailed review (Table 18).¹⁶³ These projects were selected in consultation with GAWB to ensure GAWB had a reasonable opportunity to demonstrate how it applies its capital frameworks, and for the QCA to form a view of prudency and efficiency.

The referral notice specifically asks us to consider GAWB's forecast network augmentation expenditure. The hydrogen-related capex program represents 83% of GAWB's forecast network augmentation expenditure¹⁶⁴ and was therefore included in the review sample.

In aggregate, the sampled projects comprise % of the forecast capital program by value. Further detail on these projects is set out in Appendix E.

Project	Estimated capex (\$m)	Driver	Capitalisation year
East End pipeline replacement and augmentation		Replacement and augmentation	2025-26
South Gladstone reservoir replacement	13.69	Risk	2029-30

Table 18: Forecast capex sample, 2025-30

¹⁶³ We initially intended to also review the proposed replacement of the Fitzsimmons Street reservoir; however, documentation provided by GAWB indicates this is yet to be scoped and has not yet entered the planning phase. We considered there was insufficient documentation to permit a fair assessment of prudency and efficiency of this project.
¹⁶⁴ Or the East End raw water pipeline is considered as a 'hydrogen' project.

Project	Estimated capex (\$m)	Driver	Capitalisation year
Hydrogen	309.88	Augmentation and risk	2026-27 and 2027-28
augmentation program			
Total			

Source: GAWB, response to RFI 7; QCA analysis.

Aither reviewed the sample projects and considered that prudency and efficiency was not fully demonstrated in all instances, based on the documentation reviewed. This finding on prudency is largely based on the lack of customer engagement records sighted, meaning Aither could not determine whether, or how, the proposed capital works meet the requirements of GAWB's customers.¹⁶⁵

In relation to efficiency, Aither considered the projects reviewed do not demonstrate that they will minimise the long-term costs of the investments. Aither observed that the projects reviewed either had a range of stated costs across the relevant documentation that was not explained, or failed to fully consider trade-offs between capital and operating expenditure in the assessment of options.¹⁶⁶ Aither's detailed findings are set out in its report.¹⁶⁷

Aither did not recommend any adjustment to GAWB's capex forecasts, but recommended that GAWB:

- provide greater transparency over the implementation of its project prioritisation processes, including the role of governance bodies and documentation of decision-making
- complete a substantive review of the project team capacity to deliver capital expenditure.¹⁶⁸

Aither also found that the cost forecasts for several projects carried over from the 2020-25 period have increased.

For projects that were not assessed within our sample of projects for detailed review, we note the material increases from those costs previously forecast. On this basis, we sought further information from GAWB regarding the drivers of the cost increases, compared to previous forecasts. GAWB said the higher than forecast cost estimates were primarily due to the revision of early-stage cost estimates as projects advanced through the planning process. Overall, GAWB identified that the drivers of increases above previous forecasts were:

- significant changes to project design and scope and therefore costs, as project planning matures
- substantially higher input costs (labour, materials and resources) than previously forecast and the flow-on effects of supply chain disruptions (i.e. covid-19)
- higher pricing emerging in contractor tendering, again driven by resource constraints and input cost pressures, which were not forecast to occur when project estimates were previously provided to the QCA 2020-25 review.¹⁶⁹

¹⁶⁵ Aither report, p 19.

¹⁶⁶ Aither report, p 19.

 ¹⁶⁷ GAWB continued to provide responses to RFIs after Aither finalised its report, including information on project scheduling, checklists and options analysis. We consider this material sufficiently addresses some of these issues.
 ¹⁶⁸ Aither report, p 13.

¹⁶⁹ Meeting between GAWB, Aither and QCA staff regarding historical capex, 25 July 2024.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Prudency and efficiency

In our view, GAWB has demonstrated that the projects reviewed are largely prudent. In most cases, the project need was adequately justified and linked to a clear investment driver.¹⁷⁰

In some instances, Aither noted missing documentation that made it difficult to verify the appropriate application of GAWB's capital frameworks. We consider the level of documentation provided is sufficient for our price monitoring investigation. In our view, the instances of inconsistent documentation do not clearly indicate systemic weaknesses in planning and project management. As observed in the review of ex post projects, some inconsistencies are likely also explained by GAWB's transition to a new project management framework. Relevantly, the capex documentation provided by GAWB during this review is, in most cases, more comprehensive and detailed than that provided during the 2020 investigation.

That said, we have seen limited evidence of GAWB's customer engagement in developing the forecast capital program to date, although we understand that consultation is ongoing.¹⁷¹ Stakeholder submissions suggest that customers have been surprised by the revealed pricing impacts of the capex program, particularly in the new pricing zones. Disappointingly, GAWB has acknowledged that it has not undertaken consultation prior to submitting its pricing proposal.¹⁷²

As a commercial business that sets its own prices – and given its relatively small number of customers – we consider customer engagement should be a core element of GAWB's business, including its network augmentation planning. This is particularly so when the viability of the investments underwriting the need for augmentation is sensitive to the cost of the augmentation itself. GAWB has described how it does engage with customers on specific projects, citing a recent example of a raw water pipeline replacement that impacted a single customer.¹⁷³ However, we have not seen clear evidence of how the needs of specific customers have been considered in the development and design of key projects for the 2025-30 period, particularly the hydrogen augmentation program. We would expect GAWB to provide evidence of its consultations with users regarding capex prior to our final report.

Efficiency of GAWB's forecast capital projects cannot be conclusively determined on a forwardlooking basis. Nonetheless, we consider the planning and processes undertaken to date – and GAWB's improved project management framework – generally support the likely efficiency of the projects.

Several of the projects reviewed are at relatively early stages of development. As such, it is expected that cost estimates, and potentially scope and design, will be further refined.

Importantly, we consider that GAWB's capital forecasts represent a genuine attempt at estimating efficient costs. GAWB has also been forthcoming with supporting justification and information, where available. Overall, GAWB's planning for the projects reviewed appears largely sound. We have seen evidence that capital planning and governance frameworks have been refined and improved since our last review.

¹⁷⁰ As noted in Appendix E, one of the elements of the hydrogen augmentation program (offline storage increase project) is not well justified as it is in early stages of planning at the time of this review. We are seeking further information from GAWB to justify this expenditure.

¹⁷¹ GAWB submitted that the bringing forward of the 2025-30 price monitoring investigation has delayed its customer engagement activities.

¹⁷² GAWB, sub 1, p 37; GAWB, response to RFI 51, p 3.

 $^{^{\}rm 173}$ GAWB, response to RFI 51, pp 4–5.
As noted in Appendix E, we have identified several risks regarding the planning and delivery of the hydrogen augmentation program. Nonetheless, we have not made any adjustments to the program forecast for price monitoring purposes, as we consider it is broadly consistent with the parameters of the referral notice and represents a reasonable attempt at estimating prudent and efficient costs.

It is reasonable that GAWB can recover the cost of delivering these investments during the 2025-30 period, should the hydrogen industry develop on the timeline that is currently anticipated. Given the degree of uncertainty and early status of the cost estimates, the hydrogen augmentation program would be a clear candidate for detailed ex post prudency and efficiency review during a subsequent price monitoring investigation.

Deliverability

GAWB noted that, excluding the hydrogen augmentation and the East End Pipeline projects, the capital program for 2025-30 is around **Constant of Pipeline** per year. GAWB submitted this remaining capex is in line with what it has been able to historically achieve and will be delivered under its business-as-usual delivery model.¹⁷⁴

Nonetheless, we have some concerns about GAWB's ability to deliver its ambitious forward capital program in its entirety. Aither expressed similar concerns and considered GAWB's ability to deliver the overall capital program was 'in doubt'.¹⁷⁵ Aither recommended that GAWB undertake a substantive review of its capacity to deliver its capital expenditure.¹⁷⁶

We acknowledge that GAWB is implementing several structural changes and strategies aimed at improving capital delivery, including:

- revising its employee remuneration and benefits strategy in response to challenging labour market conditions¹⁷⁷
- creating new roles to reduce reliance on external resources that could be difficult to procure, including network planning specialist, asset planning manager, additional engineers, construction supervisor and project controller¹⁷⁸
- implementing a revised project management framework featuring additional capital governance and oversight, and a risk-based project prioritisation approach
- establishing a separate business unit, supported by external contractors, to deliver the hydrogen capital program and allocating responsibility for delivery of the East End pipeline replacement project to GAWB's existing Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline project team
- reviewing and refining procurement processes and strategies to improve GAWB's purchasing power in relevant markets.¹⁷⁹

Despite these positive changes, it is unclear whether GAWB will be able to fully deliver this ambitious capital program during the 2025-30 period because of the substantial scope of the program and limited timeframe, particularly for delivery of the time-sensitive hydrogen-related augmentations. Overall, GAWB's capital program is the largest five-year program in its history and is six times the expected 2020-25 capex outcome.

¹⁷⁴ GAWB, response to RFI 31, pp 2-3.

¹⁷⁵ Aither report, p 19.

¹⁷⁶ Aither report, p 13.

¹⁷⁷ See Chapter 4.

¹⁷⁸ See Chapter 4.

¹⁷⁹ GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 3; GAWB, sub 1, pp 84-85.

Supply constraints in relevant contractor and labour markets are expected to remain for the near future. This presents a material deliverability risk as GAWB's largely relies on external contractors for significant design and construction work.¹⁸⁰ In a report prepared for GAWB, Deloitte considered that competition for contractors and skilled labour, particularly with large mining and construction projects, will likely further tighten the labour supply within the construction industry in coming years.¹⁸¹ GAWB acknowledged these challenges, noting that higher costs, labour shortages and increased competition for resources across sectors are expected to continue into the 2026–30 period.¹⁸²

GAWB has further substantial investments to deliver that are not included in the 2025-30 period forecast, most notably the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline (due for completion in 2026) and the Awoonga Dam improvement program (post-2030).¹⁸³ GAWB notes that while the Awoonga Dam improvement project is not being delivered in the 2025-30 period, it is 'relevant to GAWB's management of its capital program for the FY2026-30 period, as it is anticipated that significant capital expenditure and resourcing will likely be required over this period for the initial stages of this project'.¹⁸⁴ GAWB is also involved in investigating other potential sources of water supply.¹⁸⁵

Given the deliverability risks, we have taken this into account when assessing GAWB's proposed substantial increases to its operating costs (Chapter 4) in order to ensure:

- the delivery of its substantial forecast capital program, including investments necessary to accommodate increases in its forecast demand
- resourcing constraints and cost pressures do not adversely impact on its ability to undertake its business-as-usual activities.

Capex escalation

GAWB proposed to apply a composite weighted escalator to forecast capex. This comprises a 70% weighting to WPI and 30% weighting to CPI. The weightings are intended to broadly reflect the composition of GAWB's capital spend on average over the next pricing period. GAWB argued that the underlying cost drivers of are materially different from CPI inflation as there is a substantial labour component.¹⁸⁶

GAWB's proposed approach is consistent with its approach in previous reviews and is considered reasonable for developing escalators for the purposes of establishing an indicative capital budget for our price monitoring exercise. We accept GAWB's forecast capex in aggregate, including the proposed escalation.

It is our expectation that actual prudent and efficient capex will be rolled into the asset base at actual cost during subsequent price monitoring reviews. We consider adopting an expost true-up for revenues from forecast capex (capital charges), as outlined in Chapter 9, will ensure our price

¹⁸⁰ GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 2.

 ¹⁸¹ GAWB, response to RFI 16; Deloitte, Price investigation: Regional Cost Pressures Report, May 2024, pp 2, 7.
 ¹⁸² GAWB, sub 1, p 28.

¹⁸³ We understand the Awoonga Dam Improvement Project is expected to capitalise in 2031. GAWB, response to RFI 51, (Customer briefing – 9 July 2024, p 12).

¹⁸⁴ GAWB, response to RFI 31, p 5.

 ¹⁸⁵ GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2022-23</u>, p 14. We note the Department of Regional Development, Manufacturing and Water commenced a detailed business case for the preferred long-term bulk water supply source to meet forecast water requirements of the hydrogen industry in Gladstone post-2023 (GAWB, <u>Annual Report 2022-23</u>, p 10).
 ¹⁸⁶ GAWB, sub 4, p 25.

monitoring activities are aligned with actual expenditure. As such, it is not necessary to pursue precision in the forecasting of capex escalation rates.

Interest during construction

Consistent with previous reviews, GAWB included an amount for interest during construction (IDC) on capital projects of greater than \$1 million. This allowance provides recognition of the opportunity cost of committing funds to projects that are yet to be commissioned and earn a return.

GAWB's method calculates IDC based on the average monthly capital spend for each project, from commencement through to commissioning, then applies its weighted average cost of capital (WACC) as the discount rate.

This approach is simple and reasonable for our price monitoring exercise. We have not updated GAWB's IDC to reflect our position of WACC at this time, but we may consider doing so for our final report, if the impact of making the update is material.

5.7 QCA draft findings

For the purposes of our price monitoring exercise, we have taken the following approach to forecast capex:

- Establish an indicative capital budget for the 2025-30 period of \$505 million, consistent with GAWB's proposal.¹⁸⁷
- Apply an ex post recalculation of actual revenues for any material windfall gain (or loss) in revenues attributable to capital charges derived from capex not delivered (or delayed) during the 2025-30 period. Any resulting revenue loss or gain would be carried forward to adjust revenues and prices in the first year of the subsequent pricing period, or otherwise smoothed over the period as appropriate. This approach compliments the existing roll-forward of the asset base, which includes a backward-looking adjustment that ensures only actual outturn capex is added to the asset base.

This approach is pragmatic, given the uncertainty surrounding the scope, efficient cost and timing of the hydrogen augmentation program. It also addresses our broader concerns surrounding GAWB's ability to deliver its 2025-30 capital program more generally.

Ultimately, it is for GAWB and its customers to decide whether such an approach should be used in its commercial pricing framework. From our price monitoring perspective, this approach provides greater transparency to customers that they are not bearing the short-term costs of investments that do not proceed.

When taken with the proposed revenue true-up, we consider the indicative capital budget is sufficient for GAWB to recover prudent and efficient costs of providing bulk water services and is appropriate for our price monitoring exercise.

¹⁸⁷ Excluding the capitalisation of the FGP, expected in 2026.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Regulated asset base

GAWB's regulated asset base is the value of investments, including both depreciating and nondepreciating assets. It is dependent on GAWB's capital expenditure, and asset inflation, depreciation and disposals.

The referral notice requires us to determine an opening asset value for the monitoring period, incorporating prudent and efficient capital expenditure, and rolling it forward to account for deprecation and inflation in accordance with a roll forward methodology.¹⁸⁸ This is then used to determine GAWB's allowable costs¹⁸⁹ for a return on assets (Chapter 7) and forecast depreciation (section 6.2.3).

We note that the forecast capital expenditure excludes the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline, as required under the referral notice¹⁹⁰, which is expected to be commissioned during the price monitoring period.

6.1 Opening value as at 1 July 2025

The referral notice requests that we establish the opening regulated asset base as of 1 July 2025 by rolling forward the opening regulated asset base as at 1 July 2020, after inclusion of prudent and efficient capital expenditure, adjusting for depreciation and inflation.

All numbers presented in this chapter exclude assets associated with Curtis Island. In future investigations we intend to incorporate this zone in our reported regulatory asset base.

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23	2023-24	2024-25
Opening RAB ^a	559.48	580.42	626.89	665.96	682.07
<i>plus</i> accumulated revenue under recovery ^b	23.08	_	_	_	-
plus Capex	4.99	26.94	9.21	10.60	31.55
less Disposals	2.14	_	_	_	-
plus Inflationary gain	10.03	35.22	46.71	22.94	22.33
less Depreciation	15.02	15.68	16.86	17.43	19.98
Closing RAB	580.42	626.89	665.96	682.07	716.97

Table 19: GAWB's proposed RAB roll forward to 1 July 2025 (\$ million)

a Excludes Curtis Island; b This is the capitalised component associated with the raising of the Awoonga Dam wall. Source: GAWB Roll Forward Model, submission, May 2024.

The referral notice requires that we start with the opening RAB as at 1 July 2020. In our previous investigation, we calculated a closing RAB of \$566.28 million as at 30 June 2020. This figure

¹⁸⁸ Referral notice, section F, RAB, p 5.

¹⁸⁹ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs, p 3.

¹⁹⁰ Amending referral.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

included forecasts of capital expenditure, disposals, inflation, and depreciation for 2019–20. GAWB has updated these forecasts with actuals in its proposed opening regulated asset base as at 1 July 2020 of \$559.48 million. Table 20 shows the adjustments GAWB has made, which we have assessed and accepted.

	GAWB's proposal
Opening RAB as at 1 July 2019	557.28
plus Capex	6.63
less Disposals	0.17
<i>plus</i> Inflationary gain	10.32
less Depreciation	14.59
Closing RAB as at 30 June 2020	559.48

Table 20: GAWB's updated opening RAB at 1 July 2020 (\$ million)

Source: GAWB RAB Model, submission, May 2024.

Table 21 provides our RAB roll-forward calculations for the period 2020-21 to 2024-25. The opening value of \$559.48 million on 1 July 2020 is adjusted for the capitalised component associated with the raising of the Awoonga Dam wall, inflation, capital expenditure and depreciation over the period. This produces a closing value of \$712.21 million on 30 June 2025, which will become the opening value as at 1 July 2025.

Our approach to determine inflation, capital expenditure and depreciation over the period is explained below.

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23	2023-24	2024-25
Opening RAB ^a	559.48	580.42	626.89	665.96	682.07
<i>plus</i> accumulated revenue under recovery ^b	23.08				
plus Capex	4.99	26.94	9.21	10.60	31.55
less Disposals	2.14	-	_	_	_
plus Inflationary gain	10.03	35.22	46.71	22.94	17.44
less Depreciation	15.02	15.68	16.86	17.43	18.86
Closing RAB	580.42	626.89	665.96	682.07	712.21

Table 21: QCA draft position – RAB roll-forward to 1 July 2025 (\$ million)

Source: QCA analysis.

GAWB's has applied an approach consistent with previous investigations, and we consider this approach consistent with the requirements of the referral notice. We have updated the forecast CPI inflation to calculate our draft forecast closing RAB as at 30 June 2025 of \$712.21 million.

6.1.1 Inflationary gain

The opening value of the RAB is indexed each year by the inflation rate. We have indexed the RAB by applying actual inflation for the period 2020-21 to 2023-24 (see Table 34). Actual inflation is based on the Brisbane All Groups CPI index published by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). This is consistent with our past approach and the approach proposed by GAWB in its submission.¹⁹¹

Where actual inflation is not available, we have applied an indicative forecast rate of inflation (see Table 22). Consistent with the referral notice, we have used our preferred methodology to forecast inflation.¹⁹² The indicative forecast inflation rate has been determined at 5 November 2024. This figure will be updated prior to our final report.

	2020-21	2021-22	2022-23	2023-24	2024-2
GAWB	1.72	6.01	7.42	3.80ª	3.20
QCA position	1.72	6.01	7.42	3.42 ^b	2.50

Table 22: Inflation rate (%)

a Forecast; b Actual.

Note: The 2023-24 'actual' figure has been updated using ABS Brisbane All Groups CPI.

Source: GAWB sub 1; ABS, <u>Consumer Price Index</u>, Australia, June quarter 2024, Table 1: All Groups, Index Numbers and Percentage Changes, ABS website, accessed 10 October 2024; RBA, <u>Statement on Monetary Policy</u>, November 2024, p 55.

We have deducted from allowable costs an amount equivalent to the inflationary gain in the RAB, as we apply a nominal rate of return on assets. This avoids the double counting of inflation that would otherwise occur from indexing the RAB by inflation and applying a nominal rate of return on assets that embodies the inflation rate.

6.1.2 Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure is added to the RAB. We have conducted an expost prudency and efficiency assessment of GAWB's actual capital expenditure for the period 2020-21 to 2024-25¹⁹³ (Chapter 5), consistent with the referral notice. The roll-forward of the RAB reflects our draft findings from this assessment. For 2024-25, where actual capital expenditure is not available, we have rolled forward the RAB to reflect forecast capital expenditure.¹⁹⁴

6.1.3 Depreciation

Depreciation is deducted from the RAB. Consistent with the referral notice, we have calculated depreciation by applying the straight-line method and adopting the remaining useful lives of the assets as applied in our 2020-25 review of GAWB's bulk water prices.¹⁹⁵ We have accepted GAWB's

¹⁹⁴ It is expected that actual expenditures incurred during 2024-25 will be considered at the subsequent price monitoring investigation, should the referral notice prescribe an ex post prudency and efficiency assessment. As such, we have not assessed the prudency or efficiency of these costs.

¹⁹⁵ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs, (g), p 3.

¹⁹¹ GAWB, sub 1, p 45.

¹⁹² QCA, <u>Inflation forecasting</u>, final position paper, October 2021.

¹⁹³ Expenditure for the 2024-25 year is based on estimated expenditure.

proposed asset lives for assets entering the RAB from 2020-21 to 2024-25, which are based on capital expenditure as commissioned (or forecast, in the case of 2024-25).

Separately, an allowance for depreciation is provided as part of the allowable costs that are used to calculate the value of the RAB.¹⁹⁶ This allowance means GAWB can recover the cost of prudent and efficient capital investments over the useful life of the assets.

6.2 RAB roll-forward to 30 June 2030

Using the required methodology, GAWB submitted a proposed RAB roll-forward with a closing RAB as at 30 June 2030 of \$1,201.80 million. GAWB's roll-forward is based on its proposed forecast capex, inflation and depreciation amounts during the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
Opening RAB	716.97	800.38	1,037.63	1,158.38	1,170.46
plus Capex	86.45	239.00	124.14	17.32	37.12
less Disposals	1.76	-	_	_	-
plus Inflation	19.71	23.59	27.85	29.17	29.72
less Depreciation	20.99	25.34	31.23	34.41	35.50
Closing RAB	800.38	1,037.63	1,158.38	1,170.46	1,201.80

Table 23: GAWB's proposed RAB for 2025-30 (\$ million)

Source: GAWB Roll Forward Model, submission, May 2024.

Table 24 provides our RAB roll-forward calculations from 1 July 2025. Our approach to determine forecast capital expenditure, inflation and depreciation over the period is explained below.

Table 24: QCA's estimated RAB for 2025-30 (\$ million)

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
Opening RAB	712.21	799.30	1,039.98	1,163.58	1,177.35
plus Capex	86.45	239.00	124.14	17.32	37.12
less Disposals	1.75	-	-	-	-
plus Inflation	23.35	27.08	30.85	31.06	29.89
less Depreciation	20.96	25.41	31.38	34.61	35.70
Closing RAB	799.30	1,039.98	1,163.58	1,177.35	1,208.66

Source: QCA calculations.

Table 25 compares GAWB's proposed opening RAB as at 1 July 2025 and closing RAB as at 30 June 2030 to our draft RAB as at the same dates. Note that differences are due to updated forecast CPI inflation.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

¹⁹⁶ Similar to inflationary gain, the depreciation allowance included in building block costs is reduced by a mid-year cash flow adjustment.

Table 25: GAWB's proposal compared to QCA's calculations (\$ million)

	GAWB's proposal	QCA calculation	Difference
Opening RAB – 1 July 2025	716.97	712.21	(4.76)
plus Capex	504.03	504.03	-
less Disposals	1.76	1.75	(0.01)
plus Inflation	130.05	142.23	12.19
less Depreciation	147.49	148.06	0.58
Closing RAB – 30 June 2030	1,201.80	1,208.66	6.86

Source: GAWB Roll Forward Model, submission, May 2024; QCA calculations.

6.2.1 Forecast inflationary gain

The referral notice sets out the approach we are to apply to forecast inflation, which we have outlined in Chapter 4 operating costs. Table 26 provides our indicative forecast inflation rates at 5 November 2024. These figures will be updated, prior to our final report.

Table 26: QCA preliminary position – forecast CPI (%)

	2023-24	2024-25	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
GAWB	3.80ª	3.20	2.60	2.57	2.53	2.50	2.50
QCA position	3.42 ^b	2.50	3.10	2.95	2.80	2.65	2.50

a Forecast; b Actual.

Note: The 2023-24 figure has been updated using the ABS Brisbane All Groups CPI.

Source: GAWB sub 1, p 78; RBA, <u>Statement on Monetary Policy</u>, November 2024, p 55.

6.2.2 Forecast capital expenditure

We have assessed forecast capital expenditure for the period 2025-26 to 2029-30, consistent with the referral notice.¹⁹⁷ Our draft findings on forecast capital expenditure (Chapter 5) is added to the RAB in the year the project is commissioned.

6.2.3 Depreciation

We have applied the straight-line method to forecast depreciation for the period 2025-26 to 2029-30. We have also accepted GAWB's proposed asset lives for its forecast value of assets entering the RAB during this period, as they are consistent with our 2020-25 final report.

¹⁹⁷ Referral notice, section F, RAB, p 5.

7 Rate of return, working capital and tax allowance

7.1 Rate of return

To determine appropriate prices for the monitoring period 2025-30, we have been directed to determine a rate of return on GAWB's regulated asset base.¹⁹⁸ This is a key component of a regulated firm's allowable costs and represents the return expected by investors to compensate them for the risks involved in investing in the benchmark firm.

In determining an appropriate rate of return, the referral notice instructs us to apply a weighted average cost of capital (WACC)¹⁹⁹ based on the methodologies outlined in our rate of return review, with one caveat²⁰⁰ – in estimating the cost of debt we are to apply a 10-year transition from the 'on-the-day' approach to the 'trailing average' approach in accordance with the Australian Energy Regulator's transition arrangement.²⁰¹

Consistent with the methodology outlined in our rate of return review and the referral notice, we:

- have estimated a bottom-up WACC (section 7.1.1) which is based on our preferred methodology for calculating the WACC and each of the relevant individual parameters (as outlined in our rate of return review), unless specifically requested otherwise in accordance with referral notice²⁰²
- have undertaken a top-down assessment to consider the overall reasonableness of GAWB's rate of return (section 7.1.2).

We consider that an indicative WACC of 7.39% is an appropriate indicative rate of return for GAWB for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

By comparison, GAWB calculated its proposed prices for the 2025-30 price monitoring period based on an indicative post-tax nominal (vanilla) WACC of 7.88%. We do not consider that GAWB has calculated the WACC in accordance with the referral notice.²⁰³

From the information available at this time, we do not consider there is reason to move from our bottom-up estimate. We consider that this WACC will provide for a rate of return that is commensurate with the regulatory and commercial risks faced by GAWB in delivering its bulk water services. In making this draft decision, we have considered GAWB's exposure to risks. We have also had regard to the extent of GAWB's flexibility with respect to its commercial arrangements that mitigate risk or efficiently allocate risk to its customers.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

¹⁹⁸ Referral notice, section F, Appropriate Rate of Return, p 4.

¹⁹⁹ The WACC is the weighted average of the expected costs of equity and debt, with the respective weights representing the proportion of equity and debt in the capital structure of the firm.

²⁰⁰ QCA, <u>Rate of return review</u>, final report, version 2, July 2023.

²⁰¹ Referral notice, section F, Appropriate Rate of Return, p 4.

²⁰² The referral notice instructs us to apply the AER's transitional arrangement when estimating the cost of debt.

²⁰³ GAWB proposed applying an asset beta of 0.45, GAWB has also only used 5 years of returns data in its regression instead of 10 years as outlined in our rate of return review. This results in a relatively higher beta estimates, as confirmed by our own analysis.

We consider that an appropriate rate of return for the 2025-30 price monitoring period should be based on our indicative WACC estimate, while the risk-free rate and cost of debt should be updated to reflect GAWB's nominated averaging period.

GAWB submitted that it will update its price monitoring rate of return before the end of the current monitoring period so that prices applied from 1 July 2025 are reflective of prevailing market rates.²⁰⁴

7.1.1 Bottom-up WACC assessment

We have undertaken a bottom-up WACC analysis to evaluate an appropriate rate of return for GAWB.

To calculate an indicative bottom-up WACC for GAWB, we have used a nominal, post-tax WACC²⁰⁵ based on our estimates of individual WACC parameters. Our assessment of the individual parameters used to generate our bottom-up estimate is outlined below.

We have calculated an indicative bottom-up WACC of 7.39% for GAWB for the 2025-30 price monitoring period (see Table 27).

Table 27: Indicative bottom-up WACC estimates for the 2025-30 price monitoring period

Parameter	GAWB proposal ²⁰⁶	QCA draft
Risk-free rate (%)	4.31	4.31
Capital structure (% debt)	50	50
Market-risk premium (%)	6.5	6.3
Asset beta	0.45	0.39
Equity beta	0.78	0.66
Cost of equity (%)	9.38	8.47
Credit rating	BBB	BBB
Debt risk premium (%)	1.96	1.91
Debt issuing costs (%)	0.10	0.10
Cost of debt (%)	6.37	6.32
Gamma	0.484	0.484
Bottom up, nominal post tax WACC (%)	7.88	7.39

Note: The indicative bottom-up WACC estimates have been calculated with reference to a placeholder 20-day averaging period ending 30 April 2024.

Source: GAWB, sub 1, p 101; QCA analysis.

 ²⁰⁴ GAWB, sub 1, p 93.
 ²⁰⁵ Our approach uses the Officer WACC3 model and estimates the WACC for a benchmark firm.
 ²⁰⁶ GAWB engaged Synergies to complete a WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

Capital structure

We consider it reasonable to apply GAWB's proposed 50% gearing benchmark capital structure to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period, which is consistent with the gearing applied in the previous reviews.²⁰⁷

The capital structure of a firm represents the relative proportion of debt and equity that together finance the firm's activities. Gearing refers to the proportion of debt comprising the total value of the firm's assets (that is, debt and equity).

Risk-free rate

We consider it reasonable to adopt GAWB's proposed risk-free rate of 4.31% as a placeholder to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

The risk-free rate is the rate of return expected from investment in a theoretical riskless asset. As such, it compensates the investor for the time value of money. Our method for calculating the risk-free rate involves:

- using 10-year Australian Government nominal bond yields
- averaging the yields over a period nominated by the regulated entity that is between 20 and 60 business days long, ending as close as reasonably possible to the commencement of the price monitoring period.

The methodology employed by GAWB in estimating an indicative risk-free rate is consistent with the approach described in our rate of return review. GAWB estimated an indicative risk-free rate with reference to a 20-day average of the 10-year Commonwealth Government bond yield ending 30 April 2024.²⁰⁸

We consider it appropriate for the risk-free rate to be updated using this methodology before the start of the 2025-30 monitoring period, using an averaging period nominated by GAWB. Consistent with our rate of return review, GAWB should propose the timing and length of its nominated averaging period in advance of the averaging period commencement date. The nominated averaging period should:

- be between 20 and 60 business days to provide a rate that reflects current conditions but smooths the effects of temporary shocks
- commence as close as reasonably practical to the start of the price monitoring period (ending before the period starts) to capture current rates.

Market risk premium

We consider it reasonable to apply a market risk premium of 6.3% to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

The market risk premium is the additional return that an investor expects to receive above the riskfree rate from a completely diversified portfolio of risky assets. In accordance with our rate of return review, we have estimated the market risk premium using the lbbotson method.

²⁰⁷ GAWB, sub 1, pp 94-95. ²⁰⁸ GAWB, sub 1, p 95.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

We consider that the lbbotson method provides a plausible indication of the average market risk premium investors can expect to receive in normal conditions, where investors use historical excess returns data to inform their expectations of achievable future returns.

GAWB proposed a market risk premium of 6.5% for the 2025-30 monitoring period, which was based on its consultant's estimate using the Ibbotson method.²⁰⁹

In applying the Ibbotson method we have used a sampling period from 1958 to February 2024, which results in a difference from GAWB's proposal due to the inclusion of observations since our rate of return review. We consider this provides for a data series that contains both a relatively large number of observations and consists of high-quality data.

Beta

We consider it reasonable to apply an asset beta of 0.39 and an equity beta of 0.66 to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

The asset beta is a firm-specific measure of the volatility of returns on a firm's assets relative to the volatility of returns on the market portfolio. The equity beta, in addition, reflects the financial risk of using debt as part of the funding for the business.

To determine a reasonable beta estimate for GAWB, we have had regard to GAWB's business environment, as well as the pricing and contractual arrangements proposed by GAWB that reduce or increase its exposure to systematic risk.

Box 2 describes some key characteristics that we consider will influence GAWB's exposure to systematic risk.

²⁰⁹ GAWB, sub 1, p 95.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Box 2: Arrangements influencing GAWB's exposure to systematic risk

GAWB is the sole provider of bulk water services in the Gladstone region. Its monopoly business activities include the storage, treatment, and delivery of raw and potable water to Gladstone Regional Council and industrial customers.

GAWB has a range of risk management measures available during the 2025-30 monitoring period, subject to the commercial negotiation processes, which impact its exposure to systematic risk – such as the ability to apply a revenue cap framework, review triggers and the ability to require customers to fund single-user assets.

These commercial arrangements can provide GAWB with a high level of revenue certainty to protect it from fluctuations in customer demand throughout the price monitoring period. In particular, GAWB's prices are:

- directly negotiated with its customers to recover its revenue requirements, for any level of contracted water demand
- structured so that fixed charges recover most of the revenue (around 95%).

GAWB's revenue is obtained from a number of industrial customers and the Gladstone Regional Council.

While GAWB said its industrial customer base has been shown to be sensitive to commodity market conditions²¹⁰, we note that GAWB has been able to execute long-term commercial agreements. Moreover, GAWB's arrangements typically include contract length premiums, capacity preservation fees and security payments.

Sustained demand for the service also mitigates GAWB's exposure to risk in the longer term. GAWB has been working with several proponents, with a view to entering into long-term water supply contracts. Customer demand for capacity at Awoonga Dam now exceeds GAWB's existing annual allocation. As a result, GAWB established a queue for capacity at Awoonga Dam in 2023 (Chapter 3).

To inform our assessment on a reasonable beta for GAWB, we have considered observed betas obtained from a sample of sufficiently comparable listed firms as a benchmark.

We consider that beta estimates obtained from a sample of regulated energy and water businesses provide useful reference points to inform our decision on an appropriate beta for GAWB. Importantly, regulated energy and water businesses have similar attributes to GAWB's provision of bulk water in the Gladstone region, including:

• a customer base that has no alternative service options, which exhibits a resilient demand for the service through economic cycles

²¹⁰ GAWB, sub 1, p 96.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

• services that are subject to cost-based regulatory regimes.

GAWB referred to a number of differences between GAWB and other water utilities that may affect the extent that conventional water utilities may be reasonable comparators for GAWB. In particular, GAWB noted that:

- GAWB has a highly concentrated industrial customer base
- there are no other aspects of GAWB's services or operations that decrease its systematic risk exposure relative to Seqwater, or the listed water utilities in the comparator set
- GAWB's future exposure to the emerging hydrogen industry in the Gladstone region is far more likely to increase its systematic risks.²¹¹

We note that where a water utility services a larger and more diverse customer base, this enables them to spread revenue over a larger number of diverse customers, thus mitigating volume risk. A smaller customer base may increase the risk that lost revenue associated with a reduction in demand for the service from a customer cannot be diversified across its customers.

However, we consider that GAWB's price monitoring framework and potential contractual arrangements largely mitigate any additional volume risk associated with having greater reliance on a concentrated number of customers. Separately, we also consider that GAWB's industrial customers exhibit resilient demand for GAWB's services, with the demand for water exceeding its supply.

From the information provided, we consider that our sample of regulated water and energy businesses provides a good basis to reflect the systematic risk of GAWB. As such, we consider that regulated energy and water businesses provide an appropriate benchmark to inform our estimate of a reasonable beta for GAWB. Nonetheless, in considering our resulting beta estimates and the overall rate of return, we have considered regulatory decisions for other water companies.

Therefore, we have calculated a beta reference point using our sample of regulated energy and water businesses. Consistent with our preferred methodology outlined in our rate of return review, we have calculated GAWB's betas applying the Brealey-Myers levering formula and using 10 years of returns data. This produces an average asset beta of 0.39 and an equity beta of 0.66²¹² as a reference point (see Table 28).²¹³

	Mean	Median
Asset beta (estimated)	0.3921	0.3730
Equity beta (50% gearing)	0.6642	0.6260

Table 28: QCA asset beta estimates using 10 years of weekly data

Note: Equity beta calculated using Brealey-Myers levering formula and a debt beta of 0.12. Source: QCA analysis.

GAWB proposed an asset beta of 0.45. GAWB's proposal applied a different methodology to calculate beta than that outlined in our rate of return review.²¹⁴ An asset beta of 0.45 was applied in

²¹¹ GAWB, sub 1, pp 95-96.

²¹² Applying a debt beta of 0.12 and gearing of 50%.

²¹³ Our approach to estimating the equity beta uses the Brealey-Myers levering formula. See QCA, <u>Rate of return review</u>, final report, September 2024, p 92.

²¹⁴ Synergies estimated GAWB's beta using 5 years of returns data in its regression instead of the 10 years as outline in our rate of return Review. This results in a relatively higher beta estimates, as confirmed by our own analysis.

the 2020-25 price monitoring period. However, due to the previous review using a different levering formula, the asset beta applied in the 2020-25 price monitoring period is dissimilar to the current review's asset beta.²¹⁵

In considering whether it is appropriate to apply an equity beta of 0.66 to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for GAWB's 2025-30 price monitoring period, we have reviewed a number of recent Australian regulatory decisions for other water entities. To provide for a meaningful comparison, we applied a 50% gearing ratio (consistent with that applied for GAWB) to re-lever the respective betas. Our analysis identifies that an equity beta of 0.66 is at the top end of the range of other recent re-levered equity beta decisions by other Australian regulators related to water businesses (see Table 29).

Water utility	Regulator	Year	Equity beta (at 50% gearing)
Seqwater bulk	QCA	2022	0.64
Sunwater	QCA	2020	0.63
SA Water	ESCOSA	2024	0.56
TasWater	OTTER	2022	0.54
Icon Water	ICRC	2023	0.58
WACC update	IPART	2024	0.50-0.66

Table 29: Recent decisions on equity betas for water utilities (re-levered at 50%)

Sources: QCA analysis; QCA, <u>Seqwater bulk water price review 2022-26</u>, final report, 2022, p 65; QCA, <u>Rural irrigation</u> price review 2020-24, Part A: Overview, final report, p 93; ESCOSA, <u>SA Water regulatory determination-statement of</u> reasons, final determination, June 2024, p 329; OTTER, <u>Investigation into TasWater's prices and services for the</u> period 1 July to 30 June 2026, final report determination, final report, 2022, p 95; ICRC, <u>Regulated water and</u> sewerage services 2023-28, final report, May 2023, p 83; IPART, <u>WACC Biannual Update</u>, fact sheet, February 2024, p 4.

From the information available, we do not see a reason to adjust our beta estimate for the purpose of calculating our bottom-up WACC estimate for GAWB. Nonetheless, consistent with the methodology outlined in our rate of return review, our approach for determining an appropriate rate of return for GAWB considers whether an adjustment to our overall WACC estimate is required as part of our top-down analysis (rather than adjusting individual WACC parameters).

Gamma

We consider it reasonable to apply a gamma of 0.484 to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

Gamma is the value to investors of an existing dividend imputation credit. The Australian taxation system allows companies to provide shareholders with credits that reflect the company taxes paid on profits that are distributed as dividends. These credits can be used to reduce a shareholder's tax

²¹⁵ Levering formulas are derived from alternative assumptions regarding a firm's financing strategy and the appropriate discount factor for the tax shield. The previous GAWB review used the Conine levering formula. Our rate of return review considered this matter and concluded that the Brealey-Myers levering formula was preferrable.

liabilities, thereby decreasing the shareholder's cost to invest. Equivalently, they reduce the overall cost of capital.²¹⁶

Gamma is expressed as the product of:

- the distribution rate the ratio of distributed imputation credits to company tax paid
- the utilisation rate the value-weighted average over the utilisation rates of imputation credits of all investors in the market.

GAWB proposed a gamma value of 0.484 to determine its WACC estimate, which is consistent with the gamma calculated as part of our rate of return review.²¹⁷

From our analysis, there has not been a material change in the gamma since our rate of return review, and we do not consider there is reason to depart from a gamma estimate of 0.484 at this time.

Cost of debt

We consider it reasonable to apply a cost of debt of 6.32% to determine our bottom-up WACC estimate for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

The cost of debt is the cost to a firm of servicing and raising debt from a range of lenders. It is a fundamental component of the WACC, as debt financing is a significant cost to capital-intensive firms with long-lived assets such as GAWB.²¹⁸

In accordance with the terms of the referral notice, we have applied a 10-year transition from the 'on-the-day' approach to our preferred 'trailing average' approach, consistent with the AER's transitional arrangements. The AER's transitional arrangement is presented in detail in the AER's 2023 *Rate of Return Instrument*.²¹⁹ In the first year of the transition, a weight of 100% is applied to the prevailing rate. In each subsequent year, 10% is removed from the weighting of the first year and added to the weighting of the subsequent year's prevailing rate.²²⁰

The determination of the cost of debt for the 2025-30 period will comprise the first half of the 10-year transition to a simple trailing average.

The method for calculating the cost of debt outlined in our rate of return review involves extrapolation of the RBA's F3 bond yield data. GAWB proposed an alternative extrapolation method in its submission based on advice from QTC, who has provided further detail on the proposed method in its own submission.²²¹ We have subsequently updated our preferred method of extrapolation of the RBA's F3 table data in our rate of return review. This decision will make use of our latest rate of return review to estimate the cost of debt.

Credit rating

The credit rating of a firm is a measure of its ability to repay its debt. A higher credit rating indicates a firm is less likely to default and therefore has a lower cost of debt. The credit rating of a firm is determined by considering the firm's business and financial risk profiles and the firm's capital

²¹⁶ QCA, <u>*Rate of return review*</u>, final report, September 2024, p 100.

²¹⁷ GAWB, sub 1, p 101.

²¹⁸ QCA, Rate of return review, 2023.

²¹⁹ AER, <u>Rate of Return Instrument</u>, February 2023, pp 5-10.

 ²²⁰ AER, <u>Rate of Return Instrument – Explanatory Statement</u>, February 2023, p 237.
 ²²¹ QTC, sub 2.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

structure. Our current methodology prescribes determining the applicable credit rating based on the credit rating of a benchmark firm, on a case-by-case basis.

GAWB proposed an investment grade BBB credit rating. This rating is consistent with our previous investigations of GAWB and is commonly applied to regulated water businesses.

In accordance with our current methodology, we have not found sufficient reason to move from GAWB's previous credit rating of BBB.

Debt management strategy

In accordance with the referral notice, we will apply a 10-year transition period from an 'on-the-day' approach to a 'trailing average' approach using the AER's transitional arrangement.²²²

GAWB and QTC submitted that a weighted trailing average should be applied instead of a simple trailing average.^{223,224} This would allow new debt to be initially compensated at the prevailing rate using an 'on-the-day' approach and then transitioned to a 10-year simple trailing average using the AER's transitional arrangement. They argued that the large amount of forecast capital expenditure in the 2025-30 price monitoring period necessitates the use of a weighted trailing average.

Consistent with the referral notice and the methodology outlined in our rate of return review, we consider it reasonable to apply a simple trailing average for calculating the cost of debt. Nonetheless, we accept that there is a legitimate issue where the marginal cost of new debt raising is materially higher than the average cost of historic debt. We note that this could be a disincentive to undertake large capital investments (especially when significant construction risks are borne by the business) relative to the regulated asset base. Notwithstanding this, we have applied the requirements outlined in the referral notice.

Debt-raising cost

The debt-raising cost is an allowance, in addition to the debt risk premium, to account for the transaction costs associated with raising debt.

GAWB used a debt-raising cost of 0.10% in its cost of debt calculation. As this is consistent with our rate of return review, we consider this allowance is appropriate.

7.1.2 Top-down assessment

A top-down assessment allows us to evaluate the robustness of our bottom-up estimated WACC. The focus of the assessment is the overall reasonableness of the total return in the prevailing circumstances, not the appropriateness or reasonableness of the individual WACC parameter values.

Consistent with the rate of return review, we have considered recent WACC decisions by other Australian regulators for water businesses. We have compared our bottom-up WACC estimate for GAWB to the corresponding nominal post-tax WACCs calculated for a range of Australian regulated businesses. In making this comparison, we have calculated the time-varying parameters of the other regulators' WACC values, with reference to an April 2024 averaging period.

 ²²² Referral notice, section F, Appropriate Rate of Return, p 4.
 ²²³ GAWB, sub 1, pp 97-98.
 ²²⁴ QTC, sub 2.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

On a normalised basis, our bottom-up WACC estimate for GAWB sits above the range of other recent WACC decisions by other Australian regulators for water businesses (Figure 13). We consider that this outcome is consistent with our assessment of relative risk.



Figure 13: Normalised comparisons for Australian regulated water businesses (%)

Sources: IPART, <u>WACC calculator</u> (Spreadsheet model true-up calculator), November 2021, accessed 5 August 2024; OTTER, <u>Investigation into TasWater's prices and services for the period 1 July to 30 June 2026</u>, final report, May 2022; ESCOSA, <u>SA Water Regulatory Determination 2024</u>, final determination, June 2024; QCA, <u>Rural irrigation price review</u> <u>2025-29</u>: Seqwater, draft report, June 2024; QCA, <u>Seqwater Bulk Water Price Review 2022-26</u>, final report, March 2022.

The objective of performing this WACC normalisation comparison is to get a sense of the reasonableness of our bottom-up WACC estimate from an overall, or top-down, perspective. It is important to note that, as the task of the normalisation process is to generate an estimate of what the regulator would have determined the rate of return to be at the same point in time, various assumptions are required. As such, the outcomes of this exercise are not determinative and should be treated with some level of caution.

GAWB submitted that it is essential for the WACC to be adequate to incentivise future investment in bulk water services, having regard to the level of risk inherent in its capital investment program.²²⁵ We consider that our comparison of other regulatory decisions supports our bottom-up WACC estimate being sufficient to promote efficient investment in the infrastructure required to provide the service.

As outlined in our rate of return review, we do not automatically adjust our bottom-up estimate of the WACC at each review, but at those times in which circumstances exist that necessitate an adjustment, to provide a reasonable overall WACC.²²⁶

 ²²⁵ GAWB, sub 1, p 93.
 ²²⁶ QCA, <u>Rate of return review</u>, final report, version 2, July 2023,

We consider that our bottom-up WACC estimate of 7.39% provides an appropriate indicative rate of return for GAWB for the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

7.2 Return on assets and working capital allowance

The referral notice requests that GAWB's allowable costs include an appropriate return on the RAB using an appropriate rate of return and an allowance for working capital.²²⁷

7.2.1 Return on assets

The referral notice defines the appropriate rate of return to be a weighted average cost of capital based on our 2023 rate of return review.²²⁸ Table 30 outlines our draft position on GAWB's return on assets allowance. The differences are caused by our position on GAWB's rate of return and updated forecast CPI inflation.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
GAWB sub	65.33	77.64	91.59	96.64	97.99	429.18
QCA draft	60.96	72.82	86.19	91.15	92.54	403.67
Difference	(4.37)	(4.82)	(5.40)	(5.49)	(5.44)	(25.52)

Table 30: Return on assets (\$ million, nominal)

Sources: GAWB sub 1; QCA analysis.

7.2.2 Working capital allowance

The requirement for a working capital balance is due to the delay between the delivery of bulk water and payment received. The allowance is calculated by multiplying the working capital balance by the rate of return, therefore compensating GAWB for the opportunity cost of the working capital balance.

In previous periods GAWB's working capital requirement has reflected its accounts receivable, accounts payable and inventory. GAWB has submitted a working capital allowance based on a \$10 million its short-term debt facility arrangements, proposing to receive the rate of return on this for every year of the 2025-30 price monitoring period.

It is unclear whether a portion of the submitted \$10 million requirement is attributable to the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline (FGP). This is relevant to our pricing monitoring investigation, as the amending referral excludes consideration of the FGP costs. As such, our position on GAWB's working capital allowance is to use an interim allowance, pending further information from GAWB, that excludes the FGP project impacts.

 ²²⁷ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs, p 3.
 ²²⁸ Referral notice, section F, Appropriate Rate of Return, p 4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
GAWB sub	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79	0.79	3.94
QCA draft	0.74	0.74	0.74	0.74	0.74	3.70
Difference	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.24)

Table 31: Working capital allowance (\$ million, nominal)

Note: Differences are due to our rate of return and GAWB's proposal. Sources: GAWB sub 1, QCA analysis.

7.3 Tax allowance

The referral notice includes a tax allowance in GAWB's allowable costs so that it can meet its forecast tax liabilities.²²⁹ GAWB is required to make tax equivalent payments as a participant in the National Tax Equivalent Regime consistent with Queensland's obligations under the 1995 Competition Principles Agreement.²³⁰ Providing an explicit tax allowance in the allowable costs is consistent with our preferred form of weighted average cost of capital.²³¹

The tax allowance is calculated by multiplying the corporate tax rate (30%) and the taxable income and then subtracting the value of the dividend imputation credits (gamma). The taxable income is calculated using the appropriate prices (Chapter 10), the forecast demand (Chapter 3), and GAWB's tax shield. Table 32 outlines our draft position on GAWB's tax allowance. Differences are predominantly attributable to our lower proposed rate of return.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
GAWB sub	4.07	3.13	3.18	5.34	10.28	26.00
QCA draft	2.38	3.11	3.92	4.49	4.86	18.76
Difference	(1.69)	(0.02)	0.74	(0.85)	(5.42)	(7.24)

Table 32: Tax allowance (\$ million, nominal)

Sources: GAWB sub 1, QCA analysis.

²²⁹ Referral notice, section F, Allowable Costs, p 3.

²³⁰ To meet competitive neutrality principles, the regime notionally applies the tax laws to government owned businesses as though they were subject to federal income tax (see the Australian Taxation Office website and GAWB, <u>Annual Report</u> <u>2023-24</u>, p 49).

²³¹ A tax allowance may be incorporated into the weighted average cost of capital.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Allowable costs and revenue

We are required to consider appropriate prices for GAWB's bulk water services that allow GAWB sufficient allowable revenue to recover the allowable costs of providing its bulk water services as specified in the referral notice.²³² This chapter presents our estimate of the allowable revenue to be recovered from GAWB's bulk water prices for the 2025-30 price monitoring period. Our estimate of allowable revenue is based on our assessment of allowable costs and revenue adjustments.

8.1 Allowable costs

8

To determine GAWB's allowable costs we add together the allowances for each of the following cost components:

- operating expenditure the ongoing costs of supplying bulk water and maintaining bulk water assets, and corporate costs (Chapter 4)
- a return on assets an appropriate return on investments made in assets to provide bulk water services, reflecting our assessment of capital expenditure, the value of GAWB's regulatory asset base (RAB), and a rate of return taking into account matters specified in the referral notice (Chapters 5 to 7)
- a return of assets (depreciation) the cost of capital investments over the useful life of the assets (Chapter 6)
- a return on working capital the cost of holding capital to allow GAWB to manage the timing difference between the outflow of cash associated with current liabilities and the receipt of cash associated with current assets (Chapter 7)
- tax an allowance to enable GAWB to meet its tax equivalence obligations (Chapter 7).

Our position on allowable costs (Table 33) reflects our findings on each cost component in earlier chapters for each year of the price monitoring period.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
Орех	42.81	44.15	46.95	49.41	53.44	236.74
Return on capital	60.96	72.82	86.19	91.15	92.54	403.67
Return of capital (depreciation)ª	1.15	2.25	4.85	8.23	10.83	27.30
Tax allowance	2.38	3.11	3.92	4.49	4.86	18.76
Working capital allowance	0.74	0.74	0.74	0.74	0.74	3.70

Table 33: QCA draft findings on allowable costs (\$ million, nominal)

²³²Referral notice, section F, p 3.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
Allowable costs	108.03	123.07	142.65	154.02	162.40	690.17

a Depreciation is net of indexation.

Note: Totals may not add due to rounding.

8.2 Revenue adjustments

To determine allowable revenue to be recovered from appropriate prices, we need to identify adjustments to account for:

- revenue received, or expected to be received, from sources other than prices (revenue offsets)
- accelerated depreciation associated with disposal of assets from the previous monitoring period (to ensure GAWB receives the outstanding value of investments that are written off, net of proceeds of sales).

GAWB said that these adjustments are made to take account of differences between forecasts used to set revenues for the current pricing period and actual revenue collected from customers during the period. The adjustments are offset against the calculation of allowable revenue for the next pricing period.²³³

The purpose of these adjustments is to ensure that GAWB's prices do not over- or under-recover its allowable revenue required to provide bulk water services.²³⁴

Revenue offsets

GAWB receives revenue from several sources, including 'other revenue' expected to be generated from non-bulk water activities during the 2025-30 monitoring period and 'ancillary charges revenue' that it received during the 2020-25 monitoring period.

Other revenue

GAWB has provided forecasts of revenue it expects to receive from grants, leases, agistment and hatchery sales during the 2025-30 price monitoring period.²³⁵ GAWB has forecast this revenue using the actual income received in its 2022-23 base year, with an assumed trend applied across the forecast period. Grant revenues are forecast to remain constant over the pricing period, with other income increasing by forecast inflation.

Based on the information GAWB provided, our position is that GAWB's forecasts for other revenues are reasonable. Using the base year revenues is a sound basis for forecasting and avoids the need for us to undertake a review of lease and agistment agreements. Given we have requested GAWB provide further information regarding its proposed step change for hatchery costs (section 4.5.5),

²³³ GAWB sub 1, p 104.

 ²³⁴ Referral notice, section F, Appropriate prices and Allowable revenue, p 3.
 ²³⁵ GAWB, response to RFI 35.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

GAWB should also reconsider its forecast hatchery sales²³⁶ in light of the increase in production it is proposing.

Ancillary charges revenue (adjustments from the prior period)

GAWB's proposed revenue adjustments account for additional revenue received from various ancillary charges received during the 2020-25 period.²³⁷ This includes any revenue from over-run charges, short-term contract length premiums, and capacity preservation fees (if not rebated to customers).

In its submission, GAWB provided actual data for 2020-21 to 2022-23 and said it would update this for 2023-24 data in response to our draft report.²³⁸ Over-run charges are the primary source of this revenue (\$1.53 million), which GAWB has rolled forward at 4.74% per annum (its 2020-25 rate of return), for a total revenue offset of \$1.86 million.²³⁹

GAWB confirmed that is has chosen to not levy short-term contract length premiums since 2021-22 but noted its intention to retain the ability to differentiate prices based on contract length.²⁴⁰

While GAWB has levied a capacity preservation fee to some customers in 2023-24 (and it is expected this will continue), this is expected to be rebated directly to each relevant customer. As such, no amounts are expected to be captured as a prior-period adjustment at this time.

Based on the information GAWB has provided – including its revenue calculations – our draft position is that GAWB's adjustments for ancillary charges revenue (from prior periods) are reasonable. We appreciate GAWB is using actual data to establish its prior period adjustments and understand updates are required for 2023-24 data.

GAWB said that it will further update the prior-period adjustments for actual data up to the end of May 2025, before it sets prices for 2025-26.²⁴¹

Accelerated depreciation associated with disposal of assets (prior period adjustment)

Revenue that is yet to be recovered from assets that are written off before the 2025-30 monitoring period but still have residual value in GAWB's regulated asset base, is treated as accelerated depreciation net of proceeds of sales.

GAWB identified assets that are no longer required for the provision of its services, which are subject to disposal and removed from its regulated asset base (usually as part of asset upgrades or replacements). As these assets may have residual value in the regulated asset base, GAWB may not have recovered its full return of capital for these assets. In recognition of this, GAWB proposed a revenue adjustment to accelerate the recovery of this remaining depreciation, net of any sale proceeds.²⁴²

 ²³⁶ For example, revenues received for the sale of 'by-product' fish that are deemed unsuitable to rear to full maturity.
 ²³⁷ GAWB's proposed application of these ancillary charges during the 2025-30 monitoring period is discussed in section 9.5.
 ²³⁸ GAWB sub 1, p 104.

²³⁹ GAWB sub 1, pp 105-106.

²⁴⁰ GAWB sub 1, p 106.

²⁴¹ GAWB sub 1, p 104.

²⁴² GAWB sub 1, pp 108-110.

GAWB has provided information accounting for regulatory asset base disposals of \$3.90 million during the 2020-25 period, with a net value of \$1.29 million after sale proceeds. GAWB proposed to recover this from its prices over the 2025-30 monitoring period.

Based on the information GAWB provided – including its regulatory asset base and revenue calculations – our draft position is that GAWB's prior-period accelerated depreciation, net of proceeds of sales, is reasonable.

QCA position on revenue adjustments

We have assessed GAWB's proposed revenue adjustments and consider them appropriate. Each revenue adjustment for the monitoring period is outlined in Table 34.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
Revenue offsets	(2.75)	(0.92)	(0.94)	(0.96)	(0.98)
• Other revenue	(0.90)	(0.92)	(0.94)	(0.96)	(0.98)
• Ancillary charges revenue	(1.86)	_	_	_	-
Accelerated depreciation	1.29	_	_	_	-
Revenue adjustments	(1.46)	(0.92)	(0.94)	(0.96)	(0.98)

Table 34: Revenue adjustments to allowable revenue, (\$ million, nominal)

Note: Totals may not add due to rounding.

These revenue adjustments are subsequently allocated to relevant zones when we determine allowable revenue (section 8.3).

8.3 Allowable revenue

Our draft position on the costs to be recovered from bulk water customers (after applying the cost and revenue offsets) is provided in Table 35.

	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30	Total
Allowable costs	108.03	123.07	142.65	154.02	162.40	690.17
Revenue adjustments	(1.46)	(0.92)	(0.94)	(0.96)	(0.98)	(5.24)
Allowable revenue	106.57	122.15	141.71	153.06	161.43	684.92

Table 35: QCA draft findings of GAWB's allowable revenue, (\$ million, nominal)

Based on our assessment of GAWB's proposed allowable costs and revenue adjustments, this would provide GAWB \$684.92 million of allowable revenue for the 2025-30 price monitoring period. This is \$53.37 million (7.2%) lower than the amount submitted by GAWB.

9 GAWB's pricing practices

GAWB's pricing practices refer to the methods applied to determine its prices that recover its allowable revenue, given forecasts of demand. GAWB's proposed prices reflect zonal pricing, allowing for customers' prices to be differentiated based on their location within the delivery network and the infrastructure used to supply them. GAWB also proposes maintaining various ancillary charges.

The referral notice directs us to consider the appropriate prices for the monitoring period and then monitor how they compare to GAWB's actual prices charged in a mid-term review.²⁴³ In calculating forecast appropriate prices, we have applied GAWB's proposed pricing practices.

Our investigation monitors GAWB's pricing practices, but it does not make determinations regarding them. Although the referral notice does not direct us to investigate GAWB's pricing practices in this price monitoring investigation²⁴⁴, we have provided some discussion for the purposes of transparency for customers and interested parties, particularly where GAWB is proposing changes to its existing arrangements.

Ultimately, GAWB determines its tariff structures and pricing arrangements through commercial negotiation with its customers.

9.1 Overview of GAWB's pricing approach

For purpose of pricing, GAWB establishes pricing zones, allocates allowable revenue to each zone, and determines prices based on forecast demand for each zone.

GAWB intends to continue with its existing pricing approach, where:

- prices are developed separately for storage, delivery and administration services
 - all customers pay the same storage price and an administration price based on the quality of water received (treated or raw); and the sum of delivery charges for each pricing zone that the water flows through to reach the customer delivery point²⁴⁵
 - fixed and variable components are applied for storage and delivery.²⁴⁶
- ancillary charges and pricing mechanisms may also apply in addition to the above prices.

GAWB's pricing approach for the 2025-30 price monitoring period involves:

- establishing zones for pricing proposes (section 9.2)
- allocating allowable costs and revenue adjustments to zones (section 9.3)
- developing prices for each zone (section 9.4)
- ancillary charges (section 9.5)

²⁴³ Referral notice, sections B1.1 and C1.1-1.2.

²⁴⁴ Under s 23 of the QCA Act, we may be directed to undertake an investigation about the pricing practices of monopoly business activities.

²⁴⁵ This depends on a customer's location on GAWB's network and which specific zones are traversed in order to supply water to each customer. For example, a customer taking supply from a pricing zone at the end of the network will be charged for more zones than a customer taking supply that goes through less zones.

²⁴⁶ The majority of GAWB's allowable revenue (around 96%) is recovered through the fixed components.

Box 3: GAWB's approach to pricing

GAWB uses a zonal pricing framework that apportions its allowable revenue to distinct, location-based pricing zones. Zones are established for storage, distribution areas (raw and treated) and corporate costs.

Based on the forecast demand entering a zone and its allowable costs, GAWB calculates a zone's price required to recover its allowable revenue (net of revenue adjustments).

Customers are charged based on the zones their water traverses. Effectively, each customer pays a toll (zonal price) for each zone.

The customer pays the sum of the tolls (zonal price) from each zone that the water passes through to reach their connection – referred to as the 'rolled-up' price.

This segmentation allows for locational marginal pricing, using cost-reflective price signals.

While GAWB's pricing structure has many aspects, we note simplification will not reduce allowable costs. Rather, it would simply re-allocate those costs in a different manner. Previously we have assessed GAWB's tariff structure and found it to be appropriate.²⁴⁷

9.2 GAWB's pricing zones

GAWB is proposing 25 pricing zones for the 2025-30 price monitoring period, adding four new pricing zones in the northernmost section of the network where recent – and expected – customer growth is driving network augmentation and expansion.²⁴⁸ All other pricing zones are consistent with those applying during the current monitoring period.

GAWB's assets for the provision of bulk water include Awoonga Dam, pump stations, delivery pipelines, water treatment plants, storage facilities, land and buildings. GAWB maintains three categories of pricing zones:

- storage (Awoonga Dam zone)
- delivery network zones
 - location-based distribution zones (raw and treated)
 - water treatment plants zones
- corporate zone (administration).

 ²⁴⁷ QCA, <u>Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-25 Part A: Overview</u>, final report, May 2020, pp 118-123.
 ²⁴⁸ The prudency and efficiency of expansion and augmentation capex associated with these new zones is discussed in Chapter 4 and Appendix E.

Figure 14 shows GAWB's delivery network and pricing zones.²⁴⁹



Figure 14: GAWB's pricing zones: storage, delivery and corporate

9.3 Allocation of allowable cost and revenue to zones

GAWB's allowable costs and revenue adjustments (section 8.1) relate to the pricing zones in which they are incurred or directly attributed. Prices are set based on the allowable revenue and forecast demand for each zone.

GAWB allocates its assets to pricing zones according to where the benefit of the asset is realised. GAWB then allocates the allowable costs from each asset (return on capital, depreciation and tax

²⁴⁹ GAWB also maintains a corporate pricing zone that is used to allocate indirect costs and overheads.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

allowances) to that zone, with tax allowances allocated based on the relative value of each pricing zone's asset base.

GAWB's assets are allocated to zones based on their location in the network, unless there is a specific and compelling reason otherwise.

Table 36 outlines the various allocations of allowable costs and revenue adjustments, which then provides for the allowable revenues to be recovered from each zone.

	Allocation method
Allocation of allowable costs	
Return on capital and depreciation	Allocated to pricing zones according to where the benefit of the asset is realised, based on the zones it has established. GAWB then allocates the allowable costs from each asset (return on capital and depreciation).
Tax allowance	Allocated based on the relative value of each pricing zone's asset base.
Operating costs	GAWB used the percentage allocations we accepted in our 2020- 25 review to allocate the costs from its base year, 2022-23, to each zone (business unit approach). This enabled the implementation of a base-step-trend operating cost on a consistent basis. Step changes were then allocated to zones accordingly, except hatchery and tariff review that were allocated to the Awoonga pricing zone. Allocations to new zones included forecast electricity usage for that zone.
Working capital	Allocated to GAWB's corporate zone.
Allocation of revenue adjustments	5
Other revenue	Allocated to Awoonga or corporate zones.
Ancillary charges	Allocated to the pricing zone of the customer from which it was received.
Accelerated depreciation	Allocated to the pricing zone where the asset was located.

Table 36: Allocation of GAWB's allowable costs and revenue adjustments

Source: QCA analysis.

This process provides for the allowable revenues for each zone that GAWB can seek to recover from its prices during the monitoring period.

9.3.1 Consistent cost recovery of reliability investment

GAWB's substantial hydrogen augmentation program includes a small number of related upstream investments, designed to improve or maintain system resilience and reliability in light of the new expected downstream demand. Specifically, these projects are:

- pump station and storage upgrades (
 - pump station pump redundancy improvements (

These assets are physically located in the upstream zones of the GAWB network, at Awoonga Dam or just downstream of it. The existing assets being upgraded are allocated to pricing zones that reflect their physical location, consistent with GAWB's zonal pricing framework.²⁵⁰

However, GAWB has proposed that the cost of these two upgrades be allocated to the new 'Northern Raw Extension' pricing zone, which will be at in the northern reaches of the augmented GAWB network.²⁵¹ The effect of this allocation is that the costs of the investments will be borne solely by new customers located in the Northern Raw Extension zone and new zones downstream of it.²⁵² These customers are predominantly prospective hydrogen facilities.

GAWB's submission did not comment on the rationale for allocating these costs in this way. It is not clear why these investments have not been allocated to the same pricing zone as the original assets being upgraded. We note that:

- the upgrades to both facilities will occur in the same physical location as the original assets. GAWB's zonal pricing framework therefore would allocate the cost of upgrades to the same pricing zones as the original assets, by default
- notwithstanding the physical location of the assets, the proposed upgrades are designed to improve or maintain system-wide redundancy and resilience. That is, the investments will provide a shared reliability benefit to all downstream customers.

For these reasons, it is not clear that GAWB allocation approach is equitable, or consistent with its zonal pricing framework.

For our draft report we have allocated the costs of these two projects to the 'Awoonga to Toolooa' and 'Awoonga' pricing zone for consistency with GAWB's existing approach for the original assets. We welcome further information from GAWB to justify an alternative allocation approach, which we will consider in our final report.

9.4 GAWB's prices

GAWB proposes to continue with its three distinct tariff structures based on the function of the pricing zone – administration, storage, and delivery – as outlined in Table 37.²⁵³

Pricing zone	Charge	Demand	
Awoonga (storage)	Storage access	Contracted water reservation	
	Storage volumetric	Metered volume	
Corporate (administration)	Storage	Contracted water reservation	
	Raw	Contracted water reservation	
	Treated	Contracted water reservation	

Table 37: GAWB's tariffs

²⁵⁰ The OLS is allocated to the Awoonga-Toolooa pricing zone, and the Awoonga Dam pump station is allocated to the Awoonga zone.

²⁵¹ GAWB, response to RFI 7.

²⁵² Specifically, Boat Creek to Euroa Circuit, Euroa Circuit to Aldoga, and Fisherman's Landing Raw 2.

²⁵³ GAWB, sub 1, p 117.

Pricing zone	Charge	Demand	
Distribution network (delivery)	Delivery access	Reserved maximum daily quantity (MDQ)	
	Delivery volumetric	Metered volume	
	Delivery MDQ volumetric	Based on forecast aggregate MDQ	

Source: GAWB, sub 1, p 117.

GAWB's submission outlines further detail on each of its proposed tariff components.²⁵⁴

We note that GAWB is proposing to set its delivery metered MDQ volumetric charge to zero.²⁵⁵

9.5 Ancillary charges

In addition to the prices GAWB charges to recover its allowable revenue, GAWB also proposed to continue levying various ancillary charges where appropriate (over-run charges; short-term contract length premiums; and capacity preservation fees).²⁵⁶

GAWB proposed to continue its practice of returning additional revenue generated from ancillary charges to the pricing zone from which it originated in future price monitoring periods.²⁵⁷ Moreover, any additional revenue would also be excluded from any future revenue cap adjustments, except for over-run charges. Where additional demand arising from an over-run has caused a material increase in GAWB's costs, the revenue cap adjustment would be net of any efficient increase in costs.²⁵⁸

For the 2025-30 monitoring period, GAWB proposed to continue applying the ancillary charges outlined in Table 38.²⁵⁹

Ancillary charge	Description	Implications for future allowable revenues
Over-run charges	Applied when customers exceed their contracted annual volumes and MDQs. Levied on delivery, storage and administration charges, according to the percentage by which the customer's actual usage exceeds specific thresholds (reserved volumes and MDQ).	GAWB proposes that any additional revenue that is net of any (efficient) increase in costs that is caused by the additional demand, would be returned to customers in future price monitoring periods.
Contract length premium	A sliding scale discount for contact length, with the highest rates applied to the shortest contracts (two years or less) and	Any extra revenue generated from these premiums is returned to customers after deducting any related costs incurred by GAWB.

Table 38: GAWB's proposed ancillary charges

```
<sup>254</sup> GAWB, sub 1, p 117.
<sup>255</sup> GAWB, sub 1, p 121.
<sup>256</sup> GAWB, sub 1, p 117-118.
<sup>257</sup> GAWB, sub 1, p 117.
<sup>258</sup> GAWB, sub 1, p 118.
<sup>259</sup> GAWB, sub 1, p 118.
```

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Ancillary charge	Description	Implications for future allowable revenues
	the lowest rates to the longest contracts (15 to 20 years).	
Capacity preservation fee	To be applied for the period that GAWB holds supply capacity for a customer, until such time as a water supply contract becomes unconditional and the ultimate	When the customer commences paying for water, the revenue collected is offset against the customer's storage charges payable under its contract.
becomes unconditional and the ultimate reservation amount under the contract is reached.	If the reserved capacity is reduced or the customer does not enter a water supply contract, the revenue is returned to all customers at the start of the subsequent monitoring period.	

Source: GAWB, sub 1, pp 117-118.

9.6 Other pricing mechanisms

9.6.1 Review triggers

It is commonplace for businesses to incorporate 'review triggers' or cost pass-through arrangements within commercial arrangements. These arrangements allow a business to potentially increase prices to recover unforeseen costs. Triggers are typically linked to specific, predefined circumstances or events that lead to a material and uncontrollable change in a business's costs or revenues.

GAWB proposal

GAWB said it wanted to maintain its review triggers for the 2025-30 pricing period, namely²⁶⁰:

- force majeure events
- drought response measures.

We understand that GAWB has not previously triggered a review event, and there is no precedent for us to apply in terms of process.

GAWB noted our previous review findings where we suggested that there should be a materiality threshold for review events and that we should have an approval role in assessing such events.²⁶¹

Responding to this, GAWB outlined a potential criteria and assessment process for assessing a review trigger event. GAWB envisaged that the process would be similar to a price monitoring investigation, while reflecting the limited scope of a review trigger event.²⁶² GAWB also proposed that materiality of the incremental costs be subject to a qualitative assessment and specific criteria, rather than a quantitative materiality threshold.²⁶³

²⁶⁰ GAWB, sub 1, p 129.
²⁶¹ GAWB, sub 1, p 129-130.

²⁶² GAWB, sub 1, p 130.

²⁶³ GAWB, sub 1, pp 129-130.

GAWB noted that our price monitoring investigation is informative, rather than deterministic.²⁶⁴ GAWB acknowledged that its board is responsible for setting prices, and any updates to prices during the regulatory period are governed by the terms of its commercial arrangements with customers.²⁶⁵

QCA analysis and assessment

The QCA has no enduring role for ongoing administration of GAWB's pricing arrangements during a price monitoring period.

In a price monitoring setting, it would not be appropriate for us to have a role in administering review events, the trigger thresholds that apply, or seek to establish a role for us in any future assessment process unless these matters are explicitly contemplated within a government referral notice.

Similarly, the current – and previous – ministerial referral notices do not incorporate any intra-period administrative roles for the QCA, beyond a mid-term report.²⁶⁶ The scope of the mid-term report itself is narrow. It does not contemplate any role for us to assess claims for price adjustments arising from review trigger events.

Should government require us to perform a role relating to intra-period review events, this responsibility would likely need to be conferred through a ministerial direction or other statutory obligation.

Nonetheless, we understand that GAWB may want to foreshadow its review events ahead of the monitoring period so this is understood by customers when we undertake our midterm monitoring exercise. On this basis, we would welcome submissions from GAWB and its customers providing information on the appropriateness of GAWB's review events and processes that exclude us from their assessment (unless conferred under a government direction).

9.6.2 Revenue cap deadband

GAWB currently operates a revenue cap with a plus or minus 10% deadband for variations relative to its annual revenue requirement. If the deadband is breached in any year, an adjustment is made at the start of the subsequent price monitoring period for any additional, or foregone, revenue beyond the 10% deadband. As such, GAWB bears up to 10% of any annual revenue variations relative to its annual requirement.²⁶⁷

GAWB proposal

For the 2025-30 price monitoring period, GAWB proposes to reduce the revenue deadbands from 10% to 5%. GAWB considered that the underlying conditions that supported the use of a deadband are no longer prevalent because the capacity of Awoonga Dam is now fully allocated.²⁶⁸

²⁶⁴ GAWB, sub 1, p 130.
²⁶⁵ GAWB, sub 1, p 130.
²⁶⁶ Referral notice.
²⁶⁷ GAWB, sub 1, pp 125-126.
²⁶⁸ GAWB, sub 1, pp 126-128.

GAWB said that while it is willing to retain some exposure to demand risk, it proposes narrowing the deadband to plus or minus 5% of its annual revenue requirement to provide an appropriate balance between the financial risk to GAWB and price shocks to customers.²⁶⁹

QCA analysis and assessment

It is not clear that the deadband is serving any meaningful purpose, given that:

- the majority of GAWB's allowable revenue (around 95%) is recovered through the fixed smoothed tariff components (section 10.1)
- all available capacity of Awoonga Dam has been allotted or contracted²⁷⁰ (Chapter 3).

Moreover, we note that even after the failure of CS Energy's Callide C power plant in May 2021, after which demand for raw water fell by nearly **mathematical structures**, the revenue impact was not sufficient to exceed the deadband and trigger a revenue adjustment for the 2020-25 monitoring period.

On this basis, we have no objections to GAWB's proposal to reduce the deadband to 5%.

We are also open to considering meaningful proposals to address more pressing concerns, such as a capital expenditure true-up to address variability in forecast capital expenditure (see section 9.6.3).

There could also be scope for GAWB to consider a simpler revenue-cap mechanism, to enable fixed cost recovery²⁷¹ and address demand uncertainty. This could include a hybrid revenue-cap-style framework (potentially with no deadbands), that could be easily used for our future price monitoring purposes.

9.6.3 Capital expenditure true-up

Given uncertainty in future demand and capital expenditure arising from the emerging hydrogen industry, for our price monitoring purposes we consider a limited ex post revenue adjustment for capital charges should be applied.

GAWB's revenue modelling provides for a forecast return on, and return of, capital from investments expected to capitalise within the forecast price monitoring period. This is based on the forecast commissioning dates, which is standard practice. However, GAWB's pricing approach currently does not include a backward-looking adjustment to 'true-up' the revenue associated with actual outturn capital expenditure. That is, if the forecast investments do not go ahead, or are delayed outside of the monitoring period, GAWB retains any forecast return on and return of capital derived from those capital forecasts. This is a windfall revenue gain to GAWB. The potential gain is tempered by potential for foregone revenue associated with capital projects that were delivered but not included the forecast.

²⁶⁹ GAWB, sub 1, p 127.

²⁷⁰ GAWB, sub 1, p 128. Note that the full yield (water allocation) of Awoonga Dam is 78,000 ML but it cannot be fully contracted due to storage and network losses and environmental discharge requirements, among other factors.

²⁷¹ Application of a revenue cap could exclude variable costs, as variable tariffs are cost reflective, and therefore vary with demand. Any arrangement should be developed after consideration of the allocation of demand risk, which GAWB is proposing to retain a level of.

However, in GAWB's current circumstances, we consider the scale of the augmentation program, and general doubts surrounding its deliverability, suggest a limited ex post revenue true-up is an appropriate means for us to undertake any future price monitoring activities.

For our price monitoring purposes, this true-up may include an ex post calculation of any material windfall gain (or loss) in revenues attributable to capital charges derived from capex not delivered (or delayed) during the 2025-30 period. Any resulting revenue loss or gain would be carried forward to adjust revenues and prices in the subsequent pricing period. This approach complements the existing roll-forward of the regulatory asset base, which includes a backward-looking adjustment that ensures only actual outturn capex is added to the asset base.

This approach is pragmatic for our price monitoring activities, given the uncertainty surrounding the scope, efficient cost and timing of the hydrogen augmentation program. It also addresses our broader concerns surrounding GAWB's ability to deliver its 2025-30 capital program more generally.

Ultimately, it is for GAWB and its customers to decide whether such an approach should be used in its commercial pricing framework. Should GAWB seek to implement such an arrangement, the approach would go some way to ensuring customers do not bear the cost of investments that do not proceed, and ensuring GAWB is adequately funded to deliver important investments.

9.7 Prudent discounts

GAWB has previously provided discounts to specific customers in limited and targeted situations. For example, customers that are receiving treated water but only require raw water may be allowed a discount for the value of the water treatment costs. This is not a controversial pricing practice and GAWB does not financially benefit from prudent discounts.²⁷²

We understand that during the monitoring period there may be cases where raw water will now be accessible due to the network augmentations. While we have not incorporated these changes into our draft report, we request further information from GAWB to account for this within its appropriate prices.

9.8 QCA conclusions

We have not been asked to make recommendations on GAWB's pricing and commercial practices in this price monitoring review.

As a general observation, we consider GAWB's pricing and commercial practices should be sufficiently flexible to accommodate uncertain and growing demand, particularly arising from the emerging hydrogen industry. We also understand this demand will be ramping up over time.

For the purposes of our monitoring framework, we propose to adopt a limited ex post revenue trueup to accommodate revenue and pricing uncertainty arising from GAWB's substantial capital program.

²⁷² GAWB does not receive any tax benefit from prudent discounts.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

10 Appropriate prices

In this chapter, we set out our draft position on GAWB's appropriate prices. The referral requires us to determine appropriate prices that are consistent with GAWB's allowable revenue (Chapter 8) and forecast demand (Chapter 3).²⁷³

We also provide information on the price impacts (section 10.4).

10.1 Allowable revenue by zone

To determine appropriate prices we need to allocate allowable costs and revenue adjustments to establish the allowable revenue for each zone. This allocation is outlined in Table 39.

Pricing zone	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
	Stora	ge			
Awoonga	38.26	41.18	44.39	47.15	49.68
	Adm	in			
Corporate	7.65	8.50	9.22	9.96	11.48
	Deliv	ery			
Awoonga to Toolooa	14.84	16.67	20.84	24.81	25.80
Toolooa to Fitzsimmons	4.05	4.07	4.34	4.54	4.78
Boyne Raw	0.42	0.82	1.14	1.17	1.21
Central Raw	2.01	2.09	2.14	2.20	2.27
Fitzsimmons to Gladstone	0.78	0.82	0.84	0.87	0.90
QAL	0.99	1.37	1.76	1.80	1.78
Fishermans Landing Raw	0.24	0.25	0.26	0.27	0.49
Gladstone WTP	13.48	12.61	13.48	14.07	14.69
Gladstone City	0.28	0.27	0.28	0.29	0.30
Gladstone WTP to South Gladstone	3.20	3.32	3.48	3.65	3.77
Calliope	1.29	1.36	1.42	1.46	1.50
South Gladstone to Toolooa	0.78	0.80	0.83	0.85	1.35
Boyne Potable	1.03	1.28	1.56	1.61	1.66

Table 39: QCA draft allowable revenue by zone (\$ million, nominal)

²⁷³ Referral notice.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Pricing zone	2025-26	2026-27	2027-28	2028-29	2029-30
Benaraby	0.57	0.58	0.60	0.67	0.77
Yarwun WTP	2.15	2.17	2.37	2.59	2.68
North Industrial Potable	1.29	1.33	1.35	1.35	1.38
Fishermans Landing Potable	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.06
Boat Creek to East End	1.95	3.11	3.23	3.34	3.48
Boat Creek to Euroa Circuit	1.39	4.03	5.55	5.82	6.12
Euroa Circuit to Aldoga	0.04	1.06	2.18	2.27	2.35
Fishermans Landing Raw 2	0.02	0.02	0.72	1.49	1.54
Northern Raw Extension	0.17	4.58	9.66	10.63	11.20
Curtis Island	9.62	9.82	10.02	10.14	10.19
Total allowable revenue	106.57	122.15	141.71	153.06	161.43

Source: QCA analysis.

10.2 Smoothing

After establishing the allowable revenue for each zone, we are then required by the referral to generate smoothed prices for each zone.²⁷⁴ This means prices increase by forecast CPI growth during the period, to recover GAWB's allowable revenue on a net present value basis.

10.3 Appropriate prices

The referral notice directs us to consider the appropriate prices for the monitoring period and then monitor how they compare to actual prices charged in a mid-term review.²⁷⁵ In calculating forecast appropriate prices, we have applied GAWB's pricing practices as outlined in Chapter 10. Our estimates of appropriate prices are presented in Table 40.

Pricing zone	Storage	Storage	Delivery	Delivery	Admin
	Storage access (\$/contracte d ML)	Storage volumetric (\$/metered ML)	Delivery access (\$/reserved MDQ)	Delivery volumetric (\$/metered ML)	(\$/contracted ML)
Awoonga	633.75	2.21	-	_	51.41
Awoonga to Toolooa	633.75	2.21	10,588.47	51.30	154.23
Toolooa to Fitzsimmons	633.75	2.21	13,145.93	51.30	154.23

Table 40: QCA draft position on GAWB's appropriate prices

 ²⁷⁴ The referral notice definition of 'appropriate prices' requires GAWB's prices to be smoothed over the price monitoring period. Referral notice, section F- Appropriate prices.
 ²⁷⁵ Referral notice, B(1.1) and C(1.1-2).
Pricing zone	Storage	Storage	Delivery	Delivery	Admin
Boyne Raw	633.75	2.21	35,460.55	51.30	154.23
Central Raw	633.75	2.21	16,247.74	51.30	154.23
Fitzsimmons to Gladstone	633.75	2.21	13,978.11	51.30	154.23
QAL	633.75	2.21	17,391.16	51.30	154.23
Fishermans Landing Raw	633.75	2.21	22,704.22	52.06	154.23
Gladstone WTP	633.75	2.21	35,713.11	174.15	359.88
Gladstone City	633.75	2.21	39,823.56	174.15	359.88
Gladstone WTP to South Gladstone	633.75	2.21	42,742.02	174.22	359.88
Calliope	633.75	2.21	63,266.65	198.19	359.88
South Gladstone to Toolooa	633.75	2.21	52,548.13	179.16	359.88
Boyne Potable	633.75	2.21	71,117.23	179.58	359.88
Benaraby	633.75	2.21	92,171.60	215.79	359.88
Yarwun WTP	633.75	2.21	45,417.00	162.87	359.88
North Industrial Potable	633.75	2.21	56,113.98	166.62	359.88
Fishermans Landing Potable	633.75	2.21	100,974.57	166.62	359.88
Boat Creek to East End	633.75	2.21	188,710.97	319.22	359.88
Boat Creek to Euroa Circuit	633.75	2.21	356,341.31	375.10	154.23
Euroa Circuit to Aldoga	633.75	2.21	450,246.11	375.10	154.23
Fishermans Landing Raw 2	633.75	2.21	215,512.99	302.52	154.23
Northern Raw Extension	633.75	2.21	175,205.92	302.52	154.23
Curtis Island	633.75	2.21	194,919.21	483.18	359.88

Note: Delivery access charges are shown as monthly amounts. The annual price per reserved MDQ is 12 times the monthly amount. Source: QCA analysis.

Table 41 compares our estimated appropriate prices with those submitted by GAWB, on the same comparative basis as outlined in GAWB's submission.²⁷⁶ Our estimated average prices are lower than those proposed by GAWB in all zones.

Pricing zone	GAWB proposal	QCA draft	Difference (%)
Awoonga	748.08	686.98	(8)
Awoonga to Toolooa	1,296.02	1,271.83	(2)
Toolooa to Fitzsimmons	1,408.39	1,377.42	(2)
Boyne Raw	2,505.98	2,376.34	(5)
Central Raw	1,539.77	1,496.73	(3)
Fitzsimmons to Gladstone	1,446.09	1,413.59	(2)
QAL	1,597.28	1,553.71	(3)
Fisherman's Landing Raw	2,101.33	2,012.91	(4)
Gladstone WTP	2,818.96	2,723.56	(3)
Gladstone City	2,985.16	2,882.60	(3)
Gladstone WTP to South Gladstone	3,170.16	3,052.14	(4)
Calliope	3,969.95	3,788.88	(5)
South Gladstone to Toolooa	3,615.15	3,469.07	(4)
Boyne Potable	4,449.17	4,232.50	(5)
Benaraby	5,673.22	5,384.63	(5)
Yarwun WTP	3,884.71	3,717.17	(4)
North Industrial Potable	5,041.86	4,258.89	(16)
Fisherman's Landing Potable	9,369.82	8,246.09	(12)
Boat Creek to East End	22,284.28	19,895.72	(11)
Curtis Island	25,104.39	23,649.82	(6)
Boat Creek to Euroa Circuit	17,601.54	12,996.38	(26)
Euroa Circuit to Aldoga	21,049.35	16,083.67	(24)
Fisherman's Landing Raw 2	12,305.76	8,272.68	(33)
Northern Raw Extension	10,839.96	6,947.52	(36)

Table 41: Averag	e price pe	r contracted	ML for	2025-26
------------------	------------	--------------	---------------	---------

Sources: GAWB sub 1, p 123; QCA analysis.

²⁷⁶ GAWB sub 1, pp 121-122.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Table 42 compares our draft findings with GAWB's current prices to show the impact on customers, using the same comparative basis as outlined in GAWB's submission.²⁷⁷ Our estimates of appropriate prices are higher than those that currently applied by GAWB, except for the North Industrial Potable zone where our estimated average price is around 1% lower than GAWB's current average price. Prices in all other zones are forecast to increase by between 7% and 81%. We have considered the drivers of these increases in section 10.4.

Pricing zone	Current	QCA draft	Change (%)
Awoonga	527.22	686.98	30
Awoonga to Toolooa	1,005.71	1,271.83	26
Toolooa to Fitzsimmons	1,098.58	1,377.42	25
Boyne Raw	1,312.59	2,376.34	81
Central Raw	1,204.54	1,496.73	24
Fitzsimmons to Gladstone	1,127.82	1,413.59	25
QAL	1,225.62	1,553.71	27
Fisherman's Landing Raw	1,626.11	2,012.91	24
Gladstone WTP	2,289.25	2,723.56	19
Gladstone City	2,439.23	2,882.60	18
Gladstone WTP to South Gladstone	2,565.82	3,052.14	19
Calliope	3,207.29	3,788.88	18
South Gladstone to Toolooa	3,006.16	3,469.07	15
Boyne Potable	3,410.28	4,232.50	24
Benaraby	4,624.75	5,384.63	16
Yarwun WTP	3,481.47	3,717.17	7
North Industrial Potable	4,302.31	4,258.89	(1)
Fisherman's Landing Potable	7,682.19	8,246.09	7
Boat Creek to East End	13,707.99	19,895.72	45
Curtis Island	21,910.86	23,649.82	8

Table 42: Average price comparison (2025-26 dollars)

Note: The current average price is based on the prices applying in the 2024-25 financial year (escalated to 2025-26 dollars).

Sources: GAWB sub 1. p 123; QCA analysis.

²⁷⁷ GAWB sub 1, pp 122-123.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Price impacts 10.4

As part of our price monitoring investigation, stakeholders questioned whether GAWB's proposed prices and pricing zones were equitable, and raised concerns with the level of transparency provided by GAWB.²⁷⁸

In response to this, we have looked at the price impacts on existing customers. This provides stakeholders with information on how the allocation of GAWB's allowable costs impacts customers across its network.

We expect GAWB will provide more detail and greater transparency to its customers regarding the drivers for price increases for each of its customers.

Drivers of price impacts – existing customers by zone 10.4.1

This analysis has been developed to demonstrate how increases in GAWB's zonal prices are being influenced by the following factors, relative to GAWB's current average prices²⁷⁹:

- Increasing costs the allowable cost increases identified in this draft report that are not allocated to one of the four new pricing zones. This represents the price impacts if there was no 'new customer demand'.
- Reliability GAWB proposes to invest to maintain its network reliability (section 9.3.1) in light of increasing forecast demand. We identify this impact on GAWB's existing pricing zones.
- New customer demand referring to the price impact arising from increases in forecast demand driven by renewable energy and hydrogen projects.

The following two figures shows the average price in 2025-26 implied by our draft position on GAWB's appropriate prices, decomposed into the abovementioned components.²⁸⁰

²⁷⁸ Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 2-4; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 1, 3; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 4; ConocoPhillips, sub 25, p 2; Fortescue, sub 26, pp 2-3. ²⁷⁹ That is, GAWB's 2024-25 average prices escalated to 2025-26 dollars.

²⁸⁰ For presentational purposes, we have grouped GAWB's existing pricing zones for average prices up \$3,500/ML (Figure 15); and for average prices above \$3,500/ML (Figure 16).



Figure 15: Average price per contracted ML for 2025-26, composition by factors





Source: QCA analysis.

Our analysis shows that:

- prices for existing customers are expected to increase substantially due to GAWB's increasing costs; however, these increases are tempered to an extent by forecast new customer demand, which spreads those higher costs over a larger demand base
- forecast new customer demand is not increasing prices for existing customers. The allowable costs allocated to the new pricing zones (capital expenditure and incremental operating expenditure) are recovered entirely by customers in the new pricing zones, and do not affect prices for existing customers.

Table 43 identifies the impact of each factor, ultimately reflecting the appropriate prices of this draft report.

Pricing zone				New custom <u>er</u>	Appropriate pr <u>ice</u>
	Current	Increasing costs	Reliability	demand	
Awoonga	527.2	2 170.44	10.07	(20.75)	686.98
Awoonga to					1,271.83
Toolooa	1,005.7	1 223.03	87.81	(44.71)	
Toolooa to					1,377.42
Fitzsimmons	1,098.5	8 240.12	87.82	(49.10)	
Boyne Raw	1,312.5	9 1,020.40	88.05	(44.69)	2,376.34
Central Raw	1,204.5	4 265.18	87.84	(60.84)	1,496.73
Fitzsimmons to					1,413.59
Gladstone	1,127.8	2 247.10	87.82	(49.15)	
QAL	1,225.6	2 289.40	87.84	(49.15)	1,553.71
Fishermans					2,012.91
Landing Raw	1,626.1	1 359.70	87.93	(60.83)	
Gladstone WTP	2,289.2	5 407.30	87.87	(60.86)	2,723.56
Gladstone City	2,439.2	3 416.35	87.88	(60.86)	2,882.60
Gladstone WTP					3,052.14
to South			07.04		
Gladstone	2,565.8	2 460.32	87.91	(61.91)	
Calliope	3,207.2	9 553.45	88.04	(61.90)	3,788.88
South					3,469.07
Gladstone to	2.00/ 4	424.07	07.05		
100100a	3,006.1	6 436.87	87.95	(61.91)	
Boyne Potable	3,410.2	8 796.02	88.10	(61.90)	4,232.50
Benaraby	4,624.7	5 733.55	88.23	(61.89)	5,384.63
Yarwun WTP	3,481.4	7 341.48	88.03	(193.81)	3,717.17

Table 43: Average price per contracted ML for 2025-26

Pricing zone				New customer	Appropriate price
	Current In	creasing costs	Reliability	demand	
North					4,258.89
Industrial					
Potable	4,302.31	65.67	88.14	(197.23)	
Fishermans					8,246.09
Landing					
Potable	7,682.19	1,439.68	88.96	(964.74)	
Boat Creek to					19,895.72
East End	13,707.99	13,346.13	93.47	(7,251.88)	
Curtis Island	21,910.86	1,709.90	90.79	(61.74)	23,649.82

Source: QCA analysis.



Glossary

ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
AER	Australian Energy Regulator
BPIC	Best Practice Industry Conditions
сарех	capital expenditure
CPI	consumer price index
DRP	debt risk premium
EEPL	East End pipeline
ERA	Economic Regulation Authority
ESC	Essential Services Commission
ESCOSA	Essential Services Commission of South Australia
FGP	Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline
GAWB	Gladstone Area Water Board
GL	gigalitre
GRC	Gladstone Regional Council
GWTP	Gladstone water treatment plant
ICRC	Independent Competition and Regulatory Commission
ICT	Information and communications technology
IPART	Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal
IDC	interest during construction
MCA	multi-criteria analysis
MDQ	maximum daily quantity
ML	megalitre
MRP	market risk premium
MYFER	mid-year financial and economic review
NPV	net present value
OLS	offline storage facility
opex	operating cost expenditure
OTTER	Office of the Tasmanian Economic Regulator
price monitoring period	the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030
QCA	Queensland Competition Authority
QCA Act	the Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

.



QTC	Queensland Treasury Corporation
RAB	regulated asset base
RBA	Reserve Bank of Australia
Referral	the amending referral notice and directions issued by the Treasurer and Minister for Trade and Investment on 23 May 2024 under sections 23A and 24 of the QCA Act
reserved demand	the total quantity of water reserved by GAWB's customers under their contractual arrangements (including any conditional contractual arrangements) and water that is the subject of a water supply proposal provided under GAWB's <i>Queuing Guideline (Source Capacity)</i> , as defined in the referral
RFI	request for information
SMP	statement on monetary policy
STNA	short-term network augmentation
Synergies	Synergies Economic Consulting
S, SS	section, subsection
WACC	weighted average cost of capital
Water security assets	the FGP and all Water Allocations transported to the Network via the FGP, as defined in the referral
WPI	wage price index
WTP	water treatment plant

.

.

* e. .

111

на. На 1



References

- Aither, <u>Prudency and efficiency review Review of Gladstone Area Water Board's forecast capital</u> <u>and operating expenditure for 2025-30</u>, October 2024.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), <u>Consumer Price Index, Australia</u>, June quarter 2024, Table 1: All Groups, Index Numbers and Percentage Changes, ABS website, accessed 10 October 2024.
- Australian Energy Regulator (AER), *Rate of Return Instrument*, February 2023.
- Australian Energy Regulator (AER), <u>Rate of Return Instrument Explanatory Statement</u>, February 2023.
- Bleijie J, Mickelberg B and O'Connor S, <u>Construction productivity boosted with BPIC pause</u>, media statement, 14 November 2024, Queensland Government, viewed 15 November 2024.
- BP, <u>3O 2024 financial results</u>, presentation slides and script, n.d.
- ----<u>Hydrogen</u>, BP website, accessed 15 November 2024.
- CS Energy, '<u>Statement on the future of Callide B power station</u>', 27 October 2019, CS Energy website, 2024, accessed 4 November 2024.
- '<u>Callide Unit C4 returns to service | CS Energy'</u>, 2 September 2024, CS Energy website, 2024, accessed 4 November 2024.
- Department of Regional Development, Manufacturing and Water, <u>Guidelines on Safety Assessments</u> <u>for Referable Dams</u>, version 8, Queensland Government, November 2023.
- Deloitte, Price investigation: Regional Cost Pressures Report, May 2024.
- Essential Services Commission of South Australia (ESCOSA), <u>SA Water Regulatory Determination –</u> <u>Statement of reasons</u>, final determination, June 2024.
- Gladstone Area Water Board (GAWB), <u>Project closure report, Awoonga Dam conduit inspection</u>, 16 February 2022.
- —<u>Annual Report 2022-23</u>, 2023.
- <u>— Annual Report 2023-24</u>, 2024.
- Independent Competition and Regulatory Commission (ICRC), <u>Regulated water and sewerage</u> <u>services 2023-28</u>, final report, May 2023.
- Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (IPART) NSW, <u>WACC calculator</u> (*Spreadsheet model true-up calculator*), November 2021, IPART, accessed 5 August 2024.
- ----WACC Biannual Update, fact sheet, February 2024.
- Kerr P and Macdonald-Smith A, <u>'Labor's hydrogen dream stalls as Fortescue slims down H2 vision</u>', AFR, 17 July 2024, accessed 15 November 2024.
- KPMG, Gladstone Area Water Board expenditure review, May 2020.
- Murphy B and Condon M, '<u>Fortescue green hydrogen partnership with AGL at former Liddell coal</u> <u>power station mothballed</u>', *ABC News*, 19 July 2024, accessed 15 November 2024.

- Office of the Tasmanian Economic regulator (OTTER), <u>Investigation into TasWater's prices and</u> <u>services for the period 1 July to 30 June 2026</u>, final report, May 2022.
- Origin Energy, <u>Update on Hunter valley Hydrogen Hub</u>, 3 October 2024, Origin website, accessed 15 November 2024.
- Orsted, Interim report for the first half year of 2024 increased earnings from offshore sites, progress on our business plan, and commissioning of around 2 GW renewable capacity, 15 August 2024, Orsted website, accessed 15 November 2024.

Productivity Commission, Australia's Urban Water Sector, inquiry report no 55, August 2011.

- Queensland Competition Authority (QCA), QCA, <u>Rural irrigation price review 2020-24, Part A:</u> <u>Overview</u>, final report, January 2020.
- ----Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-25 Part A: Overview, final report, May 2020.
- ---- Inflation forecasting, position paper, October 2021.
- -----<u>Seqwater bulk water price review 2022-26,</u> final report, March 2022.
- -----<u>Rate of return review</u>, final report, version 4, September 2024.
- ----<u>Rural irrigation price review 2025-29: Seqwater</u>, draft report, June 2024.

Queensland Government, *Policy for fish stocking in Queensland*, December 2020.

- —<u>Queensland Energy and Jobs Plan</u>, September 2022.
- <u>Common user infrastructure assessment principles</u>, Queensland Treasury website, 2023, accessed 7 November 2024.
- —<u>Standard Best Practice Industry Conditions</u> Building Construction Projects 2023–2027, March 2024.
- ----Budget Strategy and Outlook, Budget Paper No. 2, Queensland Budget 2024-25.
- Reuters, <u>Shell shelves Norway hydrogen project due to lack of demand</u>, 24 September 2024, Reuters website, accessed 14 November 2024.

Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA), *Statement on Monetary Policy*, November 2024.

Appendix A: Referral notice

The referral notice was issued by the Treasurer and Minister for Trade and Investment on 14 December 2023 and subsequently amended on 23 May 2024. Both referral notices are available on our <u>website</u>.

QUEENSLAND COMPETITION AUTHORITY ACT 1997

Section 23A(6)

AMENDING REFERRAL

- A. Section 23A(6) Amendment to Referral to the Authority to undertake a Price Monitoring Investigation in relation to GAWB
 - (1.1) Under section 23A(6) of the Act, I amend the referral given to the Authority on 14 December 2023, referring the Monopoly Business Activities of GAWB for a price monitoring investigation.
 - (1.2) The referral is amended and restated so that the provisions of the referral are as set out in Schedule 1 to this Amending Referral.
- B. Section 23A(7) Reasons
 - (1.3) The referral is being amended to exclude consideration of the costs associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone Pipeline from the price monitoring investigation. The pricing impacts of costs associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone Pipeline can be considered with greater precision in a subsequent investigation undertaken by the Authority closer to the commissioning of the Fitzroy to Gladstone Pipeline, which is expected in early 2026.
 - (1.4) The extended timeframe will also allow for greater certainty of future demand.

QUEENSLAND COMPETITION AUTHORITY ACT 1997

Section 23A and Section 24

REFERRAL

A. Section 23A – Referral to the Authority to undertake a Price Monitoring Investigation in relation to GAWB

- (1.1) Under section 23A of the Act, I refer the Monopoly Business Activities to the Authority for a price monitoring investigation (referred to as the Investigation).
- (1.2) The period for the Investigation is the Price Monitoring Period.

B. Section 24 – Directions

(1.1) Under section 24 of the Act, I direct the Authority to consider the Stated Matters in conducting the Investigation, to the extent relevant, noting that the Stated Matter in Section C(1.2) will only be able to be considered and reported on by the Authority after 30 June 2028.

C. The Stated Matters

- (1.1) The Appropriate Prices for the Price Monitoring Period, excluding Water Security Assets.
- (1.2) How the Appropriate Prices compare to actual prices charged by GAWB over the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2028.
- (1.3) The Queensland Government's Renewable Energy Targets as detailed in the Queensland Energy and Jobs Plan.
- (1.4) The Queensland Government's <u>Common User Infrastructure Assessment</u> <u>Principles</u>.

D. Consultation

(1.1) Under section 12(3), I direct the Authority to undertake an open consultation process with all relevant parties.

E. Timing

- (1.1) I direct the Authority under section 24(1) to report the results of the Investigation in accordance with the following timetable:
 - (a) A Draft Report with respect to the Authority's Investigation by no later than 29 November 2024;
 - (b) A Final Report with respect to the Authority's Investigation by no later than 30 April 2025;
- (1.2) I require the Authority under section 23A(3)(b) to report the results of its

F. Definitions and Interpretations

In this Referral these terms have the following meanings:

Term	Meaning
Allowable Costs	(a) Prudent and efficient operational, maintenance and administrative costs, including allowances for working capital and tax, where applicable.
	(b) Forecast expenditure for prudent and efficient operational, maintenance and administrative costs, assessed using a base-step-trend approach, focusing on necessary step changes of expenditure expected to occur during the period. Base-year operating expenditures are to be escalated using Forecast Inflation. Calculated considering issues of materiality between forecast operating and maintenance expenditure in aggregate.
	(c) Prudent and efficient capital expenditure
	(d) Prudent and efficient costs associated with catchment management.
	(e) Prudent and efficient recreational facilities costs.
	(f) An Appropriate Rate of Return on the RAB.
	(g) An appropriate allowance for the depreciation of the RAB assets determined consistent with the Authority's previous approach in the Authority's Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-2025 Final Report.
	(h) An allowance for tax, where applicable.
	(i) Costs required to meet regulatory obligations and deliver agreed service levels taking into consideration the strategic and operational plans approved by the responsible Minister under the Water Act and the Water Supply Act.
Allowable Revenue	Revenue received from providing Monopoly Business Activities.
Appropriate Prices	Prices that are consistent with the following:
	(a) Allowable Costs;
	(b) Reserved Demand.
	Prices that are:
	(a) smoothed over the Price Monitoring Period; and
	(b) allow GAWB sufficient Allowable Revenue to recover the Allowable Costs of providing the Monopoly Business Activities.
	Appropriate Prices should include any proposed Network augmentation or expansion capital expenditure forecast to occur during the Price Monitoring Period, where that Network

Term	Meaning
	augmentation or expansion is sized, configured, priced, and timed to:
	 (a) Service 2030 forecast Reserved Demand and any reasonably expected future demand that would make use of the Network; and
	(b) Not be inconsistent with the Queensland Government's Common User Infrastructure Assessment Principles.
Appropriate Rate of Return	A Weighted Average Cost of Capital based on the methodologies outlined in the Authority's <u>Rate of Return</u> <u>Review</u> Final Report 2023.
	For estimating the cost of debt, a 10-year transition from the 'on-the-day' approach to the 'trailing average' approach (consistent with the Australian Energy Regulator's transition arrangements) applies.
Authority	Queensland Competition Authority
Forecast Inflation	Inflation based on the methodology outlined in the QCA's Inflation Forecasting Position Paper.
GAWB	Gladstone Area Water Board
Monopoly Business Activities	 Bulk water storage, including water storage for another person. Bulk water delivery services.
	Bulk water treatment services.
	 Supplying bulk water to another person, other than supplying bottled or containerised water.
Network	GAWB's bulk water delivery infrastructure network in the Gladstone region which includes Awoonga Dam and more than 200 kilometres of bulk water pipelines, treatment plants, quality testing facilities, raw and potable water pumping stations, raw and potable water reservoirs, and offline water storage facilities.
Price Monitoring Period	1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030.

.

Term	Meaning
RAB	Regulated Asset Base
	(a) The opening RAB as at 1 July 2020° is not to be optimised and have the remaining lives as used by the Authority in the Authority's Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-2025 Final Report.
	(b) The opening RAB as of 1 July 2025 determined by:
	 Assessing the prudency and efficiency of capital expenditure from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025, based on an appropriate sample of capital projects.
	 Rolling forward the RAB from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025, in accordance with the methodology previously applied by the Authority in the Authority's Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring 2020-2025 Final Report, adjusted for any findings in (i) above.
	iii. Adjusted for depreciation and actual inflation over the period.
	(c) The RAB for the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2030 forecast:
	 Including an appropriate allowance for prudent and efficient capital expenditure, based on an appropriate sample of capital projects, focusing on the projects with a material impact on the RAB in aggregate.
	*Noting that for the 2019-20 year the capital expenditure used to determine the RAB will be adjusted to take into account GAWB's actual capital expenditure.
Referral	This referral notice issued by the Treasurer to the Authority, under Section 23A and Section 24 of the QCA Act, for the Authority to conduct a price monitoring investigation relating to the Monopoly Business Activities.
Reserved Demand	The total quantity of water reserved by GAWB's customers under their contractual arrangements (including any conditional contractual arrangements) and water that is the subject of a water supply proposal provided under GAWB's <i>Queuing Guideline (Source Capacity)</i> .
Stated Matters	Those matters listed in Section D
Treasurer	Treasurer of Queensland
Water Act	Water Act 2000
Water Allocation	An authority granted under section 146 or section 147 of the Water Act to take water from an available water resource, managed under a Resource Operations Licence in an approved water plan area (in accordance with Chapter 2, Part 2, Division 3 of the Water Act).
Water Security Assets	The Fitzroy to Gladstone Pipeline (including related Water Allocations) and all associated costs of operating and

Term	Meaning
	maintaining the Water Security Assets.
Water Supply Act	Water Supply (Safety and Reliability Act) 2008

toria toria

.



Appendix B: Declaration

QUEENSLAND COMPETITION AUTHORITY ACT 1997 SECTIONS 19, 23 and 24 MINISTERS' DECLARATION AND REFERRAL NOTICE

As the Premier and the Treasurer of Queensland, we hereby declare under Section 19 of the *Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997* that the following government business activities undertaken by the Gladstone Area Water Board be declared to be government monopoly business activities:

- (i) bulk water storage, including water storage for another person;
- (ii) bulk water delivery services;
- (iii) bulk water treatment services;
- (iv) supplying bulk water to another person, other than supplying bottled or containerised water.

As the Premier and the Treasurer of Queensland, we hereby refer under section 23 of the *Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997* the declared government monopoly business activities to the Queensland Competition Authority for the following investigations:

- (a) an initial investigation about the pricing practices relating to the declared activities; and
- (b) investigations for monitoring the pricing practices relating to the declared activities.

Under Section 24 of the *Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997* we direct the QCA in relation to this referral to:

- (a) report the results of the initial investigation to Ministers within three months of this notice; and
- (b) monitor prices included in contractual arrangements entered into during, and after, the period of the QCA initial investigation.

Peter Beattie Premier

Date Signed: ..

Date Signed: 27/8/00

David Hamill

reasurer

Appendix C: Stakeholder submissions and QCA responses

The submissions we received are listed below (Table 44 and Table 45). They are numbered for reference purposes only – the numbers are used in the footnotes in the report. Table 46 sets out our responses to key issues raised in submissions. The submissions are available on our website.

		• •	
	Submission number	Type of submission	Date
GAWB	1	Pricing submission – public version	May 2024
	2	Pricing submission – confidential version	May 2024
	3	Attachment 1 – Referral and direction notice	May 2024
	4	Attachment 2 – Frontier Economics report, <i>Real price escalators</i> , May 2024	May 2024
	5	Attachment 3 – Frontier Economics report, Estimation of Gladstone Area Water Board's productivity growth rate, May 2024	May 2024
	6	Attachment 4 – Synergies Economic Consulting report, <i>GAWB's WACC for 2025-30 price monitoring</i> <i>period</i> , May 2024	May 2024
	7	Attachment 5 – Marsh Pty Ltd, Gladstone Area Water Board report, <i>Insurance pricing report for the period</i> <i>commencing 1 July 2025</i> , May 2024	May 2024

Table 44: Gladstone Area Water Board pricing submission

Table 45: Submissions received in response to GAWB's pricing submission

Stakeholder	Submission number	Date
Cement Australia Holdings Pty Ltd	20	2 August 2024
Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company	24	15 August 2024
Colin Bryce MP	22	13 August 2024
Conoco Phillips	25	16 August 2024
Fortescue Hydrogen Systems Australia Pty Ltd (Fortescue)	26	16 August 2024
Gladstone Regional Council	21	8 August 2024
Queensland Treasury Corporation	15	27 July 2024 (updated 2 August 2024)

Stakeholder	Submission number	Date
	16	24 July 2024
Resident 1	8	3 June 2024
Resident 2	9	3 June 2024
Resident 3	10	3 June 2024
Resident 4	11	3 June 2024
Resident 5	12	3 June 2024
Resident 6	13	3 June 2024
Resident 7	14	3 June 2024
Rio Tinto Aluminium Limited	18	31 July 2024
	19	31 July 2024
Southern Oil/Northern Oil Refineries	17	31 July 2024
Submission withdrawn	23	14 August 2024



Table 46: QCA r	esponses to	stakeholder	comments
-----------------	-------------	-------------	----------

lssue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
Price increases	Stakeholders raised concerns over the significant price increases submitted by GAWB and the impact this would have on households and businesses, the competitiveness of local industries and future investment. ²⁸¹ The increases were particularly concerning where there was the possibility of further increases within the price monitoring period due to the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline (FGP). ²⁸²	We have developed appropriate prices consistent with the terms of the referral. The referral excludes the costs associated with the FGP from GAWB's allowable costs. Due to the size of the investment and the current uncertain conditions 'these costs can be considered with greater precision in a subsequent investigation closer to the commissioning of the FGP, which is expected in early 2026'. ²⁸³
Matters for us to consider	Stakeholders said we must consider GAWB's submission having regard to a range of factors, including economic and regional development, facilitating socially desirable investment, sustainable development, affordability and customer hardship. ²⁸⁴	Refer to Appendix D for our consideration of section 26 of the QCA Act matters.
Competitive procurement	Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company said benchmarking should be considered, to demonstrate that GAWB determines prices as though it is a competitive supplier. ²⁸⁵	We have assessed the prudency and efficiency of GAWB's proposed operating costs (Chapter 4) and actual capital expenditure (Chapter 5). This included consideration of procurement for a number of cost elements, which involved tendering processes.

²⁸⁵ Cement Australia, sub 20, p 5; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 3.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

²⁸¹ Northern Oil Refineries, sub 17, p 1; Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 2; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 2; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, pp 2–3; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 1; Fortescue, sub 26, p 1.

²⁸² Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 4; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 4; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 2; C. Bryce, sub 22, p 6; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 2. ²⁸³ Amending referral notice, p 1.

 ²⁸⁴ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 3; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 2; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, pp 1-3; Fortescue, sub 26, p 3.

lssue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
Forecast demand	Stakeholders considered forecast demand associated with the hydrogen and renewables sector was uncertain and said it was important to consider the impacts this could have on prices and price certainty. ²⁸⁶	We have considered these matters within our proposed capital expenditure true-up (Chapters 3 and 9).
Excessive operating costs	While recognising changes in the local labour market, stakeholders considered GAWB's submitted labour costs excessive, ²⁸⁷ with Gladstone Regional Council stating that significant increases to remuneration expenditure failed to consider the flow-on impact to customers. ²⁸⁸	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapter 4.
	Gladstone Regional Council considered that a higher efficiency target should be applied to controllable costs, to encourage GAWB to minimise costs in servicing the Gladstone region. ²⁸⁹ It also stated that we must consider the prudency and efficacy of additional expenditure in 2023-24 and 2024-25 (in addition to step changes to the base year), given the cumulative and compounding effect of such increases. ²⁹⁰	
Exclusion of FGP costs	Stakeholders were concerned that the submitted operating costs included costs associated with the FGP and stated that we should not allow for the double-recovery of such costs. ²⁹¹	Our consideration of this matter is at Chapter 4.

²⁸⁶ Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 4-5; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 4; C. Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6.
²⁸⁷ Northern Oil Refineries, sub 17, p 1; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.
²⁸⁸ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.
²⁸⁹ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.
²⁹⁰ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3.
²⁹¹ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 4; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 2-3.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Issue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
Capital expenditure	Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical requested that the scope, standard and timing of capital works, including the geographical location of new or augmented assets, be reviewed. ²⁹²	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapter 5 and Appendix E.
Allocation of new capital expenditure	Rio Tinto, Gladstone Regional Council and ConocoPhillips sought further clarity on how capital expenditure would be allocated among customers and said expenditure associated with meeting the demand of new customers should be excluded from prices for existing customers, the council and the region's households and businesses. ²⁹³	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapters 9 and 10.
Allocation of risk	Rio Tinto said that GAWB bears little to no risk for inefficient capital allocation and was of the view that where capital projects have benefits beyond what is required by the users, GAWB should be required to fund the excess. ²⁹⁴	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapters 7, 9 and 10.
Rate of return	Gladstone Regional Council considered that a capital structure of 60% should be applied, consistent with regulatory guidance for other water utilities. ²⁹⁵ On the cost of debt, it stated that the QCA's preferred approach of using a simple average should be applied. ²⁹⁶	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapter 7.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

²⁹² Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 3.
²⁹³ Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 2-3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 3; ConocoPhillips, sub 25, p 2.
²⁹⁴ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 5.
²⁹⁵ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 4.
²⁹⁶ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 4.

Issue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
Rate of return	QTC said that estimating the cost of debt using a simple trailing average would not provide GAWB with correct compensation when it was expecting to make large new investments in the upcoming price monitoring period. QTC was of the view that a weighted trailing average (with weights based on annual changes in forecast benchmark debt) was appropriate and consistent with the cost of debt transition requirement in the referral notice. ²⁹⁷	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapter 7.
	QTC considered that our preferred approach for extrapolating the cost of debt to 10-years created downward bias and we should instead undertake a linear extrapolation of the RBA's 7-year and 10-year BBB total yields. ²⁹⁸	
	QTC stated that an annuity-based true-up should be implemented to account for mismatches between the actual trailing average and the trailing average set for the price monitoring period. ²⁹⁹	
Form of regulation and review triggers	Gladstone Regional Council was of the view that the deadband on water delivery revenue of ±10% should be retained. ³⁰⁰	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapter 9.
	Regarding review triggers, Gladstone Regional Council said the current materiality threshold (15% of revenue) should remain in the absence of further information on the make-up	

²⁹⁷ Queensland Treasury Corporation, sub 15, pp 1, 4-7, 11-15.
²⁹⁸ Queensland Treasury Corporation, sub 15, pp 2, 8-9.
²⁹⁹ Queensland Treasury Corporation, sub 15, pp 2, 10.
³⁰⁰ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

lssue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
	of aggregate revenue and the timeframes for trigger events to be identified and adjustments to pricing made. ³⁰¹	
Pricing practices – pricing structure	Stakeholders questioned whether the submitted prices and pricing zones were equitable and raised concerns with the level of transparency provided. ³⁰² Cement Australia did not consider it appropriate that GAWB's pricing model effectively penalises customers for reducing	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapters 9 and 10.
	water consumption by increasing prices. ³⁰³	
Pricing practices – pricing structure	Gladstone Regional Council and Rio Tinto said that existing users, the council and the region's households and businesses should not have to bear the costs associated with providing services to new customers. ³⁰⁴	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapters 9 and 10.
	On the other hand, Fortescue and Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical questioned whether it was appropriate for new customers to be charged significantly different prices compared to existing customers in a similar delivery location. ³⁰⁵ Fortescue questioned whether it was appropriate for GAWB to create 4 new pricing zones for hydrogen customers who make up no more than 10% of its	



 ³⁰¹ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 4-5.
 ³⁰² Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 2-4; Cement Australia, sub 20, p 3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 1, 3; C Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 4; ConocoPhillips, sub 25, p 2; Fortescue, sub 26, pp 2-3.
 ³⁰³ Cement Australia, sub 20, p 4.
 ³⁰⁴ Rio Tinto, sub 18, pp 2-3; Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, pp 1, 3.
 ³⁰⁵ Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 3; Fortescue, sub 26, p 3.

Issue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
	maximum water supply capacity, ³⁰⁶ while Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company did not consider it necessary for GAWB to modify existing pricing zones to capture its renewable methanol project. ³⁰⁷ Both requested a broader review of the underlying pricing model, ³⁰⁸ including whether alternative models would better support the clean energy transition. ³⁰⁹	
FGP pricing	Stakeholders considered that transparency should have been provided on the expected costs associated with the FGP and the allocation of these costs as part of the current QCA review process (and not a separate process). ³¹⁰	The referral excludes the costs associated with the FGP from GAWB's allowable costs. ³¹¹
Future review	Rio Tinto welcomed GAWB's intention to undertake a review of its pricing structure in the next price monitoring period to deliver simplicity and more transparency but expected the review to deliver benefits to customers. ³¹² Gladstone Regional Council wished to ensure that a cost-reflective price structure remained in place. ³¹³	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapters 9 and 10.
Ancillary charges	Gladstone Regional Council was of the view that any additional revenue GAWB received from applied surcharges	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapters 9 and 10.

³⁰⁶ Fortescue, sub 26, p 3.
³⁰⁷ Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 2.
³⁰⁸ Cement Australia, sub 20, pp 4-5; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, pp 2-4; Fortescue, sub 26, p 4.
³⁰⁹ Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, pp 2-4; Fortescue, sub 26, p 4.
³¹⁰ Rio Tinto, sub 18, p 4; C Bryce MP, sub 22, p 6.
³¹¹ Referral notice (Attachment A).
³¹² Picture 120-5; Company Andrea Company, sub 24, pp 2-4; Fortescue, sub 26, p 4.

³¹² Rio Tinto, sub 18 p 5.
 ³¹³ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 4.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

lssue	Stakeholder comments	QCA response
	on short-term contracts should be returned to customers, noting this was previously recommended by the QCA, and GAWB is already compensated for the relative risk of its customer base through the WACC. ³¹⁴	
FGP not providing water security	There were concerns that the FGP would not address water security concerns where there was an increase in demand from new hydrogen customers. ³¹⁵	Our consideration of these matters is at Chapter 3.
Other matters	Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical questioned whether the Queensland Government's common user infrastructure assessment principles supported the development of competitive industries and stated that GAWB's submitted prices would not support the government's renewable energy target. ³¹⁶	These matters are outside the scope of our investigation.
	Stakeholders considered the minimum usage agreement enforced by Gladstone Regional Council unacceptable and said we should review the pricing policies of GAWB to end this practice. ³¹⁷	

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

³¹⁴ Gladstone Regional Council, sub 21, p 4.
³¹⁵ C Bryce, sub 22, pp 4-5.
³¹⁶ Cement Australia, sub 20, pp 3-4; Cement Australia and Mitsubishi Gas Chemical Company, sub 24, p 2.
³¹⁷ Residents 1-7, sub 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14.

Appendix D: Consideration of section 26 and referral stated matters

We explain how we have considered and had regard to each of the matters in section 26 of the QCA Act and the referral notice (section C), in accordance with section 24(1)(b) of the QCA Act.

Matter		QCA consideration	
Section 26 n	Section 26 matter		
(1)(a)	The need for efficient resource allocation	We form a view on appropriate prices that reflects our assessment of the prudent and efficient costs of supplying bulk water, which is consistent with promoting efficient investment by GAWB and efficient consumption by customers (Chapters 4, 5 and 10).	
(1)(b)	The need to promote competition	Consistent with competitive neutrality principles, GAWB should not have a competitive advantage over private sector firms due to government ownership. In accordance with these principles, we consider appropriate prices based on cost allowances reflecting the tax obligations and return on equity of a benchmark efficient firm (Chapter 7). We also apply revenue offsets to ensure that GAWB's bulk water prices do not recover the costs/revenues of providing other services in potentially competitive markets (for example GAWB's commercial activities using its hatchery facility).	
(1)(c)	The protection of consumers from abuses of monopoly power	Appropriate prices reflect our assessment of the prudent and efficient costs of supplying bulk water (Chapters 4, 5 and 7). This prevents GAWB from earning excessive profits due to its monopoly position.	
(1)(d)(i)	The cost of providing the service in an efficient way, having regard to relevant interstate and international benchmarks	Appropriate prices reflect our assessment of the prudent and efficient costs of supplying bulk water. We have regard to benchmarking, where we consider this to be appropriate, including considering benchmark analysis undertaken to inform potential efficiency gains for opex and	

Matter		QCA consideration
		capex. For instance, we had regard to remuneration benchmarking (section 4.5.1) and efficiency factor benchmarking analysis (section 4.6.2). We also have considered normalised WACC outcomes (Chapter 7).
(1)(d)(ii)	The actual cost of providing the service	Our assessment of the prudency and efficiency of costs was informed by information provided by GAWB about its actual and forecast costs (Chapters 4 and 5).
(1)(d)(iii)	The standard of the service, including quality, reliability and safety	When assessing GAWB's forecast costs, we considered GAWB's operating environment and its regulatory obligations. Our assessment considered whether GAWB could meet the required standards of quality, reliability and safety when delivering bulk water services. Cost reductions are not efficient if they are achieved at the expense of service quality.
(1)(e)	The appropriate rate of return on assets	Our assessment of appropriate prices reflects a rate of return on assets that is calculated in accordance with the parameters in the referral notice, including a return on capital that reflects a benchmark efficient firm (Chapter 7).
(1)(f)	The effect of inflation	Inflation is relevant to several aspects of our assessment, including the rate of return, indexation of the regulatory asset base and cost escalation (for example, Chapter 3). We determined the forecast rate of inflation using our published methodology, as required by the referral notice. We established the opening value for the RAB using the actual rate of inflation (Chapter 6).
(1)(g)	The impact on the environment of prices charged by GAWB	Environmental impacts are generally managed through non-price means. Our assessment of appropriate prices provides for GAWB to recover sufficient revenue to meet its environmental obligations, including compliance with legislation and regulations; for example, costs associated with catchment management and mitigating the impact of Awoonga Dam on native fish populations.
(1)(h)	Considerations of demand management	We have not identified any concerns with demand management during our investigation.
(1)(i)	Social welfare and equity considerations including	We have considered the impact of our recommended prices on customers (Chapter 10),

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

• • •

Matter		QCA consideration	
	community service obligations, the availability of services to consumers and the social impact of pricing practices	noting that GAWB will ultimately decide whether to adopt our findings or set different prices.	
(1)(j)	The need for pricing practices not to discourage socially desirable investment or innovation	Our assessment of appropriate prices supports efficient investment, because they allow GAWB to recover the prudent and efficient costs of providing bulk water services (Chapter 10). As required by the referral notice, we have considered whether GAWB's proposed augmentation capex to enable new hydrogen industry customers is consistent with the Queensland Government's common user infrastructure assessment principles.	
(1)(k)	Legislation and government policies relating to ecologically sustainable development	Appropriate prices enable GAWB to recover the prudent and efficient costs of meeting its regulatory requirements, including its environmental obligations and water security planning requirements (Chapters 4 and 5).	
(1)(I)	Legislation and government policies relating to occupational health and safety and industrial relations	Our findings on forecast opex provide GAWB with sufficient revenue to satisfy occupational health and safety and industrial relations obligations (Chapter 4).	
(1)(m)	Economic and regional development issues, including employment and investment growth	Appropriate prices enable GAWB to recover its prudent and efficient costs over time, while providing it with sufficient revenue to invest efficiently, which benefits businesses and households using the service.	
(1)(n)	Any directions given by the government to GAWB	We take the directions provided to GAWB into account where they are relevant to our assessment, for example the direction to GAWB to exclude all FGP costs from its pricing submission to the QCA.	
(2)	Any water pricing determinations	Not applicable, as there are no water pricing determinations in effect. ³¹⁸	
Referral notice stated matters (section C)			
C.(1.1)	The appropriate prices for the price monitoring period, excluding water security assets	Our draft report forms a view on appropriate prices that reflects our assessment of the prudent and efficient costs of supplying bulk water by GAWB to	

³¹⁸ Water pricing determinations apply to private sector water supply activities that are declared under Part 5A of the QCA Act. There are currently no declared water supply activities under Part 5A.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Matter		QCA consideration
	(that is, the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline and all associated costs).	satisfy forecast demand. It also excludes costs associated with the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline.
C.(1.2)	How the Appropriate Prices compare to actual prices charged by GAWB over the period 1 July 2025 to 30 June 2028	We will address this stated matter when preparing our mid-term report, due by no later than 31 October 2028.
C.(1.3)	The Queensland Government's Renewable Energy Targets as detailed in the Queensland Energy and Jobs Plan	We have considered the impacts of GAWB's forecast renewable energy generation within our assessment of the proposed electricity step change.
C.(1.4)	The Queensland Government's common user infrastructure assessment principles.	We have seen no evidence that GAWB's proposed capital augmentation plans are inconsistent with the principles. It is ultimately a matter for government to determine its role in supporting and delivering these investments.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

Appendix E: Forecast capital expenditure

Our findings and observations on GAWB's forecast capex projects are set out below. Our findings have been informed by our own review of the documentation provided, interviews with GAWB staff, and Aither's detailed technical review and engineering opinions.

Our consideration of forecast capital expenditure does not represent preapproval for future inclusion of prudent and efficient capex into GAWB's asset base. Given a number of these projects are at various early stages of planning and development, our assessment reflects our consideration of the material provided. It is not a definitive assessment of prudency and efficiency.

E.1 East End pipeline replacement and augmentation

Project overview

The East End pipeline (EEPL) is a 23-kilometre treated-water pipeline that distributes water for industrial and potable use from Boat Creek pump station to East End reservoir. It is the only treated-water supply to the Mt Larcom township. It also supplies several large industrial customers who could otherwise use raw water. The pipeline was built in1981 and has reached end of life. The pipeline has a history of failures and requires replacement.

The emerging hydrogen sector in Gladstone is expected to increase demand for raw water in the northern parts of GAWB's network (Aldoga). By 2027, demand is forecast to exceed the capacity of the existing treated water pipeline and upstream treatment capacity. New hydrogen customers can largely be supplied with raw water, as water will be treated onsite as feedstock for hydrogen production.³¹⁹

GAWB undertook a study to determine a water supply strategy that would address both capacity and asset condition, improve treated water quality for customers on the EEPL, and deliver the required raw water capacity to Aldoga.³²⁰ As a result of this review, the scope of the EEPL replacement project was expanded to include 8.7 kilometres of new raw water pipeline from Yarwun to the Aldoga area, to be built adjacent to the replacement treated water pipeline.

GAWB proposes to deliver the two pipelines contemporaneously, at an estimated capital cost of .³²¹

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

³¹⁹ GAWB, response to RFI 9B, *CAP2019-069 East End Pipe Replacement*, 15 February 2024, p 5.

³²⁰ GAWB, response to RFI 76, *Hydrogen program execution plan*, June 2024, p 4.

³²¹ This project was included in the 2020-25 capital forecast at a forecast cost of \$3.146 million, and forecast commissioning in 2021-22. Initial scoping activities, including those informing GAWB's 2020-25 capital forecast, contemplated a partial replacement of the treated water pipeline only. The project scope has since increased substantially to include the new raw water pipeline.

Project scheduling documents and checklists reviews indicate the project is yet to fully progress through stage gate 2 (planning) at the time of our review.³²² We understand construction is expected to commence in June 2025 and be completed in June 2026.³²³

Aither found that the need for the treated water pipeline replacement was clearly evidenced and well supported by options analysis. However, it considered that prudency and efficiency of the project overall was not fully demonstrated, given the limited documentation supporting the new raw water pipeline component.

QCA analysis and findings

Prudency

The need to replace the treated water pipeline is clearly supported by condition assessments, asset age and a history of failures. In our view, this element of the project is prudent.

While not included in the short-term hydrogen augmentation program, the new raw water pipeline is linked to the same demand growth driver and is likely prudent, based on the information available.

Efficiency

GAWB submitted a project business case, which summarises the options analysis undertaken. This demonstrates that a range of genuine options were considered.³²⁴ However, we have not sighted the detailed evaluation of those options, or the results of the multi-criteria analysis that informed the choice of preferred option. That said, the documentation reviewed indicates that the options analysis undertaken was adequate. In future reviews, we would expect the provision of detailed supporting information concurrently with GAWB's submission to demonstrate that where necessary, options analysis is supporting investment decisions. This would be a necessary requirement for any ex post assessment.

As the EEPL raw water pipeline is a network augmentation investment, the referral notice asks us to consider the appropriate timing and sizing of the asset. GAWB's business case (February 2024) states that the selected option for the raw water pipeline is 'sized to match the contracted raw water demands (approximately 600mm internal diameter)'.³²⁵ This potentially conflicts with the referral notice which includes 'reasonably expected future demand' as a factor when considering the appropriate size of augmentation assets.

The concept of 'reasonably expected' future demand originates from the referral notice which was first issued in December 2023.³²⁶ We understand the pipeline sizing assumptions stated in the February 2024 business case originate from an options analysis study undertaken in August 2023 and would therefore predate the concept of reasonably expected future demand. As planning

³²² GAWB response to RFI 47,49, 50, EEPL Replacement Gate 2 Checklist.

³²³ GAWB response to RFI 47,49, 50, EEPL Replacement Schedule Rev1.

³²⁴ GAWB, response to RFI 9B, CAP2019-069 East End Pipe Replacement, 15 February 2024, pp 18-21.

³²⁵ GAWB, response to RFI 9B, CAP2019-069 East End Pipe Replacement, 15 February 2024, p 5.

³²⁶ Referral notice (Appendix A).

progresses, we expect GAWB will refine the design to ensure the pipeline is appropriately sized to demand expectations.³²⁷ As a general principle, we consider some excess capacity may be prudent and efficient given the likelihood of further demand growth in the corridor. This is not controversial. We are seeking clarification from GAWB regarding the demand assumptions underpinning the sizing of the new raw water pipeline.

Based on available information, the planned timing of the raw water pipeline (forecast to be commissioned in 2025-26) is not inconsistent with GAWB's expected demand from the hydrogen industry.

This project is at a relatively early stage of planning, and cost estimates and are expected to be refined. This is particularly true for the raw water pipeline component. Current cost forecasts for the project are based on a class 4 construction estimate developed by quantity surveyors, which has been developed to a P90 level of confidence.³²⁸ This estimate is based on a bill of quantities, which is preliminary and carries a corresponding level of uncertainty.

Other observations

There are several risks accompanying this project:

- Slippage in the timing of hydrogen investments will impact on the urgency of the raw water augmentation element.³²⁹ We note the treated water pipeline replacement will need to proceed regardless, due to asset condition (end of life replacement).
- The initial ramp-up in new hydrogen demands can be accommodated by the existing treatedwater pipeline, although we understand the raw-water pipeline must be commissioned by the end of 2026 to ensure that new customer demand can be satisfied. This places substantial pressure on GAWB to deliver the project efficiently.
- Most of the capacity of the proposed raw-water pipeline (80%) will be used by a single prospective hydrogen customer. If this investment is cancelled or substantially revised, there may be significant excess capacity in the asset for some time. Nonetheless, a raw-water pipeline could potentially facilitate entry of other industries in the Aldoga area. This is a commercial matter that GAWB is currently progressing.

Conclusion

We consider the EEPL replacement project is likely prudent based on the information available, noting its relatively early stage of development at the time of review and the uncertainty surrounding hydrogen demand.

The justification and documentation supporting the new raw-water pipeline is not as comprehensive as the treated-water component. Nonetheless, the information we have reviewed is broadly consistent with our expectations for a project at this level of maturity.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

³²⁷ GAWB's February 2024 business case (p 20) references an AECOM design report from 29 November 2023, but this was not included in the documentation provided to the QCA and Aither for review.

 ³²⁸ GAWB, response to RFI 9B, *CAP2019-069 East End Pipe Replacement*, 15 February 2024, p 24. A P90 estimate is an estimate with sufficient continency to provide confidence of a 90% chance that the estimate will not be exceeded.
 ³²⁹ GAWB, response to RFI 9B, *CAP2019-069 East End Pipe Replacement*, 15 February 2024, p 25.

GAWB's project cost estimates were preliminary at the time of our review. These estimates are expected to be further refined as the project planning progresses to design, construction and delivery. Efficiency cannot be conclusively determined given the maturity of the project; however, we have seen evidence that GAWB has so far undertaken sound options analysis, procurement processes, planning and governance, which are consistent with its project management framework and stated policies. This supports the likely efficiency of the project.

We have sought clarification from GAWB regarding its customer demand assumptions and how these have informed the capacity and design of the proposed raw-water pipeline; specifically, if and how 'reasonably expected' future demand has been considered in the pipeline sizing.

E.2 South Gladstone reservoir replacement

Project overview

GAWB's existing 9.1 ML South Gladstone potable water reservoir has been in service for 45 years. The nominal design life of the reservoir is 50 years, meaning it is nearing the end of its technical life. The reservoir has also developed a leak that GAWB submitted cannot be fully investigated or rectified without the reservoir being emptied.³³⁰

GAWB has proposed to build a replacement reservoir at a forecast cost of \$13.7 million (including IDC), to be commissioned in 2029-30.

The South Gladstone reservoir is an important storage asset supplying the Gladstone Regional Council (GRC) and industrial customers. GAWB submitted that it cannot be removed from service for long enough to undertake the necessary condition assessments and repairs, without affecting customer supply continuity. We note GAWB has faced similar constraints when planning major works on other key assets. For example, one of the key drivers of GAWB's decision to build the offline storage facility was to provide continuity of supply while Awoonga Dam is unavailable during major maintenance and inspections of conduits.

GAWB commissioned a condition and options assessment, which identified six options. Multicriteria analysis indicated the preferred option is to construct a new reservoir, on the same elevation and geographical location, adjacent to the existing reservoir. GAWB submitted it will then take the existing reservoir offline to be fully drained and then assess its condition. GAWB will then decide whether to refurbish (that is, retain the existing reservoir to increase storage resilience within the network) or demolish the existing reservoir.³³¹

Aither reviewed the project documentation and found that:

- the need for remediation or replacement of the reservoir is evidenced
- contingencies and unit rates used in cost estimation appear reasonable

³³⁰ GAWB, response to RFI 9E, p 2.³³¹ GAWB, response to RFI 9E, p 2.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

- the importance of the asset to the system is clearly articulated and the forecast replacement cost is proportionate for a reservoir of this size
- operating costs were not included in the multi-criteria analysis; however, this omission is not material in this case as replacement would have scored better than refurbishment due to the expected reduction in maintenance costs.³³²

QCA analysis and findings

Prudency

The project need (either replacement or remediation) has been clearly demonstrated by asset age and history of failure. We consider the project is prudent.

Efficiency

We saw evidence of sound options analysis, although only a few realistic options were considered. The multi-criteria analysis and detailed cost estimates for each option considered are described with reasonable transparency in the GHD scoping study report.³³³ GAWB's analysis would be improved by explicitly considering lifecycle total costs of options, including operating costs.³³⁴ Nonetheless, we note this is unlikely to change the preferred option outcome in this example.³³⁵

GAWB also considered potential synergies and efficiencies that can be achieved through this project. For example, while the option did not ultimately prove optimal, GAWB investigated whether it was possible to build the new reservoir at a higher elevation, possibly negating the need to build the planned Kirkwood pump station.³³⁶

As with all ex ante projects reviewed, the cost estimates provided are subject to further refinement as GAWB progresses the project to procurement and delivery. Aither found that GAWB's unit rates appear reasonable, and the proposed cost is proportionate to a reservoir of this size.³³⁷

While Aither noted some potential weaknesses in documentation of checklists and schedules, we have seen sufficient evidence to indicate that GAWB's capital processes have so far been largely applied as stated in its project management framework. The documentation provided was generally consistent with our expectations for a project of this complexity and planning maturity.

Efficiency of the project cannot be conclusively determined ex ante. However, the information we reviewed suggests the project is likely to be efficient, having regard to the relatively early stage of project planning.

³³⁴ We have accepted GAWB's proposed one-off project initiatives that are proposed to reduce future costs and improve maintenance planning in relation to: condition assessments and asset criticality reviews. These are discussed in Chapter 4.
³³⁵ Aither report, p 86.

³³⁶ GAWB, response to RFI 9E, p 3.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

³³² Aither report, p 86.

³³³ GAWB, response to RFI 9E, GHD, GAWB South Gladstone Reservoir scoping study report, October 2019.

³³⁷ Aither report, p 86.
E.3 Hydrogen – short-term network augmentation program

Project overview

Gladstone is one of the locations of interest in Queensland for the hydrogen industry due to land availability in the Gladstone State Development Area and the deepwater port.³³⁸

There are currently several hydrogen projects in various stages of planning and development. A number of these are expected to construct facilities in Aldoga, in the northern part of GAWB's network. GAWB has been engaging with these hydrogen proponents with a view to entering long-term (20-year) water supply contracts.³³⁹

The suite of projects included in GAWB's capex forecast includes a substantial network of new and upgraded pipelines, reservoirs and pumping stations. These projects aim to alleviate network constraints and extend the supply network to the location of the proposed hydrogen facilities. GAWB's program also includes several upstream projects intended to maintain or improve system redundancy and resilience given the increased demand.

GAWB identifies the hydrogen augmentation program as the 'short-term network augmentation' (STNA) program.³⁴⁰ This represents the network upgrades expected to be required to supply the first stage of hydrogen proponents (Table 47). In total, GAWB's capex forecast for the period includes around \$310 million to deliver these short-term augmentations. GAWB proposes to deliver the STNA in four stages. The stages constitute work packages that align with new customer demands and the expected timing of the proponents' final investment decisions.³⁴¹

Additional augmentations are also expected beyond 2030; however, these projects are less certain and currently on a longer planning and delivery timeline. We understand the longer-term augmentations will also represent a substantial capital program.³⁴²

³³⁸ GAWB, response to RFI 76, *Hydrogen program execution plan*, June 2024, p 1.

³³⁹ As noted in Chapter 3, GAWB is contracting only to the existing remaining capacity available from Awoonga Dam.

Customer requests for supply beyond that capacity are subject to GAWB's queuing process. ³⁴⁰ Some of the initial projects are identified by GAWB as the Aldoga hydrogen enabling works. For simplicity we refer to the

entire program as the STNA.

³⁴¹ GAWB, response to RFI 76, *Hydrogen program execution plan*, June 2024, p 16.

³⁴² For example, GAWB is investigating options for a new pipeline to connect Awoonga Dam directly to the Fitzroy to Gladstone pipeline, to support bi-directional flow. This is identified as the 'Network Security Reliability Pipeline'. GAWB's preliminary cost estimates for this project are in the order of GAWB, response to RFI 76, *Hydrogen program execution plan*, June 2024, pp 5-7).

Table 47: GAWB's proposed hydrogen capital program for 2025-26 to 2029-30

Project	Value (\$ million, including IDC)	Pricing zone
– raw water pipeline		Euroa Circuit to Aldoga
- raw water pump station: stage 2 upgrade		Boat Creek to Euroa Circuit
reservoir – raw water		Boat Creek to Euroa Circuit
- raw water pipeline		Northern Raw Extension
pump station & storage increase		Northern Raw Extension
– pump redundancy improvements		Northern Raw Extension
		Northern Raw Extension
– raw water		Northern Raw Extension
– raw water		Northern Raw Extension
- raw water pipeline:		Fishermans Landing Raw 2
Total	309,880,225	

Source: GAWB, Response to RFI 7; QCA analysis.

The cost estimates provided to the QCA in GAWB's submission and pricing model were based on information at the time.³⁴³ We acknowledge that the project scope and cost estimates are evolving.

For this draft report, we have considered the cost forecasts and project identifiers contained in GAWB's pricing model (submitted in June 2024). The nomenclature, cost estimates and capitalisation dates do not fully align with other documents subsequently provided, due to several reasons outlined by GAWB.³⁴⁴ These inconsistencies are not unexpected and are largely attributable to the evolving nature of the project.

GAWB has advised that it has updated its capital forecasts for the STNA program to include the estimated cost of applying the Queensland Government's *Standard Best Practice Industry*

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

141

³⁴³ GAWB, response to RFI 9A, 'STNACA-1.ppt'.

³⁴⁴ For example, GAWB notes that the program was recently re-packaged into several stages at the request of the Queensland Government. This impacted design, cost estimates and delivery schedules. Stakeholder consultation has also resulted in some design and costing changes (GAWB, response to RFI 9A, 'STNACA-1.ppt', p 4).

Conditions – Building Construction Projects 2023-2027 (BPIC).³⁴⁵ GAWB suggested that this has resulted in a significant uplift in estimated costs of up to .^{346, 347}

Aither considered the efficiency and prudency of the program was not fully demonstrated, noting that:

- The need for the investment is evident; however, redacted documentation initially provided did not enable a robust assessment. Unredacted information subsequently provided shed some light but significant uncertainty remains.
- It is unclear how the demand forecasts have translated into the individual projects. There is a logical connection based on geographical location of new users and the volumetric demand, but Aither could not form a view based on the information provided.
- Documentation to verify the options analysis and multi-criteria analysis undertaken was not sighted. Aither noted that opex and capex costs do not appear to carry weight in the multi-criteria analysis, based on the information reviewed.
- Unit rates and contingencies appear reasonable; however, efficiency cannot be determined based on the information provided.
- There are several discrepancies and variance in costs and naming of projects between documents.³⁴⁸

QCA analysis and findings

Consistent with the referral notice, we have considered the timing and sizing (capacity) of the proposed hydrogen augmentation projects. The indicative pricing implications of the hydrogen augmentation program are discussed in Chapter 10.

Timing

The majority of GAWB's forecast augmentation capitalisation is concentrated in 2026-27.³⁴⁹ New hydrogen customer demand is expected to commence ramping up from 2027-28 as proponents begin commissioning their new facilities and progressively increase their production. We understand that further ramping-up of demand is expected to continue into the 2030-35 period.

As Figure 17 illustrates, GAWB's projected short-term augmentation program broadly aligns with the expected onset of new 'reasonably expected' new hydrogen demand (Chapter 3), noting the majority of the STNA projects are planned for capitalisation at least a year ahead of the expected demand ramp-up.

³⁴⁸ Aither report, pp 83-84.

³⁴⁵See Queensland Government, <u>Standard Best Practice Industry Conditions – Building Construction Projects 2023-2027</u>, March 2024. The BPIC sets the Queensland Government's expectations for the wages and conditions that will apply on projects valued at \$100m or over (and declared projects) in the Building Construction and Maintenance Procurement Category.

³⁴⁶ GAWB, response to RFI 76, '12. STNA Totex Estimate Summary'.

³⁴⁷ We note the Queensland Government has announced a pause on the application of some elements of the BPIC to government-funded construction projects, subject to further review of the policy (J Bleijie, B Mickelberg and S O'Connor, <u>Construction productivity boosted with BPIC pause</u>, media statement, 14 November 2024, Queensland Government, viewed 15 November 2024).

³⁴⁹ Based on capitalisation dates set out in GAWB's response to RFI 7.



Figure 17: GAWB forecast capex and demand profile

Note: Demand values for 2023-24 and 2024-25 are forecasts. 'Other' capex includes the 'regulatory' and 'business process improvement' categories. Source: GAWB, responses to RFIs 7 and 22; QCA analysis.

We reviewed GAWB's project schedules, which provide delivery timelines under two scenarios (Table 48).³⁵⁰ The 'early completion' scenario is consistent with the projected capitalisation dates that GAWB has assumed in its capex and price modelling. The 'late completion' scenario would see much of the expenditure capitalise in 2027-28, with package 2 works (

pump station) delivered in the first quarter of 2028-29.

Overall, the planned timing appears reasonable based on GAWB's current demand expectations.

Project	Early completion scenario		Late completion scenario	
	Commencement	Completion	Commencement	Completion
Aldoga Enabling	May 2024	July 2026	Feb 2025	July 2026
STNA – Package 1	July 2025	November 2027	July 2026	November 2027
STNA – Package 2	November 2025	August 2027	October 2026	September 2028

Table 48: GAWB's scheduling scenarios for hydrogen augmentation expenditure

³⁵⁰ GAWB, response to RFI 47, 49 & 50, 'H2RELA-1' and 'H2RELA-2'.

Project	Early completion scenario		Late completion scenario	
STNA – Package 3	January 2026	April 2027	January 2027	March 2028
STNA – Package 4	July 2025	August 2027	December 2025	February 2028

Source: GAWB, response to RFI 47, 49 & 5, 'H2RELA-2' and 'H2RELA-1'.

Asset sizing

Ultimately, the design of the hydrogen enabling augmentations is dependent on end-customer demand. This presents challenges for GAWB as we understand that none of the commercial scale hydrogen proponents have reached final investment decisions on their facilities. At the time of this investigation, the most advanced projects were at the front-end engineering design phase of project development.³⁵¹

The design and sizing of GAWB's raw-water network augmentations included in GAWB's capex forecast were developed by GHD between late 2023 and May 2024.³⁵² The augmentation options appear to be supported by rigorous hydrological modelling. This analysis considers a range of potential customer demand scenarios and corresponding recommendations on appropriate asset sizes and network configurations.³⁵³

We reviewed GHD's reports and note the demand assumptions underpinning the initial designs of the hydrogen enabling assets.³⁵⁴ However, we were unable to reconcile these demand assumptions with those contained in GAWB's price modelling, which includes estimates of 'reasonably expected' future demand. Variations in nomenclature and project identifiers across documents mean it is unclear to us how the proposed assets can be mapped to expected customer demand. Aither also noted this issue.

We are seeking further clarification from GAWB to demonstrate how it has considered reasonably expected future demand in the sizing of the augmentation assets. As noted in our review of the EEPL replacement, we would expect to see some degree of excess capacity in augmentation asset sizing. Such excess capacity would not necessarily indicate an imprudent or inefficient investment decision if there is a reasonable expectation of future demand growth.

We understand GAWB is continuing to work with the relevant government departments to finalise the demand scenarios underpinning the detailed business case for the STNA.³⁵⁵

³⁵¹ GAWB, sub 1, p 29.

³⁵² See GAWB response to RFI 76, GHD, Raw Water Network - NIZ System Augmentations Feasibility Study – Hydraulic modelling report, 3 May 2024.

³⁵³ See GAWB response to RFI 76, GHD, Raw Water Network - NIZ System Augmentations Feasibility Study – Hydraulic modelling report, 3 May 2024.

³⁵⁴ GAWB response to RFI 76, GHD, Raw Water Network - NIZ System Augmentations Feasibility Study – Hydraulic modelling report, 3 May 2024, pp 5-7.

³⁵⁵ GAWB, response to RFI 76, '*Hydrogen program execution plan*', June 2024, p 33.

Prudency

Based on the information available, and the current expectations of investment in hydrogen facilities, we consider the majority of the STNA program is prudent as it is justified by a clear demand driver.

That said, the prudency of the offline storage capacity increase project has not been adequately demonstrated due to a lack of substantive documentation.³⁵⁶ It is clear this project was at a very early stage in the planning process at the time of our review. There is potentially a logical demand driver³⁵⁷; however, for an investment of this magnitude **1000**³⁵⁸ we would expect more comprehensive analysis and supporting information to support its inclusion in the forecast. We are seeking further justification from GAWB on the need for the project.

We have not seen direct evidence of GAWB's engagement with hydrogen proponents on the capital solutions proposed, although GAWB stated this has been completed and it has informed the scope and design of the works.³⁵⁹ We are seeking clarification from GAWB regarding how specific customer needs have been considered in the development of the STNA projects.

Efficiency

The STNA program is not sufficiently progressed for us to form a conclusive view on the efficiency of the investments. Based on the documentation sighted, individual projects are at either 'concept' or 'planning' stages under GAWB's project management framework. At the time of our review, we understand that none of the STNA projects had entered the construction procurement stage.

Project costings were preliminary at the time of our review. These estimates are expected to be further refined as the project planning progresses to design, construction procurement and delivery. Efficiency cannot be conclusively determined given the maturity of the project; however, we make the following general observations:

- GAWB appears to be relying on reasonable assumptions and generally sound capital planning processes to develop the STNA program. In most cases, documentation supporting the capital governance process appears reasonable considering the stage of project development.
- There is evidence of genuine options analysis; however, it is not clear whether the multicriteria analysis allocated any weight to the capital or operating costs of options.³⁶⁰ We understand each option was costed by GHD³⁶¹, and that 'the relative costs of options were also considered subsequent to the MCA'.³⁶² However, the documentation received does not clearly demonstrate how costs informed the selection of options.

³⁵⁶ This project consists of two elements – an increase to the storage capacity, and augmentation of the OLS pump station. The pump station augmentation component is reasonably well documented and justified, while the storage increase is not.

³⁵⁷ The OLS was designed to provide supply continuity for 14 days when Awoonga Dam is offline. The design capacity of the OLS was based on demand levels from 2010. Projected increases in downstream demand from the hydrogen industry will reduce the current 14-day window of supply continuity, unless capacity of the OLS is increased.

³⁵⁸ Based on GAWB's response to RFI 76, '12.STNA Totex Estimate Summary'.

³⁵⁹ GAWB, response to RFI 9A, 'STNACA-1.ppt', p 4.

³⁶⁰ GAWB, response to RFI 52, GHD preferred options memorandum, 1 August 2024.

³⁶¹ GAWB, response to RFI 52, GHD preferred options memorandum, 1 August 2024, Appendix A.

 $^{^{362}}$ GAWB, response to RFI 52, GHD preferred options memorandum, 1 August 2024, p 5.

- Unit rates used in developing cost estimates appear reasonable, based on our engineering consultant's review.
- There remains substantial uncertainty regarding when, and if, all of the proposed hydrogen investments will proceed, and what the final water demands of those facilities will be. There is a risk of substantial rework and delays should any of the hydrogen proponents cancel their investments. GAWB's project planning needs to be sufficiently flexible to respond to the possibility of changing demands and timings, to ensure that prudent and efficient solutions are pursued.
- As noted in Chapter 5, the compressed timeline and large scale of the broader capital program presents a material risk to timely delivery of the augmentations. That said, we have accepted significant increases in operating costs in recognition that a substantial capability uplift is required for GAWB to deliver services to its existing and prospective customers over the monitoring period.
- As noted in Chapter 10, we consider two of the STNA capital projects represent reliability investments that provide shared benefits to all downstream customers. In our view, the costs of these projects should not be borne solely by the new hydrogen customers, as proposed by GAWB.

Notwithstanding our concerns, we have not made any adjustments to the STNA forecast for price monitoring purposes as we consider it is broadly consistent with the parameters of the referral notice. It is reasonable for GAWB to be sufficiently funded to deliver these investments during the 2025-30 period, should the hydrogen industry develop on the timeline that is currently anticipated.

Given the degree of uncertainty and early status of the estimates, we consider the STNA program would be a clear candidate for detailed ex post prudency and efficiency review in future.

Further, we will adopt a limited ex post revenue adjustment within our price monitoring framework to symmetrically address the potential revenue impact of changes in scope, efficient cost and timing of the STNA program. This should ensure that our revenue and price estimates for price monitoring purposes ultimately reflect the actual prudent and efficient costs of delivering the program (see Chapter 9). Importantly, it is for GAWB and its customers to decide whether such an approach should be used in its commercial pricing framework.

³⁶³ Based on GAWB response to RFI 76, '12.STNA Totex Estimate Summary'.

Gladstone Area Water Board price monitoring investigation 2025-30

146